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A. Notice is hereby given that the Metropolitan Police Department (“Petitioner” or “Agency”)
appeals to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia from the Initial Decision of the Office
of Employee Appeals (“OEA” or “Respondent™) issued on April 30, 2018, an'd all rulings
encompassed therein, in the matter of Sdld TH |
pariment; OEA Matter No. 1601-0039-17. A copy of the Initial Decision

is attached to this Petition as Attachment 1. The Initial Decision reversed the decision of Agendy
to terminate Shiela Thomas-Bullock (“Employee”). Petitioner seeks to have the Initial Decision

reversed.




On Ap1ji1 18, 2017, Employee filed a Petition for Appeal with OEA, appealing Agency’s
decision to temnnate her effective April 14,2017. The Agency originally proposed action based
on fhree charges: (1) the commission of an act which would constitute a crime, whether or not a

court record rcﬂe'cts a conviction; specifically simple assault, (2) falsification of official records;
specifically that the Employee deliberately filed a false police report, and (3) conduct
unbecoming an officer; specifically, conduct that is considered immoral, indecent, lewd or
disorderly. Thé charges were based upon an incident that occurred on December 27, 2015, while
Employee was ?off-duty, whereby, while unprovoked, she physically attacked the victim causing
sérious injury to the victim’s face, mouth and eye. Afteran Adverse Action Panel hearing was -
held, the Pane! found the Employee guilty of the all three charges and recommended términaﬁon
for the first chai‘ge. | | | |

Appeal briefs were filed at the OEA j)ursuant to Pinkard v. D.C. Mefrapolitan Police
Department, 801 A.2d 86 (D.C. 2002). Following the submission of briefs, OEA Administrative
Judge Michellé B. Harris issued an Initial Decision which reversed termi;ation. The
Administrative iJu,dge found that while substantial evidence supported the Agency’s ﬁn&ings, the
Agency violate_a the “90-day Rule” pursuant to D.C. Code § 5-1031. Petitioner now appeals the
Lﬁiﬁal Decisioné of April 30, 2018.
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opportunity for a substantive challenge to the decision. i

THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
BEFORE
THE OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS

Intthattcroﬁ

OEA Matter No. 1601-0039-17

SHEILA THOMAS BULLOCK,
Employee v
Date of Issuance: April 30, 2018
Ve

' Michelle R. Hatris, Esq.

D.C. METROPOLITAN POLICE Administrative Judge
DEPARTMENT,

Agency

b Schroth, Esq Employee Reprcsmtanve ' :
~ Nada Paisant, Esq., Agency Representative - L

.....

On Apnl 18, 2017 Sheila Thomas Bullock (“Employee”) ﬁled a Petition for Appeal wrth the
Office of Employee Appeals (“OEA” or “Office”) contesting the District of Columbia Metropohtan
Paltee Departtngnt’s (*Agency” or MPLYY dedision; rerine et Sbin-Suvite.  On Majg &.{«2&1? v
..Agea@y filod Ry AitsWer 1o Employes's Patitior fat Apﬁ&ai, Bollowings i’aﬁeﬁ sfemptat mediafiol;
this miatter was assigned fo the undersigned Adiiistative Tuddb b At 25,2017 @n Avigsk:
23, 2017, I issued an Order Convening a Prehearing Conference in this matter for September, 28,
2017. On September 6, 2017, Employee, by and through her counsel, filed 2 Consent Motion to
Reschedule the Prehearing Conference. I issued an Order on September 7, 2017, granting
Employee’s Motion and rescheduling the Prehearing Conference to October 2, 2017.

On October 2, 2017, both parties appeared for the Prehearing Conference. Durmg the
Prehearing Conference, I found that because there was an Adverse Action Panel bearing in this
matter, that OBA’s review of this appeal was subject to the standard of review outlined in Elfon
Pinkard v. D.C. Metropolitan Police Department, 801 A.2d 86 (D.C. 2002). As a result, the parties
were ordered to submit briefs addrwsmg whether; (1) the Adverse Acuon Panel’s decision was

sHppidited by substmmi mﬁfm )y whelher there was 5 H Geiusal fribty 40 (3) whther'
Agercy’s action’t 3 ¢ with all Jaws: aué?gsrxegmm?asm were slse diregted:
to spacifically sifdress whamr the “90 Day: Rufe™ piitsieiit ¥ D,C; Codsi§ 51031 wiw \mﬁsfﬁd i
thecadrainistrationi oF thip fistaniadvarse séGon.

On October 3, 2017, I issued an Order codifying the verbal order from the Prehe&n'ng
Conference and setting the briefing schedule. Accordingly, Agency’s brief was due on or before
November 13, 2017, Employee’s brief was due on or before December 15, 2017, and Agency had the
option to submit a sur-reply brief by or before January 8, 2018. On November 7, 2017, Agency filed




OEA Matter No. 1601-0039-17
Page 2 of 16

a Consent Motion to Extend the Briefing Schedule. Accardingly, on November 9, 2017, I issued an
Order granting Agency’s Motion: As a result, Agency’s brief was now due on or before November
21, 2017, Employee’s Brief was due on or before December 22, 2017 and Agency had the option to
submit a sur-reply Brief on or before January 12, 2018, Parties submitted all briefs in accordance
with the prescribed deadlines. Additionally, on February 23, 2018, Employee, by and through her
. sonmnse],. submittsd a Sling wiotg 68 Hiertiofs to rely on a recent Superior Court Order of a case that -

staseiied in herbrief’ Therecontisnow glosed.

- A

................

This Office has juzisdiéﬁon in this matter pursuant to D.C. Official Code § 1-606.03 (200 1).

1. Whether the Adverse Action Panel’s decision was supported by substantial

evidence;

Whether there was harmful procedural error; ,

‘Whether Agency’s action was done in accordance with all applicable laws or

 regulations.

4. Whether the “90-Day Rule” pursuant to D.C. Code § 5-1031 was violated in the
administration of the instant adverse action.

b

OEA Rule 628.1, 59 DCR 2129 (March 16, 2012) states:

The burden of proof with regard to material issues of fact shall be by a
preponderance of the evidence. “Preponderance of the evidence” shall mean:

That degree of relevant evidence which a reasonable mind, considering the
record as a whole, would accept as sufficient to find a contested fact more

probably true than untrue.

OEA Rule 628.2 id. statess

The employee shall have the burden of proof as to issues of jurisdiction, including
timeliness of filing. The agency shall have the burden of proof as to all other

issues. -

e ooy

"i'.'rhe case mmdasMet;opahtan Police Department v District of Cohumbia Office of Employee Appeals (In re: Alice Lee), Case
No. 2017 CA 003525 P (MPA), which wes filed on February 13, 2018. Employee indicated that this case affirms the OEA ruling
in & matter it cited in her brief, Alice Lee v MPD, OEA Matter No. 1601-0087-15, '
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In a Final Notice of Adverse Action dated February 10, 2017, Agency terminated Employee
from service based on the following:
Ehayee Noft Violation of General Order Series 120.21, Attachment A, Part
A-7, which provides, “Conviction of any member of the force in any court of
competent jurisdiction of any criminal or quasi-criminal offense, or of any
offense in which the member either pleads guilty, receives a verdict of guilty or
a conviction following a plea of nolo contendere, or is deemed to have been
‘involved in the commission of any act which would constitute a crime, whether
or not a court record reflects a conviction. Members who are accused of
criminal or quasi-criminal offense shall promptly report, or have reported their
involved to their commanding officers.”

ification Mo I In that on or about August 11, 2016, you pled guilty to

"Domesuc Violence Simple Assault (Case #2016DVMO000218) and agreed to &
deferred sentencing plea agreement w1ﬂ1 the United States Aftorney’s Office
(USAO). '

4 toas o2 In that, on or about February 1, 2016, an arrest warrant
chargmg you with Domestic Violence Simple Assault was issued by the
District of Columbia, Superior Court Judge John Bayly. You were
subsequently arrested on February 4, 2016. ’ '

SMﬁcatlmNe, In that, on December 28, 2015, you deliberately filed a -
false police report at the Sixth District police station, alleging that on
December 27, 2015, you were punched in the mouth by your busband.

Specification Mo:d; In that, on December 27, 2015, in an unprovoked attack,
you ph¥sically assamited 5. Tije Boltand while at the Barcode il lncated at
1101 1?"‘ Street, Wortliwast, Washidgis, DC, causmg serious. agsﬁry to Ms.

Holland's face, mouth and eye.

Charge N 2v. Violation of General Order Series 120.21, Attachment A, Part
A—17 which reads in part, “...falsification of official records or repo

- Soenificalion Ko, .i: In that, on December 28, 2015, you deliberately filed a
false pohce report ‘at the Sixth Dlstnct polxce stauon, allegxng ﬂ:at on
thé Bursode Club Imawi at 1101 17§ Su'eet, M\*&est Washmgtan,'}}'& You
filed tbls report knowing it was not factual.

\afe Ko: 3% Violation of General Order Series 120.21, Attachment A, Part
A-12 which reads “Conduct unbecoming an officer, mcludmg acts defrimental
to good discipline, conduct that would affect adversely the employee’s or the
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agency’s ability to perform effectively, or violations of any law of the United
States or any law, municipal ordinance, or regulation of the District of
Columbia.” This misconduct is further defined in General Order Series 201.26,
Part 1-B-23 which provides, “Members shall not conduct themselves in an
immoral, indecent, lewd or disorderly manner...They shall be guilty of
misconduct, neglect of duty, or conduct mbecoming to an officer and a
profesmonal »

:whxlc unprovoked, physmally attacked Ms. Tijé Holland, \.who was'also wsmng'
the Barcode Club, cansing serious injury to Ms. Holland's face, mouth and eye.

On December 29, 2016, Agency held an Adverse Action Panel hearing. During the bearing,
testimony and evidence was presented for consideration and adjudication relative to the instant
matter. The following represents what the undersigned has determined to be the most relevant facts
adduced from the findings of fact, as well as the transcript (hereinafter denoted as “Tr.”), generated
and reproduced as a part of the Adverse Action Panel hearing.

Ska.luba testified that she is a member of the Metropolitan Police Department. She
rked with the Fith Distiet {‘*SE’*},;’ bukik enorently:with. te Powih Distick:
- X 6£" .

iiie dut it rtiber 27, 2013, 45d tHat she wigs éalted
out to Washmgton Hospital Center to interviey the: et of an aessnlt. Skalube: t@&aﬁeﬁ’ thet .
the victim was Ms. Holland. Skaluba testified ‘that she answered the call from a radio run, but

while in route, the officer on scence indicated that the complainant was alleging misconduct
fromana mcmber of MPD.

Skalubua testified that Ms. Holland told her she was at a club with her boyfriend and saw

his ex-wife. She said she was the struck in the face by the officer and possibly the officer’s sister.
Skaluba came to find out that the officer in question was MPD member Sheila Thomas Bullock.
" Following this interview, Skaluba testified that she contacted the Watch Commander and the
Internal Affairs Division (“IAD™), and that ultimately she fumned the case over to IAD. Skaluba
testified that the only involvement she had was approving the incident offense report prepared by
Officer ‘Copeland, the responding officer and the person who had initial contact with the
ciftilainant On cruss-examination,. Slkilubs, testified, that she did not know - Ns. Heol
ceitled:9+141 on the Hightrof s fl

et Skaluba Fridicated that she was unawarg afwha cafled
the police, but thai she was dxspatched to Washington Hospital Center.
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Carter testified that hp is a member of the MPD Internal Affairs Division (IAD). He stated
that he was on duty the &veiiig: of December 27, 2015, going into the early morning of December
. 28, 2015. Carter testified that he was contacted by Agent Tracye Malcolm who indicated that they
were to respond to an investigation relating to Officer Sheila Thomas Bullock; specifically it was a
call to investigate an assault. Carter stated that he and Agent Malcolm met at the Washington
Hospital Center, who also advised him that Ms. Holland made a police report indicating that she had
been assaulted ‘earlier in evening. Carter testified that he interviewed Ms. Holland, who explained
that she was at Barcode Lounge with her boyfriend, Antonio Bullock, who told her that Officer
Sheila Thomas Bullock and her sister had walked in. Carter stated that Ms. Holland told him that she
was assaulted by Officer Thomas and her sister Angela Thomas. Carter testified that Ms. Holland
indicated that she was punched in the facial area. Carter also indicated that he interviewed Antonio
Bullock, who indicated that while he did not see the altercation begin, but attempted to break it np.
Carter testified that Mr. Bullock indicated that after the melee, Officer Sheila Thomas and her sister

left the club.

Carter also testified that while at Washington Hospital Center, he noted that Ms, Holland was
treated for abrasions and swilling in the face. Carter also confirmed that the interviews he conducted
with Ms. Holland and Mr. Bullock were recorded. Carter testified that following the interview with
Ms. Holland at Washington Hospital Center, he and Agent Malcolm then proceeded to locate Officer

" Thomas Bullock. Carter stated that they called Officer Thomas Bullock and then went to her
residence in Prince George’s County Maryland. Carter indicated that Agent Malcolm and Offices |
Thomas Bullock spoke and that at that time Officer Bullock was made aware that her police powers
were revoked. Carter testified that he could not recall if Officer Thomas Bullock relayed that she had

been assaulted dunng this visit.

On cross-examination Carter testified that IS numbers were assigned on December 28, 2015.
He also indicated that he did conduct the interviews of Ms. Holland and Mr. Bullock at the
‘Washington Hospital Center. Carter was also asked about what Ms. Holland indicated with regard to
the relationship she had with Mr. Bullock. Carter testified that while he could not recall if Ms.
Holland said that she had never met Officer Thomas Bullock, that she indicated that there had not
been any previous confrontations between her and Officer Thomas.

Malcolm testified that she was previously employed by the Metropolitan Police Department
for 25 years, and that prior to retirement she served in the Internal A ffairs Division. Malcolm stated
that she was on duty with JAD around December 27, 2015, through December 28, 2015. Malcolm
testified that she was the on-call agent that evening and rece1ved a call from either a “CIC” or a
Sergeant to come out to investigate an officer involved incident. Malcolm testified that she, along
with her partner, Agent Carter were made aware that Officer Thomas Bullock had been involved ina
fight with a lady at the Barcode Club in DC. Malcolm stated that she interviewed the victim and her
boyfriend. Malcolm also testified that she went to the home of Officer Thomas Bullock to meet with
her and revoke. her police powers. During that visit, Malcolm testified that she told Officer Thomas
Bullock that there was a criminal allegation. Malcolm stated that she recalled Officer Thomas
Bullock asking about filing a police report and that she advised her to do exactly what a citizen
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would do, Malcolm testified that Officer Thomas Bullock did not indicato that sbe had been
assaulted during this interview.

Malcolm also testified that she interviewed Ms. Tije Holland and Mr. Antonio Bullock.
Malcolm indicated that Ms. Holland said that Officer Thomas Bullock and her sister hit her in the
* face while at the club. Malcolm indicated that she did secure video of the assault. Malcolm also
testified that injuries to Ms. Holland were noted, specifically to her face and lip. Malcolm also
testified that she did not complete entire investigation, and that it was reassigned because she was

On cross examination, Malcolm testified that she could not remember the exact that she went
to Officer Thomas Bullock’s home, but that it was daylight when she amrived. Malcolm indicated -
that Officer Thomas Bullock was calm upon their arrival. Malcolm also testified that she applied for
an arrest warrant for Officer Thomas on February 1, 2016 and that a subsequent arrest was made
February 4, 2016. She also agreed that April 11, 2016 was when Officer Thomas entered info a
deferred sentencing agreement with the U.S. Attomey’s Office. Maloolm indicated that she was
present for one hearing, and believed that she completed her work with the matter after initial
interviews, and that she retired in June of that year. .

Johnson testified that she’s been a member of the Metropolitan Police Department for
cighteen years, and currently works in the JAD division. InNovember of 2016, Johnson testified that
she assisted Agent Tilley with the interview of Officer Thomas as it related to the incident that took
place inside a club in DC. Johnson testified that the criminal matter has been “dissolved.” Johnson
indicated that during the interview, Officer Thomas said that in December of 2015, she was involved
in a physical altercation and that she was the first to strike. Johnson testified that during the course of
this investigation, she recalled that Officer Thomas had made a report of assault to the 6™ District on
December 28, 2015 after her police powers had been revoked. )

On cross examination, Johnson indicated that she had been with JAD since September 18"‘
She indicated that it was Sergeant Tilley who did the investigation on this case, and that he wrote the
original report and wrote the addendum. Johnson testified that her first mvolvement with this case -
was on November-17, 2016, when she mtermewed Ofﬁcer 'I‘homas

Kim testified that he is a member of the Metropolitan Police Department’s Internal Affairs
Division. Kim testified that he has been a member of MPD for twelve years. He stated that within
IAD, he is the supervisor of Squad 3 and his pnmary duties are to do case reviews and review
investigations once they’re submitted for inaccuracies, identifying all witnesses and other items
related to investigative needs. Kim indicated that during the time of his review, he also
communicates ‘with the JAD Agents. Kim indicated that he reviewed the investigation of Officer
Thomas that was conducwd by Agency Tilley. Kim indicated that he reviewed the final investigative

ort: and: adidghding:: ; Bigt, wz}d ot recauwhatxf anymmfw identified thaf needed'to be

&aiessed bafm'e fheereport ed the répit Wit reiard to
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the two findings of assault and the fling of a false police report. Kim testified that the basis for
sustaining the assault was based on the account of the complainant, Ms. Holland. .

Kim indicated the basis for sustaining the false police report was based on circumstances
related to Officer Thomas reporting, and from her interview. Kim testified that Officer Thomas was
mt:nterwewedmthlsmaﬁaunﬁltheaddcndumreport. Kim stated that the addendum report was
Hepared mﬁawmbw 2%, 4016, Kinvindicatedthathe helicved the'timiig of this addeidagi Was 1o
: gifow OFfoer ‘Thonids:to tonie in snd speakwititherm whils herctiining case was sﬁii pwéingaad

once that case was dlsposed of; she came in to speak with them.

2

With regard to the filing of a false police report, Kim indicated that while Officer Thomas
had many times to report an assault to other agents, she did not. Kim testified that he still agreed with
the findings with rcgard to the false police report. On cross-examination, Kim testified that he was
Agent Tilley’s supervisor. He also indicated that Agent Tilley conducted the investigation, wrote the
original report, the addendum and be made findings and recommendations.

Sarvis testified that he is employed with the Metropolitan Police Department and is currently
assigned as the Director of Medical Services. Sarvis indicated that he knew Officer Thomas both
personally and professionally. Sarvis testified that he supervised Thomas when she was detailed to
the Police and Fire Clinic on several occasions. Sarvis testified that Thomas always carried herself
well and that she was always professional. Sarvis stated that he had never known Thomas to be
violent or have a temper, nor did he have any occasion to counsel her for any such behavior. Sarvis
testified that he thought that Thomas should be retained by the department; and that in consideration
of progressive discipline, that there is another penalty suitable for this situation.

Jackson tesuﬂed that she is a member of the Metropohtan Police Department, currently
Eindng] Tovestigstions Pivisions 22 District, Detectives Unit. Jackson testified
thatzix: has a‘ﬁi@!@ﬁ?ﬁf"f?f MPD for approximately 19 years, Jackson indicated that she knows
Office Thomas and met her in the 2™ District. Jackson stated that Thomas was very hard working,
syl aind VIV {iy: Jackson said 'i‘ﬁsmwa Asasuredo beraround gud.she would witlgarh
workl .gwn‘h her agmmmﬁ On Griigs-exaniittiation Ticksoii testified tliat- Officer Thommas wes &
collcague and i'nend She indicated that she did Ynew O v Thomas bustisrd:

Hill testified that she is currently employed as a financial specialist at D.C. Homeland
Security. Hill indicated that she has been friends with Officer Thomas for over 20 years. Hill testified
that she is very loving and caring and that her general demeanor is pleasant. Hill testified that she
believe that MPD should retain Officer Thomas because she is not a violent individual and is hard
working. Hill indicated that she did know Mr. Bullock, and personally believed him to be pervert and
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womanizer. On cross-examination Hill testified that she was aware that Officer 'I‘homas and Mr..
Bullock were going through a divorce.

Evans testified that he is an attomey currently in private practice, and has been practicing for
27 years. Evans indicated that he has known Officer Thomas for a number of years, and had gotten to
koow her better within the past year. Evans testificd that he found Officer Thomas to be a very
‘geouine person and orie who had a heartfelt concem for the community and always had a positive
‘demeanor. . :

Employee testified that she was employed with the Metropolitan Police Department. She
indicated that she and Antonio Bullock (“Bullock™) were married in January 2011. She stafed that
shortly after their marriage Bullock told her that he would need to turn himself into jail in North
Carolina for a DUL She indicated that initially she believed it to be a minor issue, however Bullock
was ultimately incarcerated in North Carolina for the next four years, until March 2015. Then, in
April 2015, while Bullock was not yet living at home, Employee called him and another woman
" answered. Employee indicated that the person who answered the phone was Ms. Tije Holland. Later,
Employee came to find out that Mr. Bullock and Ms. Holland were in an extramarital relationship.
Employee filed for divorce from Mr. Bullock and it was finalized at the end of December 2015. On
the night of December 27, 2015, Employee testified that she and her sister were at the club, Bar
Code. She stated that she had been there a while when she saw Mr. Bullock and Ms. Holland enter.
At some point during the evening, Employee testified that all she can remember is that she hit Ms.
Holland and essentially “blacked out”. Employee testified that she was later visited at her home by
TAD officers and was notified of the investigation of the assault and that her police powers were

revoked.

Employee testified that she ‘believed that M. Bullock hit her that evening, which is while she
filed a police report, but admitted that the video mdcnce does not show that M, Bullock hit her.
Fsplyee tidicansd that she was lafererrested in Fobruary of 2018 Sorthouassaul sinfentered ik &
:deferred plea agreemietit in April o£:2016; Emply oo tEstitied that she campfm her sentancs i
September of 2016. Employec testified that. ém&%%mzse f Compleling hor Seninky hststie Hag:
to do community service and attend anger management courses. Employee indicated that she knew
her actions were wrong, and that she now has leamed better ways to channel her anger. Employee
indicated that the circumstances of her marriage with Mr. Bullock and seeing him with Ms. Holland
caused her anger. Employec testified that she does have better tools to help her with her anger and

* that before this she had never done anything like this.
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The Panel made the following findings of fact based on the:r review of the evidence
prcsmtedatthcheanng. The Panel found the followmg’ .

1. Officer Sheila Thomas-Bullock was appointed to the Metropolitan Police Department on
February 23, 2004. She is currently assigned to the Second District and detailed to the
Court Liaison Division.

2. Officer Thomas-Bullock was married to Mr. Antonio Bullock until then' divorce which
was finalized on December 31, 2015.

3. Mr. Antonio Bullock was serving a prison sentence in North Carolina from Fcbruary
2011 through March of 2015, during which he began a relationship with another woman,
Ms. Tije Holland.

4. On the night of December 27, 2015, Officer Thomas-Bullock, accompanied by her sister
Angela Thomas, initiated and unprovoked attacked on Ms. Holland inside of the Barcode
nightclub.

5. Ms. Holland sustained injuries as a result of the assault by Officer Thoma’s—Bullock, for-
which she sought hospital treatment.

6. The MPD Internal Affairs Division began a criminal investigation into Officer Thomas-
Bullock’s actions.

7. Video surveillance footage from Barcode was recovered, showing the assault by Officer
Thomas-Bullock.

8. Officer Thomas-Bullock was revoked of her police powers by Agents of IAD. :

9. Subsequent to her police powers being revoked, Officer Thomas-Bullock filed a police
report in the Sixth District, alleging that her ex-lmsband, Mr. Antonio Bullock, had
assaulted her, knowing this to be false.

10. On February 1, 2016, an arrest warrant was obtained, charging Officer Thomas-Bullock
with Simple Assault domestic violence.

11. On February 4, 2016, Officer Thomas-Bullock was arrested in coxmectmn with the arrest

- warrant.

12. On April 11, 2016, Officer Thomas-Bullock pled guilty to Simple Assault in D.C.
Superior Court, and entered into a deferred senfencing agreement thought the United
States Attorney’s Office.

13. The criminal case was disposed in September 2016, afccr Officer Thomas-Bullock
completed all terms of her deferred sentencing agreement, -

14. Officer Thomas-Bullock was interviewed by the JAD following the conclusmn of the
criminal case, wherein Officer Thomas-Bullock admitted to the unprovoked assault on

Ms. Tije Holland.

: Upon conmdemﬁon and evaluation of all of the testimony and factors, the Panel found that

there was preponderance of evidence to sustain all three charges. Accordingly, the Panel found that

with regard Charge Number 1, Specifications 1 and 2, that Employee was guilty; Specifications 3 and

4 were dismissed. With regard to Charge Number 2, Specification 1, Employee was found guilty, and
lastly, with regard to Charge Number 4, Specification 1, Employee was also found guilty.

Coc

Agency Answer at Tab 3 Advase Acuon Panel Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law (May 8, 2017)
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In addmon to making the aforementioned findings of facts, the Panel wcxghed the offenses
according to the relevant Douglas® factors. The Panel concluded that the nature and seriousness of
the offense, employee’s job level and type of employment, the notoriety of the offense or its impact
on the reputation of the Agency; the clarity with which employee was on notice of any rules that
were violated; the adequacy and effectiveness of alternative sanctions to deter such conduct in the
future by employee or others; and the consistency of the penalty with any table of penalties, were all
aggravating factors. Specifically, the Panel found that the incident was very serious and constituted a
crimipa} offense in the District of Columbia.

Further, the Panel cited that the filing of the false police report raised questions about her
fitness to carry out the duties and responsibilities of a law enforcement officer. The Panel considered
the past d15c1p]1nary record and past work record to be mitigating factors in this matter, The Panel
* found that upon review of Employee’s work history that there were no serious cases of misconduct,
and that she had over twelve years with the department and was well liked and respected within the
department. Finally, the Panel weighed the consistency of the penalty with those imposed upon -
other employees for similar offenses to be a necutral factor. Namely, the Panel found that the
proposed penalty was consistent for similar misconduct among other employees. Based on their
aforementioned findings, the Panel’s final recommendation was that Employee be terminated for
Charge 1, Specifications 1 and 2, and be suspended for thirty (30) days for Charge 2, Specification 1
and Charge 3, Specification 1.

This Office’s review of this matter is limited pursuant to the D.C. Court of Appeals holdmg
_ in Elton Pinkard v. D.C. Metropolitan Police Department.* According to the Pinkard decision, OEA
‘has a limited role where a departmental hearing has been held. The D.C. Court of Appeals held that

2 Douglas v. Veterans Admmwtmtnan 5 M.S.P.R. 313 (1981). The Douglas factors provide that an agency should consides the

following when determining the pensly of adverse action matters:
1) the nature and seriousness of the offease, and it’s reletion to the employes's duties, position, end rwponsibihhs
including wheﬂmr the oﬁ‘mse was intentional or technical or inadvertent,.or was committed maliciously or for gein, or

"5 1@&&&%{&:1:1 type of employment, including supérvisory or fiduciary role, contacts with the public, and
pmmmence of the position;
3) theemployee’s past disciplinary record;
4)  the employee’s past work record, including length of service, performance on the job, ability to get along with fellow
workers, and dependability;
5) the effect 'of the offense upon the employes's ab:‘htyto perform at a satisfactory level and its effect vpon supervisors’
confidence in employee's ebility to perform assigned duties;
6) consistency of the penalty with those imposed upon other employees for the same or similar offenses;
7) copsistency of the penalty with any applicable ngency table of penalties;
8) the notoriety of the offense or its impact npon the reputation of the ageacy;
9) &Lechﬁtywithwhichﬂlcmplnyeewasonnoﬁcccfanymles thet were violated in committing the offense, or had
been warned about the conduct in question; )
10) potential for the employes’s rehabilitation;
11) mingaﬁngmrcnmstanmsmmdmgthcoﬁ‘msesuchasumsualjobmm personality problems, mental
impairment, harassment, or bad faith, malice orpmvocationonthepan of others involved in the matter; and
12) the adequacy end effectiveness of alternative sanctions to deter such conduct in the future by the employee orm‘he:s.
4301 A2d 86 (D.C. zooz)
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MHile OEA ecmml{;a' has 3ufssdtckon over &mplcyee agpeais:ﬁaem a.{inalagenuy dedision involving
sdverse actionsunder the CMPAY, in a maytér ywhide 5 departioatal besring has bisse held:

“ORA may not substitute its judgement for that of an agency. Iis review of the
agency decision...is limited to a determinstion of whether it was supported by
substantial evidence, whether there was harmful procedural error, or whether it was in
accordance with law or applicable regulations. The OEA, as a reviewing authority,
must generally defer to the agency’s credibility determinations.”

Further, the Court of Appeals held that OEA’s power to establish its own appellate
procedures is limited by the agency’s collective bargaining agreements. As a result, and in
accordance with Pinkard, an Administrative Judge of OEA may not conduct a de novo hearing in an
appeal before them, but rather, must base their decision on the record when all of the following
conditions are met: '

1. The appcﬂant (employee) is an employee of the Metropolitan Police Department orthe D.C.
Fire and Emergency Medical Services Department;

2. The employee has been subject to an adverse action;

3. The employee is a member of a bargaining unit covered by a collective bargaining
agreement,

4. The collective bargaining agreement contains language essentially the same as that found in
Pmkard» ie. “lAn] employee may appeal his adverse action to the Office of Employee
Appeals. In cases where a Departmental hearing has been held, any further appeal shall be
based solely on the record established in the Department hearing”; and

5. Atthe agency level, employee appeared before a panel that conducted an evidentiary hearing,
made findings of fact and conclusions of law, and recommended a course of action of the
deciding official that resulted in an adverse action being taken against employee.

In this case, Employee is a member of the D.C. Metropolitan Police Department (MPD) and
was the subject of an adverse action; MPD collective bargaining agreement contains language similar
to that found in Pinkard; and Employee appeared before an Adverse Action Panel, which held a
hearing. Based on the documents of record, and the position of the parties as stated during the
Prehearing Conference held in this matter and in the briefs submitted herein, the undersigned finds
that all of the aforementioned criteria are met in this instant appeal. Accordingly, pursuant o -
Pinkard, OBA may not substitute its Judgment for that of the Agency, and the undersigned’s review
of Agency’s decision in this matter is limited to the determination of whether the Adverse Action
Panel’s findings were supported by substantial evidence, whether there was harmful error, and
whether the action taken was done in accordance with applicable laws or regulations.

ispiieial evidence” is deﬁm&as

(“Panet™}: &&mgs were: supported by it
o:support a conclusipn*” If

“sucl igleviineeyidendsay wmasanableéémd ;mgﬁi a@cﬁg’é as ; :

o2 sons s

'S SeeD.C. Code §§ 1.606.02 (a)(z) 1-606.03(a)(c); 1-606.04 (2001).
§ Klton Pinkardv. DC Metropokitan Police Depariment, 801 A.2d at page 1. (2002). »
7 Blackv. District of Columbia Department of Employment Services, 801 A.2d 983 at 935 (D.C. 2002).
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the [Adverse Action Panel] ﬁndings are supported by substantial evidence, then the undersigned
must accept them even if there is substantial evidence in the record to support findings to the

contrary

'~ After reviewing the record, and the arguments presented by the parties in their briefs
submitted before this Office, the undersigned finds that the Adverse Action Panel met its burden of
substantial evidence. The parties had an opportunity to present testimonial and documentary
evidence and had the ability to call witnesses and to cross-examine witnesses during the Papel
hearing. Employee bad the opportunity to call any witnesses and was represented by counsel who
cross-examined Agency’s witnesses, Further, a review of the transcript indicated that the Panel was
engaged in the hearing, asked relevant questions and made credibility determinations for the
witnesses, supported by sufficient evidence in making those determinations. Additionally, the Panel
considered and reviewed the Douglas factors in making its determinations and findings, and in
sustaining the charges.

Hhether tiere. wa&f;' :

o S A,

In accordance with Pinkard and OEA Rule 631.3, the undersigned is required to evaluate and
make a finding of whether or not Agency committed harmful error. OEA Rule 631.3 provides that
" “notwithstanding any other provision of these rules, the Office shall not reverse an agency’s action
for error in the application of its rules, regulations, or policies if the agency can demonstrate that the
error was harmless. Harmless error shall mean an error in the application of the agency’s procedures,
which did not cause substantial harm or prejudice to the employee’s rights and did not significantly
affect they agency’s final decision to take action.”

In the instant matter, Employee argues that the undersigned should reverse Agency s decision
because Agency committed harmful procedural error by failing to commence the adverse action in
accordance with. the “90 Day Rule” pursnant to D.C. Code § 5-1031. The “90-Day Rule” requires
agencies to initiate adverse actions against-swom memém i the: paliw imee A 3&?@1‘ e, 90 deys
from the date that Agency “knew oz should have knavngaf: s constitnling o
. Agency argues that it adhered to the provisions "of the 90 Day rule, and that even if there was 2
violation of the rule that it was de Minimis, and that the 90 Day rules is directory, rather than
mandatory. Further, Agency argues that it could not commence adverse action against employee until
the conclusion of her criminal matter so as not to impinge upon Employee’s Fifth Amendment rights
against self-incrimination® D.C. Code §5-1031 - Commencement of Corrective Adverse Action

provides in pertinent part that:

. (a-1)(1) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, mo
corrective or adverse action against any sworn member or civilian employee .
of the Metropolitan Police Department shall be commenced more than 90
days, not mcludmg Saturdays, Sundays, or legal holidays, after the date that

s Metropolztan Police Depm'bnent v Bakar 564 A.2d 1155, 1189 (D.C. 1989)
5 dlice Fee v MPD, OEA Matter No. 1601-0087-15 (March 15, 2017).
10 Agency's Reply Brief at Page 7-9 (Jamuary 12, 2018).
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the Metropolitan Police Department had notice of the act or occurrence
allegedly constituting cause.

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (1) of this subsection, the Metropolitan
Police Department has notice of the act or occurrence allegedly constituting
cause on the date that the Metropolitan Police Department generates an
intemal investigation system tracking nmumber for the act or occurrence.

(B) If the act or occurrence allegedly constituting cause is the subject of
a criminal investigation by the Metropolitan Police Department or any law
enforcement agency with jurisdiction within the United States, the Office of
the United States Attorney for the District of Columbia, or the Office of the
Attorney General, or is the subject of an investigation by the Qffice of the
Inspector General, the Office of the District of Columbia Auditor, or the
Office of Police Complaints, the 90-day period for commencing a corrective
or adverse action under subsection (a) or (a-1) of this section shall be tolled
until the conclusion of the investigation.(Emphasis Added)

The legxslauve purpose of the 90 Day Rule enacted by the D.C. Councﬂ first in 2004, and
peited in 2015, wag o ¢ngure that advitse seiibns: agamstm’inyees wers commeniced and
stered in a timely mupner. Specificdlly, i Cowdaibited: st the 90-Day il “giotects
eniplovses who ambﬁmg s;émnnsu’aﬁvely inv Cfron working nndor the-threatiof: &wgﬁmary
aption. Tor an excesgive lenpth.gf g Addmmib:, Cm’i Sited thigt as it yelits {0 MPD,; this
rule incentivizes the Agency to “follow up on allegations efficiently and to resolve disciplinary cases
in a timely faghion.”> Additionally, the D.C. Court of Appeals has found that the D.C. Council, in
enditing this fegrgation, “sought to expedite iy process and providescertaint with some,
balanes:and Hexibiiv"™ As a result, the 99:Duy rule priad @udamﬁ and xme}mps for the
commencement of adverse actions. -

At issuc here is whether Agency, in administering the instant adverse action, adhcrcd to the
provisions of this law, specifically D.C. Code 5-1031 (b). Here, Employee avers that Agency
violated' the 90-day rule because they did not issue the Notice of Proposed Adverse Action
(“NPAA”) until August 12, 2016. Employee argues that the criminal investigation in this matter,
conducted by the United States Attorney’s Office (USAO”) ended with the arrest of Employee on
February 4, 2016, and as a result, Agency’s August 12, 2016 notice was untimely. Agency argues
that the end of the criminal investigation was not complete until Employee pled guilty and entered
into a Deferred Sentencing Agreement (“DSA™) on April 11, 2016. Agency argues that the criminal
investigation was ongoing, and was “made clear by the fact that instead of procecding to trial, the
USAO allowed Employee an opportunity to plead guilty to Simple Assault pursuant to a Deferred
Sentencing Agreement (“DSA”™) on April 11, 2016.”"* Agency further asserts that becanse a DSA is
an agreement where the “USAO agrem to defer disposition of the criminal case until such time as the
defendant completes requirements”; and if defendant completes the requirements, the USAO will
enter a “nollc-proseqm” which is dcﬁned by the USAO that the Government would no longer seek

:1 Emplayee Brief atPage 21 and Exhibit 5. (December 22, 2017).

4

¥ pC Fire and Medical Services Department v D.C. Office of Employee Appeals, 986A.2d 419 425-526 (D.C. 2010).
o Agency s Reply Bnef at Page 3 (January 12, 2018). :
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prosecuuon”‘s that its issuance of the Notice of Proposed Aé\?crsc Ac:ﬁm; 0 ﬁggﬂgt 12, 2016 was
86 business days after the plea agreement, and as a result, ig ot a vislstionof the 90Day rule.”?

' Employee argues that it is not enough for Agency to suggest that an investigation is
ongoing.'® Employee avers that it is insufficient that Agency “claims that Officer Thomas was the
" subject of criminal mvestrgaﬁon by the USAO up until the plea agreement on Apnl 11, 2016;” and
.grgzmarﬁ:at MPD bag-the Proef to hpw fhat didte-Wds oty il 3 .mesagaﬁan
obcurang el Apa¥ 11, 2616 19 L‘impibyeﬁasm gt Ageney Has:faihed 1o the

criminal mvesﬁgatlon was ongoing following the Fabiiivy 4, 20185, srreet 6 ptayee: 1
Employee avers that the Notice of Proposed Action (“NPAA™) was untimely and in violation of the
90-Day Rule because it was issued 135 days after the arrest warrant was issued, and 132 after the
warrant was served and Employee was arrested.

Both patties cite to the D.C. Court of Appeals Jordan® case, , wherein the Court of Appeals
discussed the 90-Day Rule and the tolling during a criminal investigation. In Jordan, ﬂ1e Court of
" Appeals weighed the interpretation of the phrase “conclusion of a criminal investigation”, under the
then 45-Day rule cited as D.C. Code § 1-617(b-1). The Court of Appeals held that Supenor Court
and OEA erred in concluding that the criminal investigation in this matter ended with the submission
of the report by the Inspector General. The Court held that neither entity cited to any binding cases
that determined when a criminal investigation ends and that the Court of Appeals knew of none.
However, the Court of appeals did hold that “the natural meaning of the statutory language, however,
is that<the “conclusion of a criminal investigation” must involve an action taken by an entity with
Prosecutorial g ifhority —hat is, thewaborlty to review ma?ﬁr;ee, wnd to either chargéan:irdividudt
with corrzt:msgm of a criminal affenye: or deiife that .gRavges: should not be filsd {Efpﬁtms
Added)”

In the instant matter, Employee was investigated for simple assault that occurred on
December 27, 2015. Agency assigned IS numbers to the matxer in the early morning hours of
December, 28, 2015. Ia: z‘tsBmﬁ‘-' ,&gam s th ety i ¥
8, 2016, an Agent wnhMii’D IS Ao futher & -k
Following that, an affidavit in support of an arrcst warrant for Employee was prepared and a DC
Warrant for Domestic Violence Simple Assault was issued by DC Superior Court Judge John Bayly
on February 1, 2016 2 Subsequently, Employee was arrested on February 4, 2016.

Based on the aforementioned, the undermgned finds that in these circumstances, Agency has
not shown that a criminal investigation occurred after Employee’s arrest on February 4, 2016. The
undersigned finds that the mere notion that because the USAO elected fo enter into a Deferred
Sentencing Agreement with Employee exhibits an ongoing investigation, is not substantive fo prove

that a criminal investigation was ongoing between February 4, 2016, and April 11, 2016. The matter
was referred to the USAO in January 2016, and it was later determined that an arrest for the charge

of Srmple Assault was warranted, which was executed on February 4, 2016. Pursuant to the D.C.

s Id. atPageS ‘
18 Employca s Brief at Page 11-12 (December 22, 2017).

2 sttrict of' Columbxa v District of Columbia Qffice of Employee Appeals and Robert L. Jordan, 883 A.2d 124 (2005).
2 1d 8128,

% Agency Brief at Page 3 (November 21, 2017).

B 1d, at Exhibit 1.
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Court of Appeals holding in Jordan that the end of an mVesugauon t involve action taken by an
entity with prosecutorial authority — that is the authority to review evidence and either charge an
individual with commission of a criminal offense or decide that charges should not be file;” the
undersigned finds that the Pebruary 4, 2016, arrest date meets this standard. Here, the USAO was the
prosecutorial authority that assessed and ultimately charged Employee of the offense of Domestic
Violence Simple Assault, and as a result, Employee was arrested on February 4, 2016. The
undersigned finds that the fact that Employee entered into 2 DSA on April 11, 2016, reflects a
decision between the USAO and Employee with regard toward the final disposition of the criminal
case and does not, without substantial evidence, indicate that a criminal investigation was ongoing
~ between Februaty 4, 2016 and April 11, 2016.

Fm‘ther,' Agency’s argument that a violation of the 90-Day rule is de Minimis as the rule is
du'ectory and not mandatory does not align with rulings with regard to ﬂ:us matter OEA has held and
m ; s‘; (ai ﬁiﬁl{ﬁt mweﬁ»sefﬁe& tﬁ&ﬁﬁ‘l 9N A % ¥
a én‘eetery gxm;sma AR am@.ﬁ% TH5g st Aptesylsi ssuareE ef ‘thie N?Aévéﬁ "Augaeﬁ 12, 2&1§
was in violation of the 90-Day rule pursuant to Dy, Cods! §5-103F, a8t Was 182 duye follove s
arrest of Employee on February 4, 2016, which the undersigned has detenmined reflects the end of
the criminal investigation in this matter.

Due Process

Eindovee’s due progesy by not calkx;gﬁ:e

complainant, Ms. Holland, or Mr. Bullock as ‘witdesses difing the ‘pivsel hearing > Further,

Employee argues that the investigative report was mproperly entered into the record since the agent

who anthored the report, Agent Tilley, was not presented at the hearing and made available for cross-

examination. Agency argues that it did not violate Employee’s due process rights by not calling

: Agent Tilley or Ms. Holland or Mr. Bullock. Employee argues that Agency vmlated her due process
in that Emge xﬁe was; ﬁzg‘l mgf have a fafr oppestaliity ¢ Agchrdanel with e

Bmployee was present for the hearing and was represenmd by counsel, and had the nght to call and :
present witnesses as they determined. '

: " The under51gned agrees with Agency. Here, there is no evidence to suggest that Employee
‘was barred from calling Ms. Holland, Mr. Bullock or Agent Tilley as their own witnesses for the
Adverse Action Panel Hearing, Further, Employee had the opportunity to cross-examine all
witnesses and make objections to testimony as well as documentary evidence as presented during
hearing. The Pane] was engaged in the hearing and weighed all testimony and objections, Therefore,
1 ﬁndthatEmployeehadthe opportunity to present her case in a fair manner, andthatAgencyd1d
not violate Employee s due process in this matter.

2"M’etro_palztau Poltce Dq;artmeut " D C Office of. Employee Appeals (in re Alice Lee), 2017 0035325 P (MPA), Februsry 13,
2018 See alsp :

s Btiel 9 ¥agn 27-28 (Diévéinber 22, &63?}& : :
“‘@eﬁ'rag&z& mmewa: v Dseriet of Cotunibing 448 F.3d 392, 401 (D.C. Cir. 2006).
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As outlined previously in this analysis, the undersigned finds that Agency failed to
appropriately follow the 90-Day rule as enumerated in D.C. Code §5-1031 (b), in that it commenced
" its adverse action against Employee in an untimely manner. As previously stated it has been held that

this provision is mandatory, not directory in nature and must be adhered to.? As a result I find that
- Agency’s action was not administered in accordance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations.
" Agency has the burden of proof to show that its actions were executed in accordance with all

applicable laws, rules and regulations, and for the aforéingnfioned reasons, the undersigned finds that
Agency has not met that burden.

_ Because I find that Agency committed harmfial procedural error and failed to appropriately
- follow all apphcable laws, rles and regulations, I further find that Employee’s termination mmst be
reversed. .

" ORDER
Based oﬁ the foregoing, it is ORDERED that:

1. Agency’s action of tgiaiinatitip Employee from service is REVERSED.

2. Agency shall reinstate Employee and reimburse Employee all back pay and benefits
lost as a result of her termination. _

3.  Agency shall file with this Office, within thirty (30) days from the date on whmh this

decision becomes final, documents evidencing comphance with the terms of this
Order

FOR THE OFFICE:

. “n# .

E Metropolitan Police Departmentv D C. Office of. EmployeeAppaal: (in re Alice Lee), 2017 0035325 P (MFA), February 13,
2018.




NOTICE OF APPEALS RIGHTS .

This is an Initial Decision that will become a final decision of the Office of
Employee Appeals unless either party to this proceeding files a Petition for Review
with the office. A Petition for Review must be filed within thirty-five (35)
calendar days, including holidays and weekends, of the issuance date of the Initial
Decision in the case. '

All Petitions for Review must set forth objections to the Initial Decision and
establish that:

1. New and material ewdence is available that, desplte due thgence was
not avaﬂable when the record was closed;

2. The decision of the presiding official is based on an erroneous
mterpretauon of statute, regulation, or pohcy;

3. The ﬁndmg of the presiding oﬂicml are not based on substantial
evidence; or '

4. The Imtlal Decision did not address aJl the issues of law and fact properly
rmsed in the appeal.

. All Petmons for Review should be supported by references to applicable
laws or regulauons and make specific reference to the record. The Petition for
Review, containing a certificate of service, muist be filed with Administrative
Assistant, D.C. Office of Employee Appeals 955 L’Enfant Plaza Suite 2500,
Washington, D.C. 20024. Four (4) copies of the Petition for Review must be filed.
Parties wishing to respond to a Petition for Review may file their response within
thirty-five (35) calendar days, including holidays and weekends, after the ﬁlmg of

the Petition for Review.

Instead of filing a Petition for Review with the Office, either party may file a
Petition for Review in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia. To file a
Petition for Review with the Superior Court, the petitioning party should consult
Superior Couxt Civil Procedure Rules, XV. Agency Rewew, Rule 1.



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that the attached INITIAL DECISION was sent by regular mail
on this day to:

Sheila Thomas Bullock
5612 Blaine Street, NE
Washington, DC 20013

John H. Schroth, Esqg.

Pressler, Senftle & Wilhite, P.C.
1432 K St., NW '
12th Floor

Washington, DC 20005

' Nada Paisant, Esq.

441 4™ st, NW ‘ .
Suite 1180N ‘

Washington, DC 20001

april 30, 2010

BaraT



SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
CIVIL DIVISION
' Civil Actions Branch
500 Indiana Avenue, N.W., Suite 5000, Washington, D.C. 20001
Telcphone; (202) 879-1133 » Websitc: www.dcconrts.gov

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA METROPPOLITAN POLICE
DEPT. ) ' C.A.No. = 2018 CA 003991 P(MPA)
Vs. '
DISTRICT OF COLUM'BIA OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS
INITIAL ORDER AND ADDENDUM

" Pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-906 and District of Columbia Superior Court Rule of Civil Procedure-
(“Super. Ct. Civ. R.”) 401, it is hereby ORDERED as follows: ' .

(1) Effective this date, this case has assigned to the individual calendar designated below. All future filings
in this case shall bear the calendar number and the judge’s name beneath the case number in the caption. On
filing any motion or paper related thereto, one copy (for the judge) must be delivered to the Clerk along with the
original. :

(2) Within 60 days of the filing of the complaint, plaintiff must file proof of serving on each defendant:
copies of the summons, the complaint, and this Initial Order and Addendum. As to any defendant for whom
such proof of service has not been filed, the Complaint will be dismissed without prejudice for want of
prosecution unless the time for serving the defendant has been extended as provided in Super. Ct. Civ. R. 4(m).

(3) Within 21 days of service as described above, except as otherwise noted in Super. Ct. Civ. R.'12, each
defendant must respond to the complaint by filing an answer or other responsive pleading. As to the defendant
who has failed to respond, a default and judgment will be entered unless the time to respond has been extended
as provided in Super. Ct. Civ. R. 55(3).

(4) At the time and place noted below, all counsel and unrepresented parties shall appear before the
assigned judge at an initial scheduling and settlement conference to discuss the possibilities of settlement and to
establish a schedule for the completion of all proceedings, including, normally, either mediation, case evaluation,
or arbitration. Counsel shall discuss with their clients prior to the conference whether the clients are agreeable to
binding or non-binding arbitration. This order is the only notice that parties and counsel will receive
concerning this Conference.

(5) Upon advice that the date noted below is inconvenient for any party or counsel, the Quality Review
Branch (202) 879-1750 may continue the Conference once, with the consent of all parties, to either of the two
succeeding Fridays. Request must be made not less than seven business days before the scheduling conference

date. : : .
‘No other continuance of the conference will be granted except upon motion for good cause shown.,

{ \
(6) Parties are responsible for obtaining and complying with all requirements of the General Order for Civil
cases, each judge’s Supplement to the General Order and the General Mediation Order. Copies of these orders
are available in the Courtroom and on the Court’s website ht_tp://www. dccourts.gov/.

Chief Judge Robert E. Morin

Case Assigned to: Judge HIRAM E PUIG-LUGO
Date: June 6, 2018 _

Initial Conference: 9:30 am, Friday, September 07, 2018
Location: Courtroom 317 '

500 Indiana Avenue N.W, .
WASHINGTON, DC 20001 CAIO-60

e —————




ADDENDUM TO INITIAL ORDER AFFECTING
ALL MEDICAL MALPRACTICE CASES

In accordance with the Medical Malpractice Proceedings Act of 2006, D.C. Code § 16-2801,
et seq. (2007 Winter Supp.), "[a]fter an action is filed in the court against a healthcare provider
alleging medical malpractice, the court shall require the parties to enter into mediation, without
discovery or, if ‘all parties agree[,] with only limited discovery that will not interfere with the
- completion of mediation within 30 days of the Initial Scheduling and Settlement Conference
("ISSC"), prior to any further litigation in an effort to reach a settlement agreement. The early
mediation schedule shall be included in the Scheduling Order following the ISSC. Unless all
parties agree, the stay of discovery shall not be more than 30 days after the ISSC."
D.C. Code § 16-2821. '

To ensure compliance with this legislation, on or before the date of the ISSC, the Court will
notify all attorneys and pro se parties of the date and time of the early mediation session and the
name of the assigned mediator. Information about the early mediation date also is available over
the internet at https://www:dccourts.gov/pa/. To facilitate this process, all counsel and pro se
parties in every. medical malpractice case are required to confer, jointly complete and sign an
EARLY MEDIATION FORM, which must be filed no later than ten (10) calendar days prior to the
ISSC. D.C. Code § 16-2825 Two separate Early Mediation Forms are available. Both forms may be
obtained at www.dccourts.gov/medmalmediation. One form is to be used for early mediation with a
mediator from the multi-door medical malpractice mediator roster; the second form is to be used for
early mediation with a private mediator. Both forms also are available in the Multi-Door Dispute
Resolution Office, Suite 2900, 410 E Street, N'W. Plaintiffs counsel is responsible for eFiling the
form and is required to e-mail a courtesy copy to earlymedmal@dcsc.gov. Pro se Plaintiffs who
€lect not to eFile may file by hand in the Multi-Door Dispute Resolution Office,

A roster of medical malpractice mediators available through the Court's Multi-Door Dispute
Resolution Division, with biographical information .about each mediator, can be found at
www.dccourts.gov/medmalmediation/mediatorprofiles. ~ All individuals on the roster are judges or
lawyers with at least 10 years of significant experience in medical malpractice litigation.
D.C. Code § 16-2823(a). 1If the parties cannot agree on a mediator, the Court will appoint one.
D.C. Code § 16-2823(b). | .

The following persons are required by statute to attend personally the Early Mediation
Conference: (1) all parties; (2) for parties that are not individuals, a representative with settlement
authority; (3) in cases involving an insurance company, a representative of the company with
settlement authority, and (4) attorneys representing each party with primary responsibility for the
case. D.C. Code § 16-2824.

No later: than ten (10) days after the early mediation session has terminated, Plaintiff must
eFile with the Court a report prepared by the mediator, including a private mediator, regarding:
(1) attendance; (2) whether a settlement was reached; or, (3)if a settlement was not reached, any
agreements to narrow the scope of the dispute, limit discovery, facilitate future settlement, hold
another mediation session, or otherwise reduce the cost and time of trial preparation.
D.C. Code§ 16-2826. Any Plaintiff who is pro se may elect to file the report by hand with the Civil
Actions Branch. The forms to be used for early mediation reports are available at
www.dccourts.gov/medmalmediation. '

Chief Judge Robert. E. Morin
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CERTIFICATE OF FILING

I hereby certify that this is the true and correct official case file in the matter of Sheila |
Thomas Bullock v. D.C. Metropolitan Police Department, OEA Matter No. 1601-0039-17. The
record consists of two volumes containing twenty-two (22) tabs.
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Filed
D.C. Superior Court
07/27/2018 15:04PM

GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA Clerk of the Court
OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS I REPLY TO:
: 95S L'Enfant Plaza, SW.
Suite 2500
Washington, DC 20024
(202)727-0004

FAX (202)727-5631

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

District of Columbia Metropolitan Police
Department, ‘
Petitioner Case No. 2018 CA 003991 P(MPA)

v. Judge Hiram Puig-Lugo

D.C. Office of Employee Appeals,
Respondent.

R I B A g

MOTION TO SEAL RECORD

Pursuant to Superior Court Civil Rule 5(e)(2), a party wishing to file a document
containing the unredacted personal identifiers may submit a motion to file an unredacted
document under seal. In accordance with Agency Rule 1(e), Respéndeént D.C. Office of
Employee Appeals is required to file with the Clerk the entire agency record, including all of the
original papers comprising that record. The original record contains documents that were
submitted by the District of Columbia Metropolitan Police Department and Sheila Thomas-
Bullock which include the names, addresses, telephone numbers, and photographs of the victim
and several witnesses in this matter. In an effort to maintain the record in its 0‘ﬁgina1 form and to
' protect the privacy of those involved, we humbly request that you grant our motion to seal the
record to prevent it from being viewed by the public via the court’s electrbm'c filing system.

Counsels for Petitioner and Sheila Thomas-Bullock do not object to this motion.




Respectfully submitted,

Wﬁ)ﬁw Btwéeq»
Lasheka Brown Bassey -
D.C. Bar # 489370
General Counsel
D.C. Office of Employee Appeals
955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
Washington, DC 20024
202.727.0738
Lasheka.Brown@dc.gov




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I hereby certify that on this 27% day of July, 2018, the forgoing Respondent D.C. Office
of Employee Appeals’ Motion to Seal Record was served via the Court;f s electronic filing

system, CaseFileXpress.com to the following:

Nada Paisant
Counsel for Petitioner

John H. Schroth
Counsel for Sheila Thomas-Bullock

asheka Brown Bassey
D.C. Bar # 489370
General Counsel '
D.C. Office of Employee Appeals
955 L’enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
Washington, DC 20024
202.727.0738
Lasheka.Brown@dc.gov




Filed

D.C. Superior Court
08/03/2018 09:26aM

Clerk of the Court

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
CIVIL DIVISION

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA METROPOLITAN:
POLICE DEPARTMENT :
Petitioner, : 2018 CA 003991 P(MPA)
Judge Hiram E. Puig-Lugo
v.

D.C. OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS,
Respondent.

ORDER

This matter comes before the Court upon Respondent’s Motion to Seal, filed July
27,2018. Respondent states that no counsel object to this request.

Super. Ct. Civ. R. 5-III suggests that all cases are filed on the public docket unless
statutory authority or a written court order allows for the sealing of a case or document.
Failure to adhere to Super. Ct. Civ. R. 5-III “will result in the pleading or document being
placed in the public record.” Super. Ct. Civ. R. 5.2 requires the redaction of certain types
of information from filings unless ordered otherwise.

Respondent requests to seal the entire agency record “to maintain the record in its
original form and to protect the privacy of those involved.” P1. Mot. The Court finds
good cause for this consent request.

Accordingly, it is this 3™ day of August, 2018,

ORDERED that Respondent’s Motion to Seal is GRANTED) and it is further

ORDERED that Respondent D.C. Office of Employee Appeals may file the

entire agency record in accordance with Super. Ct. Agency Review R. 1(e) under seal.



SO ORDERED.

.

Judge Hiram E. Puig-Lugo
Associate Judge
(Signed in Chambers)

Copies via e-service to:
Nada Paisant, Esq.

Lasheka Brown Bassey, Esq.
John Schroth, Esq.



Filed

D.C. Superior Court
11/09/2018 10:29AM

Clerk of the Court

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

)
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA )
METROPOLITAN POLICE ) Case No. 2018 CA 003991 P(MPA)
DEPARTMENT, )
Petitioner, ) Judge Hiram E. Puig-Lugo
)
V. )
)
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA )
OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS, ) Next Event: Status Hearing
Respondent. ) Friday, March 29,2019 at 9:30 a.m.
)

OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS’
STATEMENT IN LIEU OF BRIEF

Pursuant to the Scheduling Order that was entered on September 6, 2018, Respondent
Office of Employee Appeals submits that it relies on the final decision in the matter of Sheila
Thomas Bullock v. D.C. Metropolitan Police Department, OEA Matter Number 1601-0039-17

(April 30, 2018) as its statement in lieu of brief. The final decision is attached hereto as Exhibit

#1.
Respectfully submitted,
, 0
Jgdwka Brewn Bnasts,
Lasheka Brown Bassey /

D.C. Bar # 489370

General Counsel

D.C. Office of Employee Appeals
955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
Washington, DC 20024
202.727.0738
Lasheka.Brown@dc.gov




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 9th day of November, 2018, the forgoing Respondent Office
of Employee Appeals’ Statement in Lieu of Brief was served via the Court’s electronic filing
system, CaseFileXpress.com to the following:

Nada A. Paisant
Counsel for Petitioner

John H. Schroth
Counsel for Intervenor

Respectfully submitted,

L))ﬂ baduly B5yeus Lrasey”
Lasheka Brown Bassey ’
D.C. Bar # 489370
General Counsel
D.C. Office of Employee Appeals
955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
Washington, DC 20024
202.727.0738
Lasheka.Brown@dc.gov
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Notice: This decision may be formally revised before it is published in the District of Columbia Register and the
Office of Employee Appeals’ website. Parties should promptly notify the Office Manager of any formal errors so
that this Office can correct them before publishing the decision. This notice is not intended to provide an
opportunity for a substantive challmge to the decision.

THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
BEFORE
THE OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS

In the Matter of .
OEA Matter No. 1601-0039-17

SHEILA THOMAS BULLOCK,

Employee
Date of Issuance: April 30, 2018

v.
Michelle R. Harris, Esq.

D.C. METROPOLITAN POLICE Administrative Judge
DEPARTMENT,
Agency
John Schroth, Esq., Employee Representative
Nada Paisant, Esq., Agency Representative
INITIAL DECISION

INTRODUCTION AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On April 18, 2017, Sheila Thomas Bullock (“Employee”) filed a Petition for Appeal with the
Office of Employee Appeals (“OEA” or “Office”) contesting the District of Columbia Metropolitan
Police Department’s (“Agency” or “MPD”) decision remove her from service. On May 8, 2017,
Agency filed its Answer to Employee’s Petition for Appeal. Following a failed attempt at mediation,
this matter was assigned to the undersigned Administrative Judge on August 21, 2017. On August
23, 2017, 1 issued an Order Convening a Prehearing Conference in this matter for September, 28,
2017. On September 6, 2017, Employee, by and through her counsel, filed a Consent Motion to
Reschedule the Prehearing Conference. I issued an Order on September 7, 2017, granting
Employee’s Motion and rescheduling the Prehearing Conference to October 2, 2017.

On October 2, 2017, both parties appeared for the Prehearing Conference. Dunng the
Prehearing Conference, I found that because there was an Adverse Action Panel hearing in this
matter, that OEA’s review of this appeal was subject to the standard of review outlined in Elton
Pinkard v. D.C. Metropolitan Police Department, 801 A.2d 86 (D.C. 2002). As a result, the parties
were ordered to submit briefs addressing whether: (1) the Adverse Action Panel’s decision was
supported by substantial evidence; (2) whether there was a harmful procedural error; and (3) whether
Agency’s action was done in accordance with all laws and/or regulations. Parties were also directed
to specifically address whether the “90-Day Rule” pursuant to D.C. Code § 5-1031 was v101ated in
the administration of the instant adverse action.

On October 3, 2017, I issued an Order codifying the verbal order from the Prehearing
Conference and setting the briefing schedule. Accordingly, Agency’s brief was due on or before
November 13, 2017, Employee’s brief was due on or before December 15, 2017, and Agency had the
option to submit a sur-reply brief by or before January 8, 2018. On November 7 2017, Agency filed
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- a Consent Motion to Extend the Briefing Schedule. Accordingly, on November 9, 2017, I issued an
Order granting Agency’s Motion. As a result, Agency’s brief was now due on or before November
21, 2017, Employee’s Brief was due on or before December 22, 2017 and Agency had the option to
submit a sur-reply Brief on or before January 12, 2018. Parties submitted all briefs in accordance
with the prescribed deadlines. Additionally, on February 23, 2018, Employee, by and through her
counsel, submitted a filing noting its intention to rely on a recent Superior Court Order of a case that
was cited in her brief.! The record is now closed.

JURISDICTION

This Office has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to D.C. Official Code § 1-606.03 (2001).
ISSUES

1. Whether the Adverse Action Panel’s decision was supported by substantial
evidence;

2. Whether there was harmful procedural error;

3. Whether Agency’s action was done in accordance with all applicable laws or
regulations.

4. Whether the “90-Day Rule” pursuant to D.C. Code § 5-1031 was violated in the
administration of the instant adverse action.

BURDEN OF PROOF
OEA Rule 628.1, 59 DCR 2129 (March 16, 2012) states:

The burden of proof with regard to material issues of fact shall be By a
preponderance of the evidence. “Preponderance of the evidence” shall mean:

That degree of relevant evidence which a reasonable mind, considering the
record as a whole, would accept as sufficient to find a contested fact more
probably true than untrue.

- OEA Rule 628.2 id. states:
" The employee shall have the burden of proof as to issues of jurisdiction, including

timeliness of filing. The agency shall have the burden of proof as to all other
issues. :

! The case cited as Metropolitan Police Department v District of Columbia Office of Emplayee Appeals (In re: Alice Lee), Case
No. 2017 CA 003525 P (MPA), which was filed on February 13, 2018. Employee indicated that this case affirms the OEA ruling
in a matter it cited in her brief, Alice Lee v MPD, OEA Matter No. 1601-0087-15.
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STATEMENT OF THE CHARGES

In a Final Notice of Adverse Action dated February 10, 2017, Agency terminated Employee
from service based on the following:

Charge No 1: Violation of General Order Series 120.21, Attachment A, Part
A-7, which provides, “Conviction of any member of the force in any court of
competent jurisdiction of any criminal or quasi-criminal offense, or of any

_ offense in which the member either pleads guilty, receives a verdict of guilty or
a conviction following a plea of nolo contendere, or is deemed to bave been
involved in the commission of any act which would constitute a crime, whether
or not a court record reflects a conviction. Members who are accused of
criminal or quasi-criminal offense shall promptly report, or have reported their
involved to their commanding officers.”

Specification No 1: In that on or about August 11, 2016, you pled guilty to
Domestic Violence Simple Assault (Case #2016DVMO000218) and agreed to a
deferred sentencing plea agreement with the United States Attorney’s Office

(USAO).

Specification No 2: In that, on or about February 1, 2016, an arrest warrant
charging you with Domestic Violence Simple Assault was issued by the
District of Columbia, Superior Court Judge John Bayly. You were
subsequently arrested on February 4, 2016.

Specification No 3: In that, on December 28, 2015, you deliberately filed a
false police report at the Sixth District police station, alleging that on
December 27, 2015, you were punched in the mouth by your husband.

Specification No 4: In that, on December 27, 2015, in an unprovoked attack,
you physically assaulted Ms. Tije Holland while at the Barcode Club located at
1101 17" Street, Northwest, Washington, DC, causing serious injury to Ms.
Holland’s face, mouth and eye. ‘

Charge No. 2: Violation of General Order Series 120.21, Attachment A, Part
A-17 which reads in part, “...falsification of official records or reports.”

Specification No. 1: In that, on December 28, 2015, you deliberately filed a
false police report at the Sixth District police station, alleging that on
December 27, 2015, you were punched in the mouth by your husband while at
the Barcode Club located at 1101 17 Street, Northwest, Washington, DC. You
filed this report knowing it was not factual.

Charge No. 3: Violation of General Order Series 120.21, Attachment A, Part
A-12, which reads “Conduct unbecoming an officer, including acts detrimental
to good discipline, conduct that would affect adversely the employee’s or the




OEA Matter No. 1601-0039-17
Page 4 0f 16

agency’s ability to perform effectively, or violations of any law of the United
States or any law, municipal ordinance, or regulation of the District of
Columbia.” This misconduct is further defined in General Order Series 201.26,
Part 1-B-23 which provides, “Members shall not conduct themselves in an
immoral, indecent, lewd or disorderly manner...They shall be guilty of
misconduct, neglect of duty, or conduct unbecoming to an officer and a
professional...”

Specification No. 1: In that on December 27, 2015, while off duty and visiting
the Barcode Club located at 1101 17® Street, Northwest, Washington, DC, you,
while unprovoked, physically attacked Ms. Tije Holland, who was also visiting
the Barcode Club, causing serious injury to Ms. Holland’s face, mouth and eye.

SUMMARY OF THE TESTIMONY

On December 29, 2016, Agency held an Adverse Action Panel hearing. During the hearing,
testimony and evidence was presented for consideration and adjudication relative to the instant
matter. The following represents what the undersigned has determined to be the most relevant facts
adduced from the findings of fact, as well as the transcript (bereinafter denoted as “Tr.”), generated
and reproduced as a part of the Adverse Action Panel hearing.

Sergeant K¢ n Skaluba (“Skaluba”) (Tr. Pages 20-33,

Skaluba testified that she is a member of the Metropolitan Police Department. She
previously worked with the Fifth District (“SD”), but is currently with the Fourth District.
Skaluba testified that she was on duty the night of December 27, 2015, and that she was called
out to- Washington Hospital Center to interview the victim of an assault. Skaluba testified that
the victim was Ms. Holland. Skaluba testified that she answered the call from a radio run, but
while in route, the officer on scence indicated that the complainant was alleging misconduct
from an a member of MPD.

Skalubua testified that Ms. Holland told her she was at a club with her boyfriend and saw
his ex-wife. She said she was the struck in the face by the officer and possibly the officer’s sister.
Skaluba came to find out that the officer in question was MPD member Sheila Thomas Bullock.
Following this interview, Skaluba testified that she contacted the Watch Commander and the
Internal Affairs Division (“IAD), and that ultimately she turned the case over to IAD. Skaluba
testified that the only involvement she had was approving the incident offense report prepared by
Officer Copeland, the responding officer and the person who had initial contact with the
complainant. On cross-examination, Skaluba testified that she did not know if Ms. Holland
called 9-1-1 on the night of the incident. Skaluba indicated that she was unaware of who called
the police, but that she was dispatched to Washington Hospital Center.
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Agent Kenneth Carter (“Carter”) (TIr. Page 33 -63)

Carter testified that he is a member of the MPD Internal Affairs Division (IAD). He stated
that he was on duty the evening of December 27, 2015, going into the early morning of December
28, 2015. Carter testified that he was contacted by Agent Tracye Malcolm who indicated that they
were to respond to an investigation relating to Officer Sheila Thomas Bullock; specifically it was a
call to investigate an assault. Carter stated that he and Agent Malcolm met at the Washington
Hospital Center, who also advised him that Ms. Holland made a police report indicating that she had
been assaulted earlier in evening. Carter testified that he interviewed Ms. Holland, who explained
that she was at Barcode Lounge with her boyfriend, Antonio Bullock, who told her that Officer
Sheila Thomas Bullock and her sister had walked in. Carter stated that Ms. Holland told him that she
was assaulted by Officer Thomas and her sister Angela Thomas. Carter testified that Ms. Holland
indicated that she was punched in the facial area. Carter also indicated that he interviewed Antonio
Bullock, who indicated that while he did not see the altercation begin, but attempted to break it up.
Carter testified that Mr. Bullock indicated that after the melee, Officer Sheila Thomas and her sister
left the club.

Carter also testified that while at Washington Hospital Center, he noted that Ms. Holland was
treated for abrasions and swilling in the face. Carter also confirmed that the interviews he conducted
with Ms. Holland and Mr. Bullock were recorded. Carter testified that following the interview with
Ms. Holland at Washington Hospital Center, he and Agent Malcolm then proceeded to locate Officer
Thomas Bullock. Carter stated that they called Officer Thomas Bullock and then went to her
residence in Prince George’s County Maryland. Carter indicated that Agent Malcolm and Officer
Thomas Bullock spoke and that at that time Officer Bullock was made aware that her police powers
were revoked. Carter testified that he could not recall if Officer Thomas Bullock relayed that she had
been assaulted during this visit.

" On cross-examination Carter testified that IS numbers were assigned on December 28, 2015.
He also indicated that he did conduct the interviews of Ms. Holland and Mr. Bullock at the
Washington Hospital Center. Carter was also asked about what Ms. Holland indicated with regard to
the relationship she had with Mr. Bullock. Carter testified that while he could not recall if Ms.
Holland said that she had never met Officer Thomas Bullock, that she indicated that there had not
been any previous confrontations between her and Officer Thomas.

Retired Agent Tracye Malcom (“Malcolm”) (Tr. Pages 63-99)

Malcolm testified that she was previously employed by the Metropolitan Police Department
for 25 years, and that prior to retirement she served in the Internal Affairs Division. Malcolm stated
that she was on duty with IAD around December 27, 2015, through December 28, 2015. Malcolm
testified that she was the on-call agent that evening and received a call from either a “CIC” or a
Sergeant to come out to investigate an officer involved incident. Malcolm testified that she, along’
with her partner, Agent Carter were made aware that Officer Thomas Bullock had been involved in a
fight with a lady at the Barcode Club in DC. Malcolm stated that she interviewed the victim and her
boyfriend. Malcolm also testified that she went to the home of Officer Thomas Bullock to meet with
her and revoke her police powers. During that visit, Malcolm testified that she told Officer Thomas
Bullock that there was a criminal allegation. Malcolm stated that she recalled Officer Thomas
Bullock asking about filing a police report and that she advised her to do exactly what a citizen
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would do. Malcolm testified that Qfficer Thomas Bullock did not indicate that she had been
assaulted during this interview. ’

Malcolm also testified that she interviewed Ms. Tije Holland and Mr. Antonio Bullock.
Malcolm indicated that Ms. Holland said that Officer Thomas Bullock and her sister hit her in the
face while at the club. Malcolm indicated that she did secure video of the assault. Malcolm also
testified that injuries to Ms. Holland were noted, specifically to her face and lip. Malcolm also
testified that she did not complete entire investigation, and that it was reassigned becausc she was
retiring. : ,

On cross examination, Malcolm testified that she could not remember the exact that she went
to Officer Thomas Bullock’s home, but that it was daylight when she arrived. Malcolm indicated
that Officer Thomas Bullock was calm upon their arrival. Malcolm also testified that she applied for
. an arrest warrant for Officer Thomas on February 1, 2016 and that a subsequent arrest was made
February 4, 2016. She also agreed that April 11, 2016 was when Officer Thomas entered into a
deferred sentencing agreement with the U.S. Attorney’s Office. Malcolm indicated that she was
present for one hearing, and believed that she completed her work with the matter after initial
interviews, and that she retired in June of that year.

Agent Trina Johnson (“Johnson”) (Ir. Pages 1 13-126)

Johnson testified that she’s been a member of the Metropolitan Police Department for
eighteen years, and currently works in the IAD division. In November of 2016, Johnson testified that
she assisted Agent Tilley with the interview of Officer Thomas as it related to the incident that took
place inside a club in DC. Johnson testified that the criminal matter has been “dissolved.” Johnson
indicated that during the interview, Officer Thomas said that in December of 2015, she was involved
in a physical altercation and that she was the first to strike. Johnson testified that during the course of
this investigation, she recalled that Officer Thomas had made a report of assault to the 6® District on
December 28, 2015, after her police powers had been revoked.

On cross examination, Jobnson indicated that she had been with JAD since September 182
She indicated that it was Sergeant Tilley who did the investigation on this case, and that he wrote the
original report and wrote the addendum. Johnson testified that her first involvement with this case
was on November 17, 2016, when she interviewed Officer Thomas.

Lieutenant Han Kim (“Kim”) (Tr. Pages 131-149)

Kim testified that be is a member of the Metropolitan Police Department’s Internal Affairs
Division. Kim testified that he has been 2 member of MPD for twelve years. He stated that within
IAD, he is the supervisor of Squad 3 and his primary duties are to do case reviews and review
investigations once they’re submitted for inaccuracies, identifying all witnesses and other items
related to investigative needs. Kim indicated that during the time of his review, he also
. communicates with the JAD Agents. Kim indicated that he reviewed the investigation of Officer

Thomas that was conducted by Agency Tilley. Kim indicated that he reviewed the final investigative
report and addendum report; but could not recall what if any items he identified that needed to be
addressed before the report was finalized. Kim also stated that he reviewed the report with regard to
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the two findings of assault and the filing of a false police report. Kim testified that the basis for
sustaining the assault was based on the account of the complainant, Ms. Holland.

Kim indicated the basis for sustaining the false police report was based on circumstances
related to Officer Thomas reporting, and from her interview. Kim testified that Officer Thomas was
not interviewed in this matter until the addendum report. Kim stated that the addendum report was
prepared on November 21, 2016. Kim indicated that he believed the timing of this addendum was to
allow Officer Thomas to come in and speak with them while her criminal case was still pending and
once that case was disposed of, she came in to speak with them.

With regard to the filing of a false police report, Kim indicated that while Officer Thomas
had many times to report an assault to other agents, she did not. Kim testified that he still agreed with
the findings with regard to the false police report. On cross-examination, Kim testified that he was
Agent Tilley’s supervisor. He also indicated that Agent Tilley conducted the investigation, wrote the
original report, the addendum and he made findings and recommendations.

Director William Sarvis, Jr. (“Sarvis”) (Tr. Pages 171-179)

4 Sarvis testified that he is employed with the Metropolitan Police Department and is currently

assigned as the Director of Medical Services. Sarvis indicated that he knew Officer Thomas both
personally and professionally. Sarvis testified that he supervised Thomas when she was detailed to
the Police and Fire Clinic on several occasions. Sarvis testified that Thomas always carried herself
well and that she was always professional. Sarvis stated that he had never known Thomas to be
violent or have a temper, nor did he have any occasion to counsel her for any such behavior. Sarvis
testified that he thought that Thomas should be retained by the department; and that in consideration
of progressive discipline, that there is another penalty suitable for this situation.

Sergeant Kenya Jackson (“Jackson”) (Ir. Pages 182-192)

Jackson testified that she is a member of the Metropolitan Police Department, currently
assigned to the Criminal Investigations Divisions 22™ District, Detectives Unit. Jackson testified
that she has been a member of MPD for approximately 19 years. Jackson indicated that she knows
Office Thomas and met her in the 2* District. Jackson stated that Thomas was very hard working,
loyal and very friendly. Jackson said Thomas was a pleasure to be around and she would welcome
working with her again in MPD. On cross-examination Jackson testified that Officer Thomas was a
colleague and friend. She indicated that she did know Officer Thomas’ husband.

Ms. Monica Hill (“Hill”) (Tr. Pages 198-206)

Hill testified that she is currently employed as a financial specialist at D.C. Homeland
Security. Hill indicated that she has been friends with Officer Thomas for over 20 years. Hill testified
that she is very loving and caring and that her general demeanor is pleasant. Hill testified that she
believe that MPD should retain Officer Thomas because she is not a violent individual and is hard
working. Hill indicated that she did know Mr. Bullock, and personally believed him to be pervert and
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womanizer. On cross-examination Hill testified that she was aware that Officer Thomas and Mr.
Bullock were going through a divorce. ‘

Mr. Douglas Evans Sr., Esq. (“Evans”) (Tr. Pages 210-216)

Evans testified that he is an attorney currently in private practice, and has been practicing for
27 years. Evans indicated that he has known Officer Thomas for a number of years, and had gotten to
know her better within the past year. Evans testified that he found Officer Thomas to be a very
genuine person and one who had a heartfelt concern for the community and always had a positive
demeanor.

- Officer Sheila Thomas (“Employee”) (Tr. Pages 217 -309)

Employee testified that she was employed with the Metropolitan Police Department. She
indicated that she and Antonio Bullock (“Bullock™) were married in January 2011. She stated that
shortly after their marriage Bullock told her that he would need to turn himself into jail in North
Carolina for a DUL She indicated that initially she believed it to be a minor issue, however Bullock
was ultimately incarcerated in North Carolina for the next four years, until March 2015. Then, in
April 2015, while Bullock was not yet living at home, Employee called him and another woman
answered. Employee indicated that the person who answered the phone was Ms. Tije Holland. Later,
Employee came to find out that Mr. Bullock and Ms. Holland were in an extramarital relationship.
- ‘Employee filed for divorce from Mr. Bullock and it was finalized at the end of December 2015. On
the night of December 27, 2015, Employee testified that she and her sister were at the club, Bar
Code. She stated that she had been there a while when she saw Mr. Bullock and Ms. Holland enter.
At some point during the evening, Employee testified that all she can remember is that she hit Ms.
Holland and essentially “blacked out”.. Employee testified that she was later visited at her home by
IAD officers and was notified of the investigation of the assault and that her police powers were
revoked. '

"Employee testified that she believed that Mr. Bullock hit her that evening, which is while she
- filed a police report, but admitted that the video evidence does not show that Mr. Bullock hit her.
Employee indicated that she was later arrested in February of 2016 for the assault and entered into a
deferred plea agreement in April of 2016. Employee testified that she completed her sentence in
September of 2016. Employee testified that during the course of completing her sentence that she had
to do community service and attend anger management courses. Employee indicated that she knew
her actions were wrong, and that she now has learned better ways to channel her anger. Employee
indicated that the circumstances of her marriage with Mr. Bullock and seeing him with Ms. Holland
caused her anger. Employee testified that she does have better tools to help her with her anger and
that before this she had never done anything like this.
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Panel Findings

The Panel made the following findings of fact based on their review of the evidence
presented at the hearing. The Pane] found the following™:

1.

10.
11.

12.

13.

14.

Officer Sheila Thomas-Bullock was appointed to the Metropolitan Police Department on
February 23, 2004. She is currently assigned to the Second District and detailed to the
Court Liaison Division.

Officer Thomas-Bullock was married to Mr. Antonio Bullock until their divorce which
was finalized on December 31, 2015. '

. Mr. Antonio Bullock was serving a prison sentence in North Carolina from February

2011 through March of 2015, during which he began a relationship with another woman,
Ms. Tije Holland.

On the night of December 27, 2015, Officer Thomas-Bullock, accompanied by her sister -
Angela Thomas, initiated and unprovoked attacked on Ms. Holland inside of the Barcode
nightclub.

Ms. Holland sustained injuries as a result of the assault by Officer Thomas-Bullock, for
which she sought hospital treatment.

The MPD Internal Affairs Division began a criminal investigation into Officer Thomas-
Bullock’s actiens. '

Video surveillance footage from Barcode was recovered, showing the assault by Officer
Thomas-Bullock.

Officer Thomas-Bullock was revoked of her police powers by Agents of IAD.

Subsequent to her police powers being revoked, Officer Thomas-Bullock filed a police
report in the Sixth District, alleging that her ex-husband, Mr. Antonio Bullock, had
assaulted her, knowing this to be false.

On February 1, 2016, an arrest warrant was obtained, charging Officer Thomas-Bullock
with Simple Assault domestic violence.

On February 4, 2016, Officer Thomas-Bullock was arrested in connection with the arrest
warrant.

On April 11, 2016, Officer Thomas-Bullock pled guilty to Simple Assault in D.C.
Superior Court, and entered into a deferred sentencing agreement thought the United
States Attorney’s Office.

The criminal case was disposed in September 2016, after Officer Thomas-Bullock
completed all terms of her deferred sentencing agreement.

Officer Thomas-Bullock was interviewed by the IAD following the conclusion of the
criminal case, wherein Officer Thomas-Bullock admitted to the unprovoked assault on
Ms. Tije Holland.

Upon consideration and evaluation of all of the testimony and factors, the Panel found that
there was preponderance of evidence to sustain all three charges. Accordingly, the Panel found that
with regard Charge Number 1, Specifications 1 and 2, that Employee was guilty; Specifications 3 and
4 were dismissed. With regard to Charge Number 2, Speciﬁcation 1, Employee was found guilty, and
lastly, with regard to Charge Number 4, Specification 1, Employee was also found guilty.

2 Agency Answer at Tab 3 Adverse Action Panci Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law (May 8, 2017).
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In addition to making the aforementioned findings of facts, the Panel weighed the offenses
according to the relevant Douglas’ factors. The Panel concluded that the pature and seriousness of
the offense, employee’s job level and type of employment, the notoriety of the offense or its impact
on the reputation of the Agency; the clarity with which employee was on notice of any rules that
were violated; the adequacy and effectiveness of alternative sanctions to deter such conduct in the
future by employee or others; and the consistency of the penalty with any table of penalties, were all
aggravating factors. Specifically, the Panel found that the incident was very serious and constituted a
criminal offense in the District of Columbia.

Further, the Panel cited that the filing of the false police report raised questions about her
fitness to carry out the duties and responsibilities of a law enforcement officer. The Panel considered
the past disciplinary record and past work record to be mitigating factors in this matter. The Panel
found that upon review of Employee’s work history that there were no serious cases of misconduct,
and that she had over twelve years with the department and was well liked and respected within the
department.  Finally, the Panel weighed the consistency of the penalty with those imposed upon
other employees for similar offenses to be a neutral factor. Namely, the Panel found that the
proposed penalty was consistent for similar misconduct among other employees. Based on their
aforementioned findings, the Panel’s final recommendation was that Employee be terminated for
Charge 1, Specifications 1 and 2, and be suspended for thirty (30) days for Charge 2, Specification 1
and Charge 3, Specification 1.

ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS

This Office’s review of this matter is limited pursuant to the D.C. Court of Appeals holding
in Elton Pinkard v. D.C. Metropolitan Police Department.* According to the Pinkard decision, OEA
has a limited role where a departmental hearing has been held. The D.C. Court of Appeals held that

3 Douglas v. Veterans Administration, 5 M.S.P.R. 313 (1981). The Douglas factors provide that an agency should consider the
following when determining the penelty of adverse action matters:

1) the pature and seriousness of the offense, and it's relation to the employee’s duties, position, and responsibilities
including whether the offense was intentional or technical or inadvertent, or was committed maliciously or for gain, or
was frequently repeated;

2) the employee’s job level and type of employment, including supervisory or fiduciary role, contacts with the public, and
prominence of the position; : .

3) the employee’s past disciplinary record;

4)  the employee’s past work record, including length of service, performance on the job, ability to get along with fellow
workers, and dependability;

5) the effect of the offense upon the employee’s ability to perform at a satisfactory level and its effect upon supervisors’
confidence in employee’s ability to perform assigned duties;

6) conmsistency of the penalty with those imposed upon other employees for the same or similar offenses;

7) consistency of the penalty with any applicable agency table of penalties;

8) the notoriety of the offense or its impact upon the reputation of the agency;

9) the clarity with which the employee was on notice of any rules that were violated in committing the offense, or bad
been warned about the conduct in question;

10) potential for the employee’s rehabilitation;

11) mitigating circumstances surrounding the offense such as unusual job tensions, personality problems, mental
impairment, barassment, or bad faith, malice or provocation on the part of others involved in the matter; and

12) the adequacy and effectiveness of alternative sanctions to deter such conduct in the future by the eroployee or others.

4801 A.2d 86 (D.C. 2002) : ‘

“
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while OEA generally has jurisdiction over employee appeals from a final agency decision involving
adverse actions under the CMPA?, in a matter where a departmental hearing has been held:

“OEA may not substitute its judgement for that of an agency. Its review of the
agency decision...is limited to a determination of whether it was supported by
substantial evidence, whether there was harmful procedural error, or whether it was in

. accordance with law or applicable regulations. The OEA, as a reviewing authority,
must generally defer to the agency’s credibility determinations.”

Further, the Court of Appeals held that OEA’s power to establish its own appellate
procedures is limited by the agency’s collective bargaining agreements. As a result, and in
accordance with Pinkard, an Administrative Judge of OEA may not conduct a de novo hearing in an
appeal before them, but rather, must base their decision on the record when all of the following
conditions are met: :

1. The appeliant (employee) is an employee of the Metropolitan Police Department or the D.C.
Fire and Emergency Medical Services Department;

2. The employee has been subject to an adverse action;

3. The employee is a member of a bargaining unit covered by a collective bargaining
agreement;

4. The collective bargaining agreement contains language essentially the same as that found in
Pinkard ie. “{An] employee may appeal his adverse action to the Office of Employee
Appeals. In cases where a Departmental hearing has been held, any further appeal shall be
based solely on the record established in the Department hearing”’; and :

5. At the agency level, employee appeared before a panel that conducted an evidentiary hearing,
made findings of fact and conclusions of law, and recommended a course of action of the
deciding official that resulted in an adverse action being taken against employee.

In this case, Employee is a member of the D.C. Metropolitan Police Department (MPD) and
was the subject of an adverse action; MPD collective bargaining agreement contains language similar
to that found in Pinkard; and Employee appeared before an Adverse Action Panel, which held a
hearing. Based on the documents of record, and the position of the parties as stated during the’
Prebearing Conference held in this matter and in the briefs submitted herein, the undersigned finds
that all of the aforementioned criteria are met in this instant appeal. Accordingly, pursuant to
Pinkard, OEA may not substitute its judgment for that of the Agency, and the undersigned’s review
of Agency’s decision in this matter is limited to the determination of whether the Adverse Action
Panel’s findings were supported by substantial evidence, whether there was barmful error, and
whether the action taken was done in accordance with applicable laws or regulations.

Whether Adverse Action Panel’s Decision was supported by Substantial Evidence

Pursuant to Pinkard, the undersigned must determine whether the Adverse Action Panel’s
(“Panel”) findings were supported by substantial evidence. § “Substantial evidence” is defined as
“such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to-support a conclusion.’”’ If

5 See D.C. Code §§ 1-606.02 (a)(2). 1-606.03(a)(c); 1-606.04 (2001).
§ Elton Pinkard v. DC Metropolitan Police Department, 801 A_2d at page 91. (2002).
7 Black v. District of Columbia Department of Employment Services, 801 A2d 983 at 985 (D.C. 2002).
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the [Advers_e Action Panel] findings are supported by substantial evidence, then the undersigned
must accept them even if there is substantial evidence in the record to support findings to the

contrary.s

After reviewing the record, and the arguments presented by the parties in their briefs
submitted before this Office, the undersigned finds that the Adverse Action Panel met its burden of
substantial evidence. The parties had an opportunity to present testimonial and documentary
evidence and had the ability to call witnesses and to cross-examine witnesses during the Panel
hearing. Employee had the opportunity to call any witnesses and was represented by counsel who
cross-examined Agency’s witnesses. Further, a review of the transcript indicated that the Panel was
engaged in the hearing, asked relevant questions and made credibility determinations for the
witnesses, supported by sufficient evidence in making those determinations. Additionally, the Panel -
considered and reviewed the Douglas factors in making its determinations and findings, and in
sustaining the charges.

Whether there was harmful procedural error.

In accordance with Pinkard and OEA Rule 631.3, the undersigned is required to evaluate and
make a finding of whether or not Agency committed harmful error. OEA Rule 631.3 provides that
“notwithstanding any other provision of these rules, the Office shall not reverse an agency’s action
for error in the application of its rules, regulations, or policies if the agency can demonstrate that the
error was harmless. Harmless error shall mean an error in the application of the agency’s procedures,
which did not cause substantial harm or prejudice to the employee’s rights and did not significantly
affect they agency’s final decision to take action.”

90-Day Rule

In the instant matter, Employee argues that the undersigned should reverse Agency’s decision
because Agency committed harmful procedural error by failing to commence the adverse action in
accordance with the “90 Day Rule” pursuant to D.C. Code § 5-1031. The “90-Day Rule” requires
agencies to initiate adverse actions against sworn members of the police force no later than 90 days
from the date that Agency “knew or should have known of the act or occurrence constituting cause.™
Agency argues that it adhered to the provisions of the 90 Day rule, and that even if there was a
violation of the rule that it was de Minimis, and that the 90 Day rules is directory, rather than
mandatory. Further, Agency argues that it could not commence adverse action against employee until
the conclusion of her criminal matter so as not to impinge upon Employee’s Fifth Amendment rights
against self-incrimination.'® D.C. Code §5-1031 - Commencement of Corrective Adverse Action
provides in pertinent part that:

(a-1)(1) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, no
corrective or adverse action against any sworn member or civilian employee
of the Metropolitan Police Department shall be commenced more than 90
days, not including Saturdays, Sundays, or legal holidays, after the date that

8 Metropolitan Police Department v. Baker, 564 A.2d 1155, 1189 (D.C. 1989).
% Alice Lee v MPD, OEA Matter No. 1601-0087-15 (March 15, 2017).
10 Agency’s Reply Brief at Page 7-9 (January 12, 2018).
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the Metropolitan Police Department had notice of the act or occurrence
allegedly constituting cause.

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (1) of this subsection, the Metropolitan
Police Department has notice of the act or occurrence allegedly constituting
cause on the date that the Metropolitan Police Department generates an
internal investigation system tracking number for the act or occurrence.

(b) If the act or occurrence allegedly constituting cause is the subject of
a criminal investigation by the Metropolitan Police Department or any law
enforcement agency with jurisdiction within the United States, the Office of
the United States Attorney for the District of Columbia, or the Office of the
Attorney General, or is the subject of an investigation by the Office of the
Inspector General, the Office of the District of Columbia Auditor, or the
Office of Police Complaints, the 90-day period for commencing a corrective
or adverse action under subsection (a) or (a-1) of this section shall be tolled
until the conclusion of the investigation.(Emphasis Added)

The legislative purpose of the 90 Day Rule enacted by the D.C. Council first in 2004, and
then updated in 2015, was to ensure that adverse actions against employees were commenced and
administered in a timely manper."! Specifically, the Council cited that the 90-Day rule “protects
employees who are being administratively investigated from working under the threat of disciplinary
action for an excessive length of time.”'? Additionally, Council cited that as it relates to MPD, this
rule incentivizes the Agency to “follow up on allegations efficiently and to resolve disciplinary cases
in a timely fashion.”™ Additionally, the D.C. Court of Appeals has found that the D.C. Council, in
enacting this legislation, “sought to expedite the process and provide certainty with some degree of
balance and flexibility.”*4 As a result, the 90-Day rule provides guidance and timelines for the
commencement of adverse actions.

At issue here is whether Agency, in administering the instant adverse action, adhered to the
provisions of this law, specifically D.C. Code 5-1031 (b). Here, Employee avers that Agency
violated the 90-day rule because they did not issue the Notice of Proposed Adverse Action
(“NPAA”) until August 12, 2016. Employee argues that the criminal investigation in this matter,
conducted by the United States Attorney’s Office (“USAO”) ended with the arrest of Employee on
February 4, 2016, and as a result, Agency’s August 12, 2016 notice was untimely. Agency argues
that the end of the criminal investigation was not complete until Employee pled guilty and entered
into a Deferred Sentencing Agreement (“DSA™) on April 11, 2016.  Agency argues that the criminal
investigation was ongoing, and was “made clear by the fact that instead of proceeding to trial, the
USAO allowed Employee an opportunity to plead guilty to Simple Assault pursuant to a Deferred
Sentencing Agreement (“DSA”) on April 11, 2016.”"° Agency further asserts that because a DSA is
an agreement where the “USAO agrees to defer disposition of the criminal case until such time as the
defendant completes requirements”; and if defendant completes the requirements, the USAO will
enter a “nolle-prosequi” which is defined by the USAO that the Government would no longer seek

:; Employes Brief at Page 21 and Exhibit 5. (December 22, 2017).

7

U 1 C. Fire and Medical Services Department v D.C. Office of Employee Appeals, 986 A.2d 419, 425-526 (D.C. 2010).
15 Agency’s Reply Brief at Page 3 (Jamuary 12, 2018). _

“
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prosecution™®; that its issuance of the Notice of Proposed Adverse Action on August 12, 2016, was
86 business days after the plea agreement, and as a result, is not a violation of the 90-Day rule.!”

Employee argues that it is not enough for Agency to suggest that an investigation is
_ongoing.'® Employee avers that it is insufficient that Agency “claims that Officer Thomas was the
subject of criminal investigation by the USAO up until the plea agreement on April 11, 2016;” and
argues that MPD has the burden to of proof to show that there was an actual criminal investigation
occurring up until April 11, 2016."” Employee asserts that Agency has failed to show that any
criminal investigation was ongoing following the February 4, 2016, arrest of Employee. As a result,
- Employee avers that the Notice of Proposed Action (“NPAA”) was untimely and in violation of the
90-Day Rule because it was issued 135 days after the arrest warrant was issued, and 132 after the
warrant was served and Employee was arrested.

Both parties cite to the D.C. Court of Appeals Jordan® case, wherein the Court of Appeals
discussed the 90-Day Rule and the tolling during a criminal investigation. In Jordan, the Court of
Appeals weighed the interpretation of the phrase “conclusion of a criminal investigation™, under the
then 45-Day rule cited as D.C. Code § 1-617(b-1). The Court of Appeals held that Superior Court
and OEA erred in concluding that the criminal investigation in this matter ended with the submission
of the report by the Inspector General. The Court held that neither entity cited to any binding cases
that determined when a criminal investigation ends and that the Court of Appeals knew of none.
However, the Court of appeals did hold that “the natural meaning of the statutory language, however,
is that the “conclusion of a criminal investigation” must involve an action taken by an entity with
prosecutorial authority — that is, the authority to review evidence, and to either charge an individual
with cor,zzzlrru'ssion of a criminal offense or decide that charges should not be filed (Emphasis
Added)’

In the instant matter, Employee was investigated for simple assault that occurred on
December 27, 2015. Agency assigned IS numbers to the matter in the early morning hours of
December, 28, 2015. In its Briefs, Agency cites that following its criminal investigation, on January
8, 2016, an Agent with MPD referred the incident to the USAO for further criminal investigation.*
Following that, an affidavit in support of an arrest warrant for Employee was prepared and a DC
Warrant for Domestic Violence Simple Assault was issued by DC Superior Court Judge John Bayly
on February 1, 2016.7 Subsequently, Employee was arrested on February 4, 2016.

Based on the aforementioned, the undersigned finds that in these circumstances, Agency has
not shown that a criminal investigation occurred after Employee’s arrest on February 4, 2016. The
undersigned finds that the mere notion that because the USAQ elected to enter into a Deferred
Sentencing Agreement with Employee exhibits an ongoing investigation, is not substantive to prove
that a criminal investigation was ongoing between February 4, 2016, and April 11, 2016. The matter
was referred to the USAO in January 2016, and it was later determined that an arrest for the charge
of Simple Assault was warranted, which was executed on February 4, 2016, Pursuant to the D.C.

Id. at Page S.

16
17 Id A
;: Employee’s Brief at Page 11-12 (December 22, 2017).
Id
;‘:Districx of Columbia v District of Columbia Office of Employee Appeals and Robert L. Jordan, 883 A.2d 124 (2005).
Id. at 128.
2 Agency Brief at Page 3 (November 21, 2017).
3 Id. at Exhibit 1.
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Court of Appeals holding in Jordan that the end of an investigation “must involve action taken by an
entity with prosecutorial authority — that is the authority to review evidence and either charge an
individual with commission of a criminal offense or decide that charges should not be file;” the
undersigned finds that the February 4, 2016, arrest date meets this standard. Here, the USAQ was the
prosecutorial authority that assessed and ultimately charged Employee of the offense of Domestic .
Violence Simple Assault, and as a result, Employee was arrested on February 4, 2016. The
undersigned finds that the fact that Employee entered into a DSA on April 11, 2016, reflects a
decision between the USAO and Employee with regard toward the final disposition of the criminal
case and does not, without substantial evidence, indicate that a criminal investigation was ongoing
between February 4, 2016 and April 11, 2016.

Further, Agency’s argument that a violation of the 90-Day rule is de Minimis as the rule is
directory and not mandatory, does not align with rulings with regard to this matter. OEA has held and
Superior Court has affirmed, that “it is well-settled that the 90-day deadline is mandatory rather than
a directory provision.”** As a result, I find that Agency’s issuance of the NPAA on August 12, 2016,
was 1n violation of the 90-Day rule pursuant to D.C. Code §5-1031, as it was 132 days following the
arrest of Employee on February 4, 2016, which the undersigned has determined reflects the end of
the criminal investigation in this matter.

Due Process

Employee argues that Agency violated Employee’s due process by not calling the
complainant, Ms. Holland, or Mr. Bullock as witnesses during the panel hearing.?® Further,
Employee argues that the investigative report was improperly entered into the record since the agent
- who authored the report, Agent Tilley, was not presented at the hearing and made available for cross-
examination. Agency argues that it did not violate Employee’s due process rights by not calling
Agent Tilley or Ms. Holland or Mr. Bullock. Employee argues that Agency violated her due process
in that Employee was did not have a fair opportunity to present her case in accordance with the
rulings of the Supreme Court.?® Agency avers that the investigative report was reviewed by the panel
and that they made their decision without Agent Tilley being present. Further, Agency argues that
Employee was present for the hearing and was represented by counsel, and had the right to call and
present witnesses as they determined.

The undersigned agrees with Agency. Here, there is no evidence to suggest that Employee
was barred from calling Ms. Holland, Mr. Bullock or Agent Tilley as their own witnesses for the
Adverse Action Panel Hearing. Further, Employee had the opportunity to cross-examine all
witnesses and make objections to testimony as well as documentary evidence as presented during
hearing. The Panel was engaged in the hearing and weighed all testimony and objections. Therefore,
I find that Employee had the opportunity to present her case in a fair manner, and that Agency did
not violate Employee’s due process in this matter.

22‘0 MsetgoPohtan Police Department v. D.C. Office of Employee Appeals (in re Alice Lee), 2017 0035325 P (MPA), February 13,
18. Sec also

 Employee’s Brief at Page 27-28 (December 22, 2017).

% Id. at Page 26, citing Lightfoot v District of Columbia, 448 F.3d 392, 401 (D.C. Cir. 2006).
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Whether Agency’s action was done in accordance with applicable laws or regulations.

: As outlined previously in this analysis, the undersigned finds that Agency failed to
appropriately follow the 90-Day rule as enumerated in D.C. Code §5-1031 (b), in that it commenced
its adverse action against Employee in an untimely manner. As previously stated it has been held that
this provision is mandatory, not directory in nature and must be adhered t0.7 As a result I find that
Agency’s action was not administered in accordance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations.
Agency has the burden of proof to show that its actions were executed in accordance with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations, and for the aforementioned reasons, the undersigned finds that
Agency has not met that burden.

Whether the Penalty Was Appropriate

Because I find that Agency committed harmful procedural error and failed to appropriately
follow all applicable laws, rules and regulations, I further find that Employee’s termination must be
reversed.

ORDER
B.ased on the foregoing, it is ORDERED that

1. Agency’s action of terminating Employee from service is REVERSED.

2. Agency shall reinstate Employee and reimburse Employee all back pay and benefits
lost as a result of her termination.

3. Agency shall file with this Office, within thirty (30) days from the date on which this
decision becomes final, documents evidencing compliance with the terms of this
Order.

FOR THE OFFICE: %M m

'MICHELLE R. HARKIS, Esq.
Administrative Judge

z’olllsea'opolitan Police Department v. D.C. Office of . Employee Appeals (in re Alice Lee), 2017 0035325 P (MPA), February 13,
2018.




NOTICE OF APPEALS RIGHTS

This is an Initial Decision that will become a final decision of the Office of
Employee Appeals unless either party to this proceeding files a Petition for Review
with the office. A Petition for Review must be filed within thirty-five (35)
calendar days, including holidays and weekends, of the issuance date of the Initial
Decision in the case.

All Petitioﬁs for Review must set forth objections to the Initial Decision and
establish that:

1. New 'a.nd material evidence is available that, despite due diligence, was
not available when the record was closed;

2. The decision of the presiding official is based on an erroneous
interpretation of statute, regulation, or policy;

3. The finding of the presiding official are not based on substantial
evidence; or '

4. The Initial Decision did not address all the issues  of law and fact properly
ralsed in the appeal.

All Petitions for Review should be supported by references to applicable
laws or regulations and make specific reference to the record. The Petition for
Review, containing a certificate of service, must be filed with Administrative
Assistant, D.C. Office of Employee Appeals, 955 L’Enfant Plaza Suite 2500,
Washington, D.C. 20024. Four (4) copies of the Petition for Review must be filed.
Parties wishing to respond to a Petition for Review may file their response within
thirty-five (35) calendar days, including holidays and weekends, after the filing of
the Petition for Review.

Instead of filing a Petition for Review with the Office, either party may file a
" Petition for Review in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia. To file a
Petition for Review with the Superior Court, the petitioning party should consuit
Superior Court Civil Procedure Rules, XV. Agency Review, Rule 1. '
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Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF AGENCY DECISION

AL Notioe is hereby given that the Metropolitan Police Department (‘‘Petitioner” or

“Depa.rtment”) appeals to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia from the Opinion and :
Order on Remand dated November 7,2017, and all rulings encompassed therein, issued by the
Office of Employee Appeals (“OEA” or “Respondent”) in the matter of Paula Edmiston v. -
Metropohtan Police Department, OEA Matter No.: 1601-0057-07R16. A copy of the November
7,2017 Op1mon and Order on Remand (“Opinion and Orde;”) and the 2™ Initial Decision on
Remand (“SIDR”) dated Deeember 12, 2016, are attached to this Petition for Review as

Attachme;nts 1 and 2 respectively. The Petitioner seeks to have the Opinion and Order reversed.

and its defcision to terminate Paula Edmiston (“Employee™) upheld.

—' i - — " " - II’-I ) ; : :



Descrmnon of Judgment, Order or Decision:
Employee was appointed to the Department in 1984 and on April 1, 2006, she held the

rank of captam On June 2, 2006, Employee was issued a Notice of Proposed Adverse Action
(“Proposed Notice”) in which she was advised that the Depa.rtment was proposing to reduce her

rank to lieutenant based on acts of misconduct she comrmtted on April 1, 2006. In a Final Nouce

of Adverse Action (“Final Notlce”) dated July 23, 2006, Employee was mformed that she had E
been found guilty of committing acts of misconduct and would be reduced to the rank of

lieutenant. Employee appealed the Final Notice to the Chief of Police (““COP”) who, on August

oot

ot

28 2006 1ssued a decision denying Employee’s appeal and also proposed the penalty of
termmatmn ‘for the misconduct comrmtted by Employee In the decision of the COP Employee |
was mformed that she could elect to have an evidentiary hearing where the charges of
rmsconduct would be considered by a three-member panel (“Panel”). Employee elected to have |
an ev1dent1ary hearing and following the hearing, the Panel issued a decision wherein Employee

was found guilty of misconduct. The Panel recommended that Employee be termmated and she °

was termmated effeotlve March 2, 2007.

Employee appealed her termination to OEA, and on Apnl 30, 2015, an Initjal
Decision was issued which reversed the Agency’s termination action on the ground that the COP
did not have the authority to substitute the penalty of termination for demotion because the
General Order relied upon by the COP was not in effect when the action against Employee
commeneed Ultimately, an appeal to the District of Columb1a Superior Court resulted in a
decision dated October 9, 2013, that concluded that the General Order relied upon by the COP
could be retroactlvely applied and thus authorized the COP to change the proposed penalty of

suspension to termination. Accordingly, the matter was remanded to the OEA for further




proceedmgs and on August 8, 2014, an Initial DCCISIOH on Remand (“IDR”) was issued VVthh :5
affirmed Employee s termination. - !
Employee appealed the IDR to the Supenor Court, and on June 8, 2016, the Court 1ssued=;

an Order: remandmg the matter to OEA for the purpose of determining “whether MPD Genera.l '

Order 12 0.21 supersedes apphcable version of 6-B DCMR § 1613.2, which can now be found

at47 DC Reg. 7094, § 1613.2.” Orderat 11. On remand, after the parties submitted briefs, the
SIDR wa?s issued which reversed Employee’s termination. The Department appealed the SIDR

to the OEA Board and on November 7, 2017, the OEA Board issued the Opinion and Order on

Order onfRemahd is contrary to law and should be reversed.

B. Address of Respondent
- District of Columbia Office of Employee Appeals

Serveon:  Lasheka Brown, Esq.
‘ General Counsel
Office of Employee Appeals
955 L’Enfant Plaza
Suite 2500
Washington, D.C. 20024

C. Name$ and addresses of all other parties to the agency proceeding:

Petitioner: ~ Metropolitan Police Department
c/o Frank Mc Dougald
Assistant Attorney General
441 Fourth Street, N.W., 1180 North
Washington, D.C. 20001




'Employee:  Ted J. Williams, Esq.
Counsel for Paula Edmiston
1200 G Street, NW.
Suite 800
Washington, D.C. 20005

D. Nfames and addresses of barties tp be served:

Name » - Address

1. District of Columbia Office
:of Employee Appeals Lasheka Brown, Esq.
! : General Counsel
Office of Employee Appeals
955 L’Enfant Plaza

Washington, D.C. 20024

" 2., Paula Edmiston Ted J. Williams, Esq.
. ~ Counsel for Edmiston
1200 G Street, NW
f Suite 800
| ' Washington, D.C. 20005

E. Cc;pies of the November 7, 2017 Opinion and Order on Remand and the
December 12, 2016 Second Initial Decision on Remand are attached to this

e Petition._.____ R

Respectfully submitted,

KARL A. RACINE
‘Attorney General for the
District of Columbia

Nadine C. Wilburn

Chief Counsel and Senior Advisor
- Personnel, Labor and Employment Division




/s/ Andrea G. Comentale
ANDREA G. COMENTALE, D.C. Bar # 405073
Chief .
Personnel and Labor Relations Section . x

Is/ Frank Mc Dougald
FRANK MC DOUGALD, D.C. Bar # 213927
Assistant Attorney General
441 4™ Street, N.W.

e —
e e = e —

Washington, D.C. 20001
Rm. 11808

(202) 724-7309 Voice
(202) 347-8922 Facsimile

e-mail: frank.mcdougald@dc.gov

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing Petition for Review of Agency Dec1s1on
with attachments was sent by certified mail, return receipt requested to: :

Lasheka Brown, Esq.
General Counsel

Office of Employee Appeals
955 1’Enfant Plaza

Washington, D.C. 20005

Ted J. Williams, Esq
Counsel for Paula Edmiston
1200 G Street, NW

Suite 800

Washington, D.C. 20005

/s/ Frank Mc Dougald
Frank Mc Dougald
Assistant Attorney General




ATTACHMENT 1




Notice: This decision may be formally revised before it is published in the District of Columbia

Register and the Office of Employee Appeals’ website. Parties should promptly notify the |

- Office Manager of any formal errors so that this Office can correct them before publishing the

decision. This notice is not intended to provide an opportunity for a substantive challenge to the

decision..
THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 5
=2 o3
BEFORE = o9&
3 =
~"THE OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE-APPEALS = . "’;";’
In the Matter of ) 0 ,-’::,4:
PAULA EDMISTON, ) o w2
Employee ) <R
| v. )
| ) Date of Issuance: November 7, 2017
METROPOLITAN )
POLICE DEPARTMENT, )
Agency )
)
OPINION AND ORDER
ON
REMAND

_Tlns matter was previously before the Board. Paula Edmiston (“Em;?loyee”) was a

captain véith the Metropolitan Police Department (“Agency”). On June 2, 2006, the Assistant
Chief of Human Sérvices (“ACHS"), Shannon Cockett, served Employee with a Proposed Notice
of Adverée Action and recommended that she be demoted to the rank of lientenant. Employee
was charéed with conduct unbecoming of an officer, failure to obey orders, and willfully and
knowingljy making an.uniruthful statement. The charges stemmed from two events in‘2006,

wherein Employee made disrespectful comments to a cashier at a grocery store regarding the

cashier’s race and national origin. Employee subsequently made disparaging remarks to a male -

patron at; another grocery store pertaining to his sexual orientation. Agency conducted an
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administrative review and issued its Final Notice of Adverse Action on July 25, 2006. The notice

stated that that Employee was guilty of all three charges based on the ‘preponderance of the :

evidcnce.f As a result, Employee was demoted to the rank of lieutenant.

Thereafter, Employee appealed her demotion to former Chief of Police, Charles Ramsey.

On August 29, 2006, Chief Ramsey denied Employee’s appeal and recommended that her

reviewed by a panel of police officers (“Trial Panel”). The Trial Panel found Employee guilty bf ;

all three <§:h‘arges and recommended that she be terminated. Employee appealed the Trial Panel’s

UCTISIU (U™ 230,

February 23, 2007 and her termination became effective on March 2, 2007.!

Exanloyec filed a Petition for Appeal with the Office of Employee Appeals (“OEA™) on
March 7, ?.2007 Two issues we;'e presenfed to the Administrative Judge (“AT”) for adjudicaﬁon:
whether Agency commenced its adverse action in a umely manner and whether Agency had the
authonty to increase the proposed penalty from demotlon to removal. The AJ issued his Initial

Dccwwn on April 30, 2008 With respect to ’rhe timeliness issue, the AJ held that Agency did not

violate DC Official Code § 5-1031, commonly rcfgrred to as the 90-day rule. The rule prohibits

adverse aéﬁons from commencing against members of the Metropolitan Police Department more - : -

than mnety days, not including Saturdays, Sundays, or légal holidays, after the date Agency
knew, or should have known, of the act or occurrence allegedly constituting cause.” According to
the AJ, Chief Ramsey’s August 29, 2006 letter to Employee did not trigger the 90-day time

period because the notice did not identify itself as a proposed notice of adverse action and did

! Petition forAppeaI (March 7, 2007)
% The AJ noted that the statute contains an exception for acts subject to criminal investigations; however there was

no pending criminal investigation pending against Employee.
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not contain the charges and specifications required of such a notice. Hence, the AJ determined

that Agency’s June 2, 2006 proposed notice to Employee was well within the 90-day deadline.
With respect to the Chief’s authority to increase Employee’s proposed penalty, the AT

stated that Employee’s “right not to have her proposed penalty increased was impaired by

Agency’s retroactive use of [the General Order].” He further provided the following

o When the tnderlying events occurred -on-April-1;-2006;- GO-PER-— -
120-21 was not in place, and the Chief of Police.was not authorized
to increase punishment. The enactment of the new General Order—
if held to apply to the punishment imposed on the Employee—
would increase the Employee’s liability for past conduct because
she would be subject to a removal rather than a mere demotlon.

i

cases followmg it, the Employee’s pumshment cannot be mcreased
by means of the General Order applied retroactively to conduct
occurring before its enactment.

Based on the foregoing, the AJ held that Chief Ramsey improperly increased Employee’s
penalty from demotion to removal. Therefore, he reversed Agency’s adverse action and held that
the correct remedy was to reinstate Employee’s demotion.

Thereafter, Employee filed a Petition for Review with OEA’s Board.” Her sole argument

in thc petmon was that the AJ “lacked the power to sua sponte demote [Employee] W1thout

pemuttmg her the opportunity to petition OEA for a de novo evidentiary hearing.”® In its

Opinion and Order on Petition for Review, the Board highlighted OEA Rule 625.1, which

* Effective April 13, 2006, Agency issued General Order (“GO”) 120.21, which addresses disciplinary procedures
and processes. With regard to adverse action appeals, the GO provided that the Chief of Police or his delegate may:
1) remand a case for an alternative process, as he/she deems appropriate; and 2) impose a higher penalty than
recommended by the Assistant Chief of Human Services.

‘InmaIDeczswn (April 30, 2008).
5 While Employee’s Petition for Review was pending before OEA’s Board, Agency filed a Petition for Review in

D.C. Superior Court. Agency also filed an Opposition to Employee’s June 2, 2008 Petition for Review with OEA on
July 17, 2008. However, D.C. Superior Court dismissed Agency’s petition without prejudice pending the outcome of
the Board’s decision. On July 9, 2009, Agency filed a Motion for Extension of Time to File Petition for Review of
Agency Decision. The parties subsequently requested to stay the matter pending before OEA, and subsequently
requested that the stay be lifted on August 26, 2009. The request was granted.

§ Petition f0r Review, p. 8 (fune 2, 2008)
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provides% that a party may request the opportunity for an evidentiary hearing; however, it is
within tlj1e AJ’s discretion to grant such a request. The Board agreed with the AJ’s assessment
that an ;Eavid.eziﬁary hearing was not warranted bazlsed on fhe issues presented by the part;es
Furthermore, the Board held that the A7 did not abuse his discretion by deciding this matter

based soiely on the documents of record. As a result, Employee’s Petition for Review was.deniec‘l

and the AY’s Tnitial Decision was upheld:>
Agency subsequently filed an appeal with D.C. Superior Court. On October 9, 2013, the

Honorabie Judge Judith Macaluso issued an Order Reversing Agency Decisioh, in part. In her |

regulaﬁojns to increase the recommended penalty for the Petitioner.” Therefore, the matter was

’ remanded to the AT for reconsideration consistent with the Order.® |
- On August 8, 2014, the AJ issued his Initial Decision on Remand. He reiterated his
previous_f: finding that Agency did net violate the 90-day rule. However, the AJ reversed his

original decision with respect to Agency’s ability to increase a proposed penalty and concluded "

fhaiﬁltdld ______ not abuse._its discretion by terminating EmRI_qygq;? Consequently, Agency’s |
termination action was upheld. '

| Ez’.mployee appealed the Initial Decision on Remand to D.C. Superior Court on September _:
9, 2015,§wheréin she aséerted that the AJ’s decision should be reversed becaunse the GO that the
Chief of Police relied upon in imposing a higher penalty was superseded by D.C. Municipal

Regulation (“DCMR™) § 1613.2. In its June 8, 2016 Order, the Court discussed three issues

d Opmzon and Order on Petition for Review (Japuary 25, 2010). The Board also denied Agency’s Motion for
Extension; of Time to File Petition for Review of Agency Decision because it failed to file its petition within the
thirty-five day deadline as required by D.C. Official Code § 1-606.03(c).
® District of Columbia Metropolitan Police Department v. Office of Employee Appeals, 2008 CA 004304 P(MPA)
(D C. Super. Ct. 2013).

¥ Initial Deczszon on Remand (Augnust 8, 2014).
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whether tﬁe argument raised by Employee in hei petition regarding DCMR § 1613.2 was being
raised for§ the first time; whether the law of the case doctrine prehibited &16 Court from makiné a
detenmnatlon with respect to the aforementxoned issue; and whether DCMR § 1613 2 prohibited
the Ch1ef of Police from increasing Employee s penalty. In its analysis, the Court provided that

Employee’s argument was properly preserved for appeal. It further stated that the law of the case

. doctrine was inapplicable. in this matter. Regarding the Iast™ 'i‘s“s'tTe‘“ﬂ:‘e‘Court agreed w1th“— H—

l' Employee s contention that the AJ did not properly analyze whether Agency’s GO could

supersede’ a municipal regulation. Therefore, the matter was remanded to the AJ “in order for ;

' applicable version of 6-B DCMR § 1613.2....

the penalty Instead-the [Chief] ‘remand[ed] the case for an alternative process,’ a trial boaqi gpd .

OEA to make a determination as fo whether MPD Geners

210

Thereafter, the parties were ordered to address the issue identified in the Court’s June 8,
2016 Order.!! In its Remand Brief, Agency argued that its action of reducing Employee’s rank fo
lieutenan-ét was done so in accordance with GO 120.21 and that it did not violate DCMR §

1613.2. It further stated that the Ch1ef of Police “in denying Employee’s appeal, did not increase

recommendahon of termination.” Agency further questioned the apphcablhty of DCMR § -
1613.2 to the instant matter becaise it believed that Chief Ramsey was the appeals official, not ]
the dedciing ofﬁeial. In addition, it posited that the language contained in § 1613.2 and GO

120.21 was “congruent and harmonious in allowing a matter to be remanded for further x

. considerejltion.” As a result, Agency reiterated its position that Employee’s termindtion was

appropriéie. 12

10 Edmzston v. Office of Employee Appeals, 20 14 CA 007504 P(MPA) (D:C. Super. Ct. 2014).

n Post Conference Briefing Order (November 9, 2016). L
12 Agency’s Brief Following Remand from the District of Columbia Superior Court (November 10, 2016). Also See’
Agency s Reply to Employee’s Brief on Remand in Response to the Superior Court Decision (December 2, 2016).
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In? response, Employee contended that the Chief of Police lacked the authority to amend

'the Ass:stant Chlef of Police’s findings and increase the penalty. According to Employee,

Agency s General Orders are merely internal gmdelm&s that do not’ supersede District
regulauons. She further stated that the Chief of Police was limited to promulgating orders which

are cons1stent with District law. Consequently, Employee requested that Agency’s termination

action be: reversed.’U . B

Thc AJ issued his Second Initial Decision on Remand on December 12, 2016. He

dlsagreed with Agency s argument that DCMR § 1613.2 and GO 120.21 were congruent because

A7, whilej Chief Ramsey remanded the matter for & hearing before the Trial Panel, it was Chicf

Lanier w;h'o ultimately acted as a deciding official m this case. ﬁe further stated that it was o
evident tjhat § 1613.2. and GO 120.21 containeéi'conﬂi’cting language and that an agency’s
internal cé)rders cannot override mupicipal regulations. Thus, in response to Superior Court’s

Order, the AJ éoncluded that Chief Lanier, acting as the ultimate decision mak_cr, was legally

'—prohibitei&wﬁomm-increasing--.the.-propo,seipmahy__lgyigd_..ag&inﬁﬁ_....EI_I}I?_.I_OYQEMm.._d?E!OﬁOﬁ to

termination. As a result, the AJ determined that the imposed penalty of termination was an abuse
of discreétion and that there was substantial evidence in the record to support the penalty of
demotion. Consequentl.y,. .Agency’s termination action was reversed and Employee was ordered .

to be rcir;stated_and demoted to the rank of lieutenant.**

13 Employee 's Brief on Remand in Response to the Superzor Court’s Decision (November 14, 2016). Employee =
subsequently filed a chly Bricf to Agency’s November 10, 2016 submission, wherein she argued that Agency’s
brief was non-responsive to the question presented by D.C. Superior Court in' its Remand Order. In addition,
Employee restated her position that MPD’s General Order was inconsistent thh DCMR § 1613.2. Employee’s

Reply Brief (December 1, 2016).
4 Second Imtzal Decision on Remand (December 12, 2016)
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Agency filed a Petition for Review with OEA’s Board on January 17, 2017. It insists that .
the Second Initial Decision on Remand was based on an erroneous interpretation of DCMR § |
16132 because the evidence shows that neither Chief Ramsey nor Chief Lamer increased the :
penalty of termination. According to Agency, the penalty of termination was recommended by

the Trial Panel and imposed by the deciding official, Assistant Chief Cockett. Agency does not f -_

d1spute that statutes and regulations override inteinal general orders— However;- Itarguerthat e —

regulatlons and statutes supersede internal general orders only to the extent that the specific

prov1s1on is in conflict with the regulation. Thus, Agency believes that Chief Ramsey acted in

process and that the subsection he relied upon does not conflict with § 1613.2. Consequently, it
opines that Employee s termination was proper and reque;ts that the Petition for Review be
granted.ls

In response, Employee submits that Agency’s Remand Brief and Petition for Review are
not responsive to the question presented by D.C. Superior Court. Employee states that Agency’s

—-arguments.go beyond the purview _of the specific order to be addressed on remand. She further

argues that Agency’s attempts to make semantical distinctions regarding Chief Ramsey’s actions
are “meamngless” because Judge Okun has already concluded that Ramsey increased
Employee s penalty. Moreover, Employee reiterates her argument that the Chief of Police is the
deciding oﬂicml for every Agency disciplinary action. As a result, she contends that the language
contained in GO 120.21 directly conflicts with DCMR § 1613.2 and that the maximum penalty

Agency could impose was a demotion. Therefore, Employee asks this Board to deny Agency’s

Petition for Review

15 dgency’s Petition for Review (January 17, 2017)
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In accordance with OEA Rule 633.3, a Petition for Review must present one of the. ;
following arguments for it to be granted. Specifically, the rule provides: v
. The petition for review shall set forth objections to the iniial
decision supported by reference to the record. The Board may
grant a Petition for Review when the petition establishes that:*

(2) New and material evidence is available that, despite duc-
diligence, was not available when the record closed;

(b) The decision of the Administrative Judge is based on an
erroneous interpretation of statute, regulation or policy;

(c) The findings of the Administrative Judge are not based -
on substantial evidence; or

(d) The initial decision did not address all material issues

of law and fact properly raised in the appeal.

D.C. Sgg‘;eﬁor Court’s Instructions on Remand
In his June 8, 2016, Order, the Honorable Judge Robert Okun remanded this matter to the

AJ to specifically address the following question: “[d]id District of Columbia Regulation §

1613.2 prohibit Chief Ramsey from increasing Petitioner’s penalty?” (emphasis added).

Accordmg to Judge Okun, the AJ failed to address the issue of whether ~Agcncy’é_ GO was
superseded by the relevant DCMR regulation. Hé went on to state thz;t “[t]he court ﬁﬁds. nothing
| in the adléninistrative record or the IDR to suggest that.OEA concluded that General Order 120.21
granted CMef Ramsey the authority to act in a way prohibitéd by the municipal regulations of the
- District of Columbia.”®® As such, Agency’s argument that the penalty of termination was
actually réecommended by the Trial Panel and imposed by the deciding official, Assistant Chief
Cockett, 1s non responsive to the question presented on remand because it exceeds the purview of

Judge Okun’s instructions. Accordingly, D.C. Superior Court has already determined that the - .

16 Edmistw:; v. Office of Employee Appeals, 2014 CA. 007504 P(MPA) at 11.
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Chief of Police acted as the final decision maker in this case. Therefore, we must determine if the ;
AJ’s ﬁndmgs regarding the conflict between GO 120.21 and DCMR § 1613.2 are supported by
substantial evidence and if they were based on an ermoneous interpretation of statute or :

regulatidn. 17

General Order 120.21 and D.C. Municipal Regulation § 1613.2

- - At the titie Employee commi ""'tte‘d“the"mi‘scon'duct;;A;gency*S‘GO‘l'ZOlflwvasthe—cmrcnt%——"“;"'-
internal order in place. GO 1201.1 authorized the Chief of Police to sustain a proposed penalty, . -

.reduce it, or remand the matter for further consideration. Under 1201.1, the penalty imposed B

Weeks aﬁer the alleged acts occurred, but before Agency issued its final notice to Employee, GO

120.21 was enacted to replace its predecessor.!® GO 120.21(VI) states the followmg in part:

H. Notice of Proposed Adverse Action.

(1) The Assistant Chief...shall issue a Notice of Proposed Adverse Action. - .
- The member shall be given an opportunity to respond to the notice, in : .
a writing, within fifteen (15) business days, and the Assistant Chiéf, OHS,
“ ' shall consider the member’s response before rendering a written decision.

v (2) The Notice of Proposed Adverse Action issued b);"the- Assistant :
; Chief...shall include:
a. Charges

7y important to distinguish between a proposing official and a deciding official. In Huichinson v. District of
Columbia Office of Employee Appeals, 710 A.2d 227 (D.C. 1998), the D.C. Court of Appeals sought to clearly
~ define the term “penalty proposed” within the parameters of § 1614.4, a previous, but similar, version of § 1613.2.
The Court deferred to OEA’s interpretation of the term, holding that the penalty proposed refers to the initial pepalty
suggested by the proposing official, not the recommendation of the assigned disinterested designee. In Agency’s
June 2, 2006 Notice of Proposed Adverse Action, Assistant Chief of Police, Shannon Cockett, recommended that
Employee be demoted to the rank of licutenant. Thus, the proposing official in this case was Assistant Chief
Cockett, mj)t the Trial Panel, as Agency suggests, In contrast, DCMR § 1699 defines the term deciding official as the
individual who issues a final decision on a disciplinary action in accordance with § 1623, Moreover, Agency’s own
GO 120.21 IV(A) states that “{tJhe Chief of Police is the designated final authority with respect to discipline.” Part
B further provides that the “Chief of Police shall review and decide all appeals of disciplinary actions. The decision
of the Chief of Police, or his/her designec, any appca.ls of Corrective Actions shall be the final administrative review
of these actions.”
B 1n D.C. Superior Court’s first Order Reversing Agcncy Decision, Judge Macaluso determined that the Chief of
Police correctly applied GO 120.21 to Employee’s case because that was the internal regulation that was in place at

the time she filed her appeal.

’
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b. Specifications(s)
c. The proposed action; and
d. A copy of the investigative report

L. Adverse Action Appeals

(4) When an appeal is made, the appropriate papers shall be
forwarded to the Chief of Police, who may affirm or
modify the findings and/or the penalty imposed, remand the
case to a previous step in the process, or remand the case

for an alternafive process, as he/shie deems appropriate.

(5) The Chief of Police may» impose a higher penalty than
recommended by the Hearing Tribunal, or the Assistant

Chief, OHS. (emphasis added)

(September 1, 2000)) limits a deciding official to the following:
Duties and Responsibilities of the Proposing Official: General Discipline

1607.1 The proposing official shall issue the advance written notice
proposing corrective or adverse action against an employce, as provided
forin §§ 1608.1 and 1608.2.

1613.1 The deciding official, after considering the
employee's response and the report and recommendation of
................. the_hearing officer pursuant to § 1612, when applicable

shall issue a final decision.
1613.2 The deciding official shall either sustain the penalty
proposed, reduce it, remand the action with instruction for

further consideration, or dismiss the action with or without
prejudice, but in no event shall he or she increase the

penalty. (ermphasis added)

Accordingly, under GO 120.21, the Chief of Police is permitted to impose a higher
penalty than was recommended by the proposing official. Conversely, under DCMR § 1613.2
the deciding official is prohibited from increasing the penalty recommended by the proposing
official. As a general rule, statutes and regulations take precedence over an agency’s internal

proccdurés In Nunnally v. D.C. Metropolitan Police Department, 80 A.3d 1004 (D.C. 2013), the
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- D.C. Coujrt of Appeals held that an MPD General Order “essentially serves the purpose of an
_ internal é)peraﬁng ﬁmuaL” and “dofes] not have the force or effect of a statute or an
K adminisﬁ%ative regulation....”"® Moreover, in Flores v. Metropolitan Police Department, OEA

Matter No 1601-0131-11, Opinion and Order on Petztzon Jor Review (March 29, 2016), this

Board held that Agency’s General Order 120.21 is an internal guideline that is superseded by a

conﬂlctmg Tiunicipal Tegalation.
B%zsed on the foregoing, this Board finds that the AJ correctly determined that DCMR §

1613.2 sﬁperscdes Agency’s internal oPemﬁng procedure, GO 120.21. After Employee appealed

sustain the penalty proposed, reduce it, remand the action with instruction for further
considefa;tion, or dismiss the action with or without prejudice. Instead, former Chief Ramsey
issued a Iettcr on August 29, 2006 in response to Employee’s proposed demotion in which he
both denjed her appeal and 'increased ‘the penalty to termination. Chief Ramsey further

designatefd the letter as the “final Agency action in this matter.” As such, Chief Ramsey

e impermissibly increased the proposed penalty in violation of § 1613.2. There is no language in
GO ,120.2:1 which grants the Chief of Police the authority to act in a way that is prohibited by the : . L
municipai regulations of the District of Columbia. Therefore, the AJ correctly held that Agency
erred in jimposing the penalty of termination. Accordingly, the Initial Decision is based on
substannal evidence and was not an erroneous interpretation of statute or regulation.

Consequéntly, Agency’s Petition for Review must be denied.

¥ Id. (Quoting Wanzer v. District of Columbia, 580 A-2d 127, 133 (D.C.1990)). See also District of Columbia v
Henderson; 710 A.2d 874, 877 (D.C. 1998).
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 ORDER

" | - Accordingly, it is hereb"y ordered that Agency’s Petition for Review is DENIED.

FOR THE BOARD:

Vera M. Abbott ;
Patricia Hobson Wilson

0 e (DA Qg

P. Victoria Williams

Either party may appeal this decision on Petition for Review to the Superior Court of the District :
of Columbia. To file a Petition for Review with the Superior Court, the petitioning party should : :
consult Superior Court Civil Procedure Rules, XV. Agency Review, Rule 1,
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: " Notice: ThJS decision may be formally revised before pubhcanon in the District of Columbia Register. Parues o
should promptly notify the Office Manager of any formal errors so that this Office can correct them before: :
publishing the decision. This notice is not intended to provide an opportunity for a substantive challenge to the

decision.
_ THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
_, R BEFORE
THE OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS
In the Matter of ) < o :
_ ) .
_PAULA EDMISTON e e )—OEA Matter No 1601-0057-07R16 "
Employee . ) s oF
.:__-,_-":"
v. | “f' 4

METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

s

-Ted Wllhams Esq., Employee Representatlve
Frank McDougald, Esq., Agency Representatlve

2nd INITIAL DECISION ON REMAND
PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On March 7, 2007, Employee, a former Captain in the Police force, filed a Petition for %
Appeal with the Office of Employee Appeals (“OEA™) from Agency’s ﬁnal decision removing .
her from her position. After an attempted October 25, 2007, mediation,' I issued an Initial :
-“Decision-(“ID”)-on April-30;2008:*- The ID reduced the penalty from a fermination back to the
Agency’s ongmal proposed penalty of demotion. On appeal, the OEA Board upheld the ID on

January 25, 2010

Upoh appeal, the Superior Court of the District of Columbia reversed the ID’s final order :
and remanded the case to the under51gned to recon51der Employee’s motion for summary -
judgment, consxstent w1th its opinion. 4 : 1

On August 8, 2014, I issued an Initial Decision on Remand (“IDR”) rulmg on
Employee’s Motion for Summary Judgment and upholding Agency’s penalty of termination.
This IDR was appealed, and on June 8, 2016, the Superior Court of the District of Columbia
reversed the IDR and remanded the matter back to the undersigned for reconsideration of

- 1 Natice of Mediation/Settlement Conference (October 4, 2007).
2 Edminston v. DC Metropolitan Police Dept., OEA Matter No. 1601-0057-07 (April 30, 2008).
3 Edminston v. DC Metropolitan Police Dept., OEA Matter No. 1601-005 7—07 Opzmon & Order on

Petition for Rev:ew (January 25, 2010).
4 DC Metropolitan Police Dept. v. DC OEA & Edminston, Case Number 2008 CA 004804 (D.C. Super.

Ct., Oct. 9, 2013).
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Employee":s motion for summary judgrhent, consistent with its opinion.’

I granted the parties’ request for a stay of the proceedings pending the D.C. Supenor L

* Court’s ruling on a similar issue on an unrelated case. Subsequently, after several cohferences

held with the parties, I ordered the parties to submit their legal briefs by November 15,2016. The =

record 1s closed

JURISDICTION . .

The Office has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to D.C. Official Code § 1-606.03 (2001).

ISSUES

1. Whether MPD General Order 120.21 supersedes the applicable version of 6-B DCMR §

= 1‘& ———

2. What is the proper penalty for Employee in this matter.
FINDINGS OF FACT oo

Based on the record and the stipulated facts, the following facts are undisputed:

1. Paula Edmiston (“Employee”™) was appointed to the Metropolitan Police Department ¥
(“MPD” or “Agency”) in 1984 and on April 1, 2006, Employee held the rank of Captain wnh the

MPD Second District.

2. At an Agency-sponsored event on_April 1, 2006, Emplo_yee told fellow. officers-about ... BN

her remarks to a female cashier at the grocery store and then to a fellow patron at another : .
grocery.® When subsequently confronted by her superiors, Employee denied the charges and "

implicated a fellow officer.

3. Effecﬁve April 13, 2006, Agency issued General Order (“G.0.”) 120.21 regarding
disciplinary ' procedures and processes. With regard to adverse action appeals, that G.O
provided, inter alia, that the Chief of Police (“COP”) or his delegate may: 1) remand a case for
an alternative process, as he/she deems appropriate; and 2) impose a higher penalty than
recommended by the the Hearing Tribunal, or the Assistant Chief of Human Services. (G.O.
120.21, p. 17) .

4, G 0. 120.21 replaced G.0. 1202.1, which was essentially similar to the new order, but
had no provision allowing the COP to impose a penalty higher than the one initially
recommended

5 DC Metropolztan Police Dept. v. DC OEA & Edminston, Case Number 2014 CA 007504 (D.C. Super.

Ct., Jun. 8, 2016).
6 Employee called the cashier a faggot and threatened to kick a patron’s faggot ass. See Final Notlce of

Adverse Actxou dated July 25, 2006.
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5. DCMR § 1613.2 states, in part, “the de01d1ng ofﬁc1al . in no event shall he or she
increase the penalty .

6. At all relevant times, 6-B DCMR § 1613.2 was in effect.’ The full text of this -
particular regulatlon is as follows: S .

1613 Duties and Responsibilities of Deciding Official: General Drsc1p11ne

1613 1 The deciding ofﬁcial after considering the employee's response and the
report and recommendation of the hearing ofﬁcer pursuant to § 1612, when
appllcable shall issue a final decision.

1613 2 The decrdmg ofﬁc1a1 shall e1ther sustam the penalty proposed, reduce 1t

wrth or w1thout pre_]udxce but in no event shall he or she increase the penalty.

7. On June 2, 2006, pursuant to G.O 120.21, Assistant ‘Chief of Human Services : :
(“ACHS”) Shannon Cockett served Employee with a proposed Notice of Adverse Action - .
(“Notice) to demote Employee to the rank of lietenant based on three charges of misconduct:
(1) Conduct unbecoming an officer; (2) F a11ure to obey orders or directives; and (3) Wlllfully
and lcnowmgly making untruthful statements. 8 Each charge contained specifications to support it.

8. Thls Notice was issued forty-four business days from April 1, 2006, the day Agency
learned of Employee’s conduct. Agency does not allege that it undertook a criminal investigation <

of the mc1dent.

9 The Proposed Notice advised Employee that she had fifteen (15) days to respond to the :
charges and specifications and that if she failed to respond, a decision regarding the cha.rges and
speclﬁcatrons would be based upon the evidence of record.

10. Qn June 23, 2006, Employee submitted a response to the Proposed Notice. .

11. -‘EOn July 25, 2006, following a review of the documents submitted by Employee
through counsel, Assistant Chief of Human Resources Cockett served Employee with a Final
Notice of Adverse Action (“Final Notice”), demoting her to the rank of lieutenant, based upona

preponderance of evidence that Employee was guilty of the charged misconduct. The six-page
document listed 26 findings and contained a conclusion that Employee was guilty of the charges
and spemﬁcanons listed in the Notice. The Final Notice stated: For the cited violations, you w111

be demoted to the rank of “L1eutenant ”

7 Also found in 47 D.C. Reg. 7094, § 1613.2. (September 1, 2000).
8 Notice of Proposed Adverse Action.
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12. The July 25, 2006, Fmal Notice advised Employee that she could aDpeal to the COP,

and she had the right to appeal her adverse action to the OEA within 30 days of the final agency

action.

~

13. On August 8, 2006, Employee chose to appea] the demotion to the COP asking that
the demotlon be reversed or the penalty mitigated.

14. On August 29, 2006, COP Charles H Ramsey denied Employee’s appeal, and further
recommended that Employee be mscllarg_el_._zidmonally, the COP._remanded-the-adverse——:-

action for a hearing before a police trial board (Hearing Tribunal or Trial Board or Adverse
Action Panel or Panel), “if Employee so elected.”® The first paragraph acknowledged receipt of
the appeal. . The second paragraph said:

After a thorough review of the record developed in thrs matter and your letter of

and cucumstances surroundmg the Very serious charges and specrﬁcatlons in thrs
case and have determined that there were no mitigating factors.” Additionally, I
have reviewed your work performance, disciplinary history and commendations.
Based upon this review, I am recommendmg that you be discharged.

The third paragraph stated that the matter was to be scheduled for a hearing before the Trial
Board “if you so elect,” and the final paragraph stated that the letter constituted final Agency

action in the matter.

15. Asmstant Chief Cockett arranged for service of the Chief of Police’s August 29,
2006, letter on Capt. Edmiston via a memo, also dated August 29, 2006, which characterized the

decision of the Chief of Police as deciding that “the_penalty.-should -be- amended from-demotion---

to Removal »ll

16. On August 31, 2006, Employee, through counsel, elected to have a hearmg before a
Trial Board Panel. On October 27, November 3, and November 27, 2006, Employee teceived a
full evidentiary hearing before the Panel, which found Employee guilty of all three charges, and
the underlyrng specifications, and unanimously recommended that Employee be terminated.'?

17. On January 10, 2007, based on the Panel’s recommendatron, Agency issued a second
Final Notice of Adverse Action notifying Employee she had been found guilty of all the charges
and specrﬁcatlon included in the Proposed Notice and that her removal from MPD would be
effective March 2, 2007. The Notice further informed Employee that she could appeal the
decision to the COP.

9 Letter from Charles H. Ramsey, Chief of Police, to John V. Berry, Esq. dated August 29, 2006.

101d
11 Memorandum dated August 29, 2006 to Inspector Second District from Assistant Chief Office of

Human Servrces
12 Parties’ Proposed Stipulations of Fact. (October 14, 2016).
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18. By letter dated February 1, 2007, Employee appealed to Actmg Ch1ef of Police Cathy :
Lanier." On February 23, 2007, the COP demed Employee’s appea.l :.'
19. Employee was charged with “Conduct Unbecoming an Officer,” “Failure to obeyi :
orders or directives issued by the Chief of Police,” and “Willfully and knowingly making an : .
untruthful statement.” She was removed from her position effective March 2, 2007. ' o

20. §On March 7, 2007, Employee filed a Petition for Appeal with the OEA.

" 21. On April 30,2008, 1 1ssued an Initial Decision (ID) which modified Employee’s penalty -
from a termination to a demotion.”” Based on Employee’s motion for summary Jud%ment and
Agency’s response thereto, the ID held that Agency did not violate the 90-day rule,’® and that
Agency’s General Order 120.21 was not retroactive, and thus, the proper penalty was not |
termmatlon but the Agency’s original proposed penalty of demotion. e

Aot s s —

e

——

22. On June 2, 2008, Employee appealed my ID with the OEA Board (Board) .
while Agency filed an appeal with the D.C. Superior Court on July 3, 2008. On June -
9, 2009, the D.C. Superior Court dismissed Agency's petition without prejudice -
pending the outcome of the OEA Board’s decision. L

23. On January 25, 2010, the Board rejected Employee’s sole argument that she should : -
have been granted a de novo hearing on the issue of her demotion.!” The Board held that the :
Administrative Judge properly exercised his discretion to deny a de novo hearing based on the
- submissions of the parties and the applicable law. Reiterating that the Judge has discretion on -
whether or not to grant a hearing, and based on the fact that the parties were given due process at -
a hearing at the Agency, the Board denied Employee’s petition for review. The Board also held
that Agency s-appeal was-untimely.--Agency-appealed-this- decmon—to the-D:C- SupenorCourt -

on February 22, 2010.

13 Id.

14 Id. ;

15 Edminston v. DC Metropolitan Police Dept., OEA Matter No. 1601-0057-07 (April 30, 2008).

16 The Police and Firefighters Disciplinary Action Procedures Act; Title V, Section 502, of the Omnibus

Public Safety Agency Reform Amendment Act of 2004, D.C. Official Code § 5-1031 (2005 Supp.),

states .
Commencement of corrective or adverse action.
(a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, no corrective or adverse
action against any sworn member or civilian employee of the Fire and
Emergency Medical Services Department or the Metropolitan Police Department
shall be commenced more than 90 days, not including Saturdays, Sundays, or
legal holidays, after the date that the Fire and Emergency Medical Services
Department or the Metropolitan Police Department knew or should have known
of the act or occurrence allegedly constituting cause.

17 Edmznston V. DC Metropolitan Police Dept., OEA Matter No. 1601-0057-07, Opinion & Order on
Petition for Revzew (January 25, 2010).
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24. On October 9, 2013, Superior Court Judge Judith Macaluso remanded the matter back |

to OEA for reconsideration of Employee’s motion for summary judgment consistent with the ;
Court’s opinion that Agency’s change of its appellate rules was not retroactive as one of the

potential penalties had always included the ultimate one of termination.’® The Court held that

because one of the potential penalties had always been termination, and that the rale change

under Agency’s General Order 120.21 involved secondary conduct (Employee’s prosecution of

an appeal), .and not a primary conduct (an expansion of causes of action and damages against a

defendant’s already completed primary conduct), the rule change was not retroactive at all. Thus, S
__the Court concluded -thatPolice_.Chief -Ramsey--had—the--autherity - ur1der-~amendecl—l\d?PB—-~--—-~——i~~~
regulatlons to increase the recommended penalty for Employee. o .

25. On August 8, 2014, 1 issued an Initial Decision on Remand (IDR)" wherein I again
held that Agency’s action did not violate the 90-day rule and thus its action was timely. I also’ _
upheld Employee s termmatmn since Agency s change of 1ts appellate rules d1d notralse o

penalty from a demotlon to a termination.

26 On September 9, 2014, Employee appealed the IDR to the D.C. Supenor Court.

27. (Dn June 8, 2016, Superior Court Judge Robert Okum reversed the IDR and remanded ;
this matter back to OEA to make a determination as to whether MPD General Order 120.21 E
supersedes the applicable version of 6-B DCMR § 1613.2 which can now be found at 47 D.C.

Reg. 7094, § 1613.2.2°
| ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSION

2 ~v----Wilether~MPD—General—@rder»l%().%ksupersedes--the"'appli'cabl'e"versi'on*of‘ﬁ“B"D(il\ﬂi“"’&"‘lﬁ'l“B 2

The sole issue that the Superior Court under Judge Okum remanded this matter for ﬂ’llS .
Office to address was whether the police chief had authority to increase Employee’s penalty °
under MPD ‘General Order 120.21 despite its conflict with 6-B DCMR § 1613.2 which can now
be found at 47 D.C. Reg. 7094, § 1613.2. In other words, whether 6-B- DCMR § 1613.2
specifically prohibited the decision maker from increasing the penalty, and if so, whether this . -
regulation sﬁpelseded MPD’s General Order 120.21. ' s

Agency s response to the issue takes a different tack. F1rst, Agency pomts out that after .
Employee’s:receipt of Agency’s Notice of Proposed Adverse Action proposing her demotion
from Captain to Lieutenant, it was Employee who appealed the notice to then COP Charles
Ramsey. COP Ramsey denied the appeal and recommended termination. Agency pointed out that .
COP Ramsey did not impose termination as a penalty, but merely recommended it. . ‘

18 DC Metropolztan Police Dept. v. D.C. O.E.A. & Edminston., Case No. 2008CA 004804 P(MPA)(Oct

9,2013). ;
19 Edminstonv. DC Metropolitan Police Dept., OEA Matter No. 1601-0057-07R14 (Aug. 8, 2014).

20 Edminston:v. DC Metropolitan Police Dept.et. al., Case No. 2014 CA 007504 PQMPA)(Jun. 8, 2016).




1601-0057-07R16
Page 7 of 9

Nevertheless, COP Ramsey acceded to Employee’s election that she be granfed an
evidentiary hearing before a Trial Board Panel. After a three day hearing, the Panel notified
Employee that it found her guilty of all three charges and specifications, and unanimously
recommended that Employee be terminated.

Empidyee appealed the Panel’s decision to the new COP, Cathy Lanier, who denied ber
appeal on F ébmary 23, 2007, and sustained the panel’s recommendation of termination.

Based _on these facts, Agency argues. that MPD.General Order120.21-did-not-conflict
with 6-B DCMR § 1613.2 because COP Ramsey was not the deciding official as.envisioned by §
1613.2, but merely the appeals official. Agency goes on to state that the Panel was not required
to recommend termination as a penalty, but was free to recommended a lesser penalty after
determining: that Employee committed misconduct. Agency then concludes that since COP
Ramsey did not violate 6-B DCMR § 1613.2, the penalty of termination should be affirmed.

Ot T P —remdas— T

= PRI I ' e

that conflicted with 6 B DCMR § 1613 are superseded by the regulation. .

Employee argues that Agency had no legal authority to change Assistant Chief Cockett’s
findings on the charges and increase the penalty from a demotion to a termination. Employee
complains that Agency’s brief is not responsive to the question presented by the Superior Court
as Judge Okun had already concluded that COP Ramsey increased Employee’s penalty.
Employee points out that there is no question that G.0. 120.21 conflicts with 6 B DCMR § 1613

and that a regulation supersedes a G.O.

Agency’s argument is disingenuous in pointing out that COP Ramsey was not the
deciding official since he did not impose the higher penalty of termination. While that much is
true, what Agency.fails-to-point-out-is-the-fact -that-the-deciding-official-who-did-impose the
higher penalty of terminatiop over the original proposed penalty of a demotion was then COP
Lanier,

As the undisputed facts of this case bears out, in Agency’s proposed June 2, 2006, Notice
of Adverse Action, ACHS Shannon Cockett recommended that Employee be demoted to the
rank of lieutenant. While COP Ramsey ordered a hearing before a Panel, it was COP Lanier who
acted as a deciding official in imposing a termination upon Employee. '

6-B DCMR § 1613 states as follows:2!

1613.; Duties and Responsibilities of Deciding Official: General Discipline

1613.1 The deciding official, after considering the employee's response and the
report and recommendation of the hearing officer pursuant to § 1612, when
applicable, shall issue a final decision. '

21 Chapter 16,; General Discipline and Grievances, 47 D.C.Reg. 7094 (September 1, 2000)
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" 1613.2 The deciding official shall either sustain the penalty proposed, reduee it,
remand the action with instruction for further consideration, or dismiss the action
with or without prejudice, but in no event shall he or she increase the penalty.

(emphasis added).

As »1floted in the statement of facts above, G.O. 120.21 provided, inter alia, that the COP -
or his delegate may: 1) remand a case for an alternative process, as he/she deems’ appropriate; : ;
and 2) impose a higher penalty than recommended by the the Heanng Tribunal, or the Assistant

C]uef of_Human Services. (emphasis added)

Itis ev1dent that 6-B DCMR § 1613 conflicts with G.O. 12Q.21. In contrast to the G.O.,
the regulation limits the COP’s choice of the severest penalty he or she can impose to the one .
recommended by the Assistant Chief of Human Services. Here, ACHS Cocket recommended a -
demotion, and COP Lanier may not impose the more severe penalty of termination. f

R E———C T

e
————

. Supenor Court Judge Okum’s order stated in part, “An agency’s internal general orders
or procedures do not override statutes and regulations.”? Courts in this jurisdiction have held that :

‘an MPD General Order essentially served the purpose of an internal operatmg manual, and does
not have the force or effect of a statue or an administrative regula’aon In addition, OEA itself '
recently concluded that an MPD general order that conflict with a municipal regulation was =
superseded by that municipal regulation, as ‘statutes and regulations take precedence over an
’agency s mtemal procedures.’ "2 4 _ . -

On August 4, 2016, in the case of District of Columbia vs. Public Employee Relations §
Board, et.al,, the Court-of Appeals, in part, cited District of Columbia v. Henderson, 710 A.2d
874, 877 (D C. 1998) (noting that an MPD General Order cannot override a regulation).

Thus to answer Judge Okun’s query, 6-B DCMR § 1613 2 supersedes MPD’s General ;

Order 120. 2_1 6-B DCMR § 1613.2 specifically prohibited the decision maker from increasing - . -

the penalty, and thus the police chief as the ultimate decision maker had no legal authority to
increase Eniployee’s penalty under MPD Geperal Order 120.21

What is the broper penalty for Employee in this matter

The next issue to be dealt with is Agency’s choice of penalty. Employee s contention
that she was innocent of the charges, was refuted by her fellow officers in a police trial board
hearing. Employee was given her due process rights as she was able to confront and cross-
examine -her accusers. , The Trial Board unanimously found her guilty of all charges, and
recommended termination.

22 See District of Columbia v. Henderson, 710 A.2d 874, 877 (D.C. 1998, Nurmally v. DC Metro Police
Dep’t, 80 A.3d 1004, 1012 (D.C. 2013).
23 Munnally, 80 A.3d at 1012.

24 In the Matter of Wilberto Flores v. Metro. Police Dep’t, OEA Matter No. 1601-0131 1 1, at pp. 6-7

(Mar. 29, 2016)
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ThlS Office’s review of an adverse action penalty must begin with the recognition that the
primary responsxblhty for managing and d1sc1p11mng an agency’s workforce is a matter entrusted |
to the agency, not to this Office. When assessing the appropnateness of a penalty, this Office is -
‘not. to substitute its judgment for that of the agency, but is simply to ensure that “managerial -
discretion has been legitimately invoked and properly exercised.” Stokes v. District of Columbia, .
© 502 A.2d 1006, 1010 (D.C. 1985) Indeed, this Office’s scope of review is limited to ‘a : -
determination of whether the penalty is within the range allowed by the table of penalties, -
whether the penalty is based on relevant Douglas factors, and whether there is a clear error of .

wemm.judgment _Taggertv. Metropolitan Police Department, OEA Matter No. 2405-0113-92R94 (Jan.

9, 1998).

I cannot modify- Agency’s penalty unless it is so harsh as to amount to an abuse of
discretion. Employee v. Agency, OEA Matter No. 1601-0012-82, 30 D.C. Reg. 352 (1983). ' :
Based on the Agency s Table of Pena1t1es the range of penalues for eonduct unbecommg an

termination, even for a ﬁrst offender.? Based on thls standard, my review of the reoord taken as

a whole, demonstrates that there is substantial evidence in the record to support the penalty of ° .
demotion. Here, Agency’s decision to impose the penalty of termination constituted an abuse of -
discretion because the original penalty was increased in violation of the regulation: For the :
foregoing reasons, I cohclude that the agency's decision to select removal as the appropriate penalty '
for Employee s infractions must,be modified to a demotion. :

ORDER

Basfed on the foregoing, it is hereby ORDERED that:

e —'—--~—~?--——-—--1—:~—Ageney-’*s--aetien- of terminating: Emp-loyee»isREVERSED;-and

2. Agency shall reinstate and immediately demote Employee to the rank of
lieutenant; reimburse her all back-pay and benefits lost as a result of her

termination; and

3 Agency shall file with this Office, within thirty (30) calendar days from the .
date on which this decision becomes final, documents evidencing comphance
with the terms of this Order. a

~"JOSEPH E. LIM, ESQ.
Senior Administrative Judge

25 See MPD benéral Order 120.21. Attachment A: Table of Offenses and Penalties (April 13, 2006).
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NOTICE OF APPEALS RIGHTS

This is an Initial Decision that will become a final decision of the Office of
Employee Appeals unless either party to this proceeding files a Pefition for Review . : ‘
with the office. A Petition for Review must be filed within thirty-five (35) g |
calendar days including holidays and weekends, of the i issuance date of the Initial '
Decision in the case.

All Petmons for Review must set forth Ob_] ections to the Imtml De01s1on and
establish that

- 1. New and material evidence is available that, despite due d111gence was
not available when the record was closed,

2. The dec1s1on of the pr&sldmg ofﬁcml is based on an eIroneous

3. The finding of the presiding official are not based on substantial
eVldence or

4. The Initial Decision did not address all the issues of law and fact properly
ralsed in the appeal.

All Petitions for Review should be supported by references to applicable .
. laws or regulations and make specific reference to the record. The Petition for
Review, containing a certificate of service, must be filed with Administrative
Assistant, D.C. Office of Employee Appeals, 1100 4™ St, SW., Suite 620E,
Washmgton, D.C. 20024. Four (4) copies of the Petition for Review must be filed.
Parties wishing to respond to a Petition for Review may file their response within

thirty-five (35) calendar days, including holidays and weekends, after the filing of
the Petition for Review.

Instead of filing a Petition for Review with the Office, either party may filea
Petition for Review in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia. Either party
may also appeal a decision on Petition for Review (also known as an Opinion and
Order on Petition for Review) to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia.
To file a Petition for Review with the Superior Court, the petitioning party should
consult Superior Court Civil Procedure Rules, XV. Agency Review, Rule 1.
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A

Paula Edmiston
5711 Plata Street :
Clinton, MD 20735

Ted Williams, Esqg
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Washington, DC 20005
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For the District of Columbia
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D.C. OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS,
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CERTIFICATE OF FILING

I héreby certify that this is the true and correct official case file in the matter of Paula
Edmiston v. Metropolitan Police Department, OEA Matter No. 1601-0057-07R16. The record
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D.C. Superior Court
11/09/2018 14:33PM

Clerk of the Court

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
METROPOLITAN POLICE
DEPARTMENT,

Petitioner

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS,
Respondent.

vvvvvvvvvvvvv

Case No. 2017 CA 008130 P(MPA)
Judge Elizabeth Wingo

Next Event: Status Hearing
Friday, November 16, 2018

OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS’

STATEMENT IN LIEU OF BRIEF

Pursuant to the Hearing Notice that was entered on October 17, 2018, Respondent Office

of Employee Appeals submits that it relies on the final decision of its Board in the matter of

Paula Edmiston v. Metropolitan Police Department OEA Matter Number 1601-0057-07R16

(November 7, 2017), as its statement in lieu of brief. The final decision is attached hereto as

Exhibit #1.

Respectfully submitted,

Wbt Bonun Bisgsy
Lasheka Brown Bassey v

D.C. Bar # 489370

General Counsel

D.C. Office of Employee Appeals
955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
Washington, DC 20024
202.727.0738
Lasheka.Brown@dc.gov




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 9th day of November, 2018, the forgoing Respondent Office
of Employee Appeals’ Statement in Lieu of Brief was served via the Court’s electronic filing
system, CaseFileXpress.com to the following:

Frank J. McDougald
Counsel for Petitioner

Ted J. Williams
Counsel for Intervenor

Respectfully submitted,

%Mck& Bioun Asgocs
Lasheka Brown Bassey /
D.C. Bar # 489370
General Counsel
D.C. Office of Employee Appeals
955 L Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
Washington, DC 20024
202.727.0738
Lasheka.Brown@dc.gov
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Notice: Thls decision may be formally revised before it is published in the District of Columbia . -
Register and the Office of Employee Appeals’ website. Parties should promptly notify the
Office Managet of any formal errors so that this Office can correct them before publishing the ' .
decision. This notice is not intended to provide an opportunity for a substantive challenge to the '
decision. | ¥

. THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
BEFORE

' THE OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS

In the Matter of; )
A )
~ PAULA EDMISTON, )
Employee )
)  OEA Matter No.: 1601-0057-07R16
V. ) ‘
) Date of Issuance: November 7, 2017
METROPOLITAN )
POLICE DEPARTMENT, )
Agency )
| )
OPINION AND ORDER
ON
4 REMAND

Th1s matter was previously before the Board. Paula Edmiston (“Employee”) was a
~ captain wuh the Metropolitan Police Departinent (“Agency”). On June 2, 2006, the Asmstant :
Chief of Hu;nan Services (“ACHS™), Shannon Cockett, served Employee with a Proposed Notice |
of AdverseiAction and recommended that she be demoted to the rank of lieutenant. Employée =
was charged with conduct unbecommg of an officer, failure to obey orders, and w111fully and
knowingly makmg an untruthful statement. The charges stemmed from two events in 2006,
wherein Engployee made dlsrespectﬁﬂ comments to a cashier at a grocery store regarding the
cashier’s raoe and national origin. Emplqyee subsequently made disparaging remarks to a male

patron at another grocery store pertaining to his sexual orientation. Agency conducted an
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administrative review and issued its Final Notice of Adverse Acﬁon on July 25, 2006. The notice
stated that that Employee Waé guilty of all three charges based on the preponderance of the
evidence. As a result, Employee was demoted to the rank of lieutenant. 3
The%reaﬁcr, Employee appealed her demotion to former Chief of Police, Charles Ramsey. :
On August 29, 2006, Chief Ramsey denied Employee’s appeal and recommended that her
pumshment be increased from demotion to removal. Employee elected to have the adverse action :
reviewed by a panel of police officers (“Trial Panel”). The Trial Panel found Employee guilty of
all three chiatges and recommended that she be terminated. Employee appealed tﬁe Trial Panel’s :
decision to‘Actmg Chief of Police Cathy Lanier. waever Employeé’s appeal was denied on
~ February 23 2007 and her termination became effective on March 2, 2007.! ‘
Employee filed a Petition for Appeal with the Ofﬁce of Employee Appeals (“OEA”) on :
March 7, 2907. Two issues were presented to the Administrative Judge (“AJ”) for adjudication: :
whether Aémcy commenced its adverse action in a timely manner and whether Agency had the
authority to? increase the proposed penalty from dcmoﬁon to removal. The AJ issued his Initial : ,
Decision oxé April 30, 2008. With respect to §he timeliness issue, the AJ held that Agency did not :

violate DC Official Code § 5-1031, commonly refgtred to as the 90-day rule. The rule prohibits -

adverse actiions from commencing against members of the Metropolitan Police Department more P

than mnety days, not including Saturdays, Sundays, or legal holidays, after the date Agency
knew, or shiould have known, of the act or occurrence allegedly constituting cause.? According to - 5
the AJ, Chlef Ramsey’s August 29, 2006 letter to Employee did not trigger the 90-day time :

period becaiuse the notice did not identify itself as a proposed notice of adverse action and did

1 Petztzon for Appeal (March 7, 2007). ,
2 The AJ noted that the statute contains an exception for acts subject to criminal investigations; however there was

no pending mmmal investigation pending against Employee.
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not oon&am the charges and specifications required of such a notice. Hence, the AJ determined -
that Agenc?’ s June 2, 2006 proposed notice to Employee was well within the 90-day deadline.

Wiﬁx respect to the Chief’s authority to increase Employee’s proposed penalty, the AJ e
stated that' Employee’s “right not to have her proposed penalty increased was impaired by
Agency’s réu'oacﬁve use of [the General Order].> He further provided the following:.

When the underlying events occurred on April 1, 2006, GO-PER-
120-21 was not in place, and the Chief of Police-was not authorized
to increase punishment. The enactment of the new General Order—
if held to apply to the punishment imposed on the Employee—
would increase the Employee’s liability for past conduct because
she would be subject to a removal rather than a mere demotion.
Under Landgraf and the District of Columbia administrative agency
cases following it, the Employee’s punishment cannot be increased
by means of the General Order applied retroactively to conduct
occurring before its enactment.

Based on the foregoing, the AJ held that Chief Ramsey improperly increased Employee’s .
penalty from demotion to removal. Therefore, he reversed Agency’s adverse action and held that
' the correct iremedy was to reinstate Employee’s demotion.*

Thereafter, Employee filed a Petition for Review with OEA’s Board.” Her sole argument
“in the peﬁﬁon- was that the AJ “lacked the power to sua sponte demote [Employee] without .
permitting her the opportunity to petition OEA for a de novo evidentiary hearing™ In its -
Opinion anid Order on Petition for Review, the Board highlighted OEA Rule 625.1, which

]

3 Effective April 13, 2006, Agency issued General Order (“GO”) 120.21, which addresses disciplinary procedures
and processes. With regard to adverse action appeals, the GO provided that the Chief of Police or his delegate may:
1) remand a case for an alternative process, as he/she deems appropriate; and 2) impose a higher penalty than’
recommended by the Assistant Chief of Human Services. . ' :

* Initial Decision (April 30, 2008).

5 While Employee’s Petition for Review was pending before OEA’s Board, Agency filed a Petition for Review in
D.C. Superior Court. Agency also filed an Opposition to Employee’s June 2, 2008 Petition for Review with OEA on

July 17, 2008} However, D.C. Superior Court dismissed Agency’s petition without prejudice pending the outcome of

the Board’s decision. On July 9, 2009, Agency filed a Motion for Extension of Time to File Petition for Review of
Agency Decision. The parties subsequently requested to stay the matter pending before OEA, and subsequently -
requested that the stay be lifted on August 26, 2009. The request was granted.
§ Petition for Review, p. 8 (June 2, 2008)
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provides that a party may request the opportunity for an evidentiary hearing; however, it is
within the AJ *s discretion to grant such a request. The Board agreed with the AJ’s assessment
that an ev;dentxary hearing was not warranted based on the issues presented by‘ the parties.
Furthermore, the Boérd held that the AJ did pot abuse his discretion by deciding this matter ;
based solel;/ on the documents of réconl As a result, Employee’s Petition for Review was denied :
and the AJ ’s Initial Decision was upheld
Agency subsequently filed an appeal with D.C. Superior Court. On October 9, 2013, the i
Honorable f;Judge Judith Macaluso issued an Order Reversing Agency Decision, in part. In her
analysis, Jixdge Macaluso, stated that “Chief Ramsey had the authority under amended MPD : |
regulatlons to increase the recommended penalty for the Petitioner.” Therefore, the matter was
remanded to the AJ for reconsideration consistent with the Order.®
 On August 8, 2014, the AJ issued his Initial Decision on Remand. He reiterated his |
previous ﬁndmg that Agency did not violate the 90-day rule. However, the AJ reversed his
original deelsmn with respect to Agency’s ability to increase a proposed penalty and concluded
that it d1d not abuse its discretion by terminating Employee.’ Consequently, Agency’s
termmatxoq action was upheld.
Emﬁloyee appealed the Initial Decision on Remand to D.C. Superior Court on September

9, 2015, whetem she asserted that the AJ’s decision should be reversed because the GO that the
Chief of Pti)lice relied upon in imposing a higher penalty’ was superseded by D.C. Muhicipal

Regulation-i(“DCMR”) § 1613.2. In its June 8, 2016 Order, the Court discussed three issues:

7 Opinion and Order on Petition for Review (Jamuary 25, 2010). The Board also denied Agency’s Motion for
Extension of Tnne to File Petition for Review of Agency Decision because it failed to file its petition within the
thirty-five day deadline as required by D.C. Official Code § 1-606.03(c).

% District of Columbia Metropolitan Police Department v. Office of Emplayee Appeals, 2008 CA 004804 P(MPA)

gD .C. Super. Ct. 2013).
Initial Decmon on Remand (August 8, 2014).
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whether the argument raised by Employee in her petition regardmg DCMR § 1613.2 was bemg
raised for the first time; whether the law of the case doctnne prohlblted the Court from makmg a %
determmauon with respect to the aforementloned issue; and whether DCMR § 1613.2 prohibited
the Chief Qf Police from increasing Employee’s penalty. In its analysis, the Court provided that | :
Employee’%s argument was properly preserved for appeal. It further stated that the law of the case
doctrine was inapplicable. in this matter. Regarding the last issue, the Court agreed with .- ﬂ
" Employee s contention that the AJ did not properly analyze whether Agency’s GO could
supersede a municipal regulation. Therefore, the matter was remanded to the AJ “in order for
OEA to rr;ake a determination as to whether MPD General Order 120.21 supersedes [the] |
" applicable version of 6-B DCMR § 1613.2....”"° |
Thereafter, the parties_ were ordered to address the issue identified 1n the Court’s June 8,
2016 0rdei;.“ In its Remand Brief, Agency argued that its action of reducing Employee’s rank to | |
lieutenant was done so in accordance with GO 120.21 and that it did not violate DCMR § i
1613‘.2. It further stated that the Chief of Police “in denying Employee’s appeal, did not increase
the penalty Instead the [Chief] ‘remand[ed] the case for an alternative process,’ a trial board and |
recommeméiation of termination.” Agency further questioned the applieability of DCMR § .
1613.2 to the instant matter because it believed that Chief Ramsey was the appeals ofticial, not | _
the decxdmg official. In addition, it posited that the language contained in § 1613.2 and GO
120.21 was “congtuent and harmonious in allowing a matter to be remanded for further -
_ COnsideratiion.” As a result, Agency reiterated its position that Employee’s termination was

appropriate.”

10 Edmiston v. Office of Employee Appeals, 2014 CA 007504 P(MPA) (D.C. Super. Ct 20 14).
1 Post—Conférence Briefing Order November 9, 2016). '

2 ggency’s Brief Following Remand from the District of Columbia Superior Court (November 10, 2016). Also See' :

- Agency’s Reply to Employee 's Brief on Remand in Response to the Superior Court Decision (December 2, 2016).
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In f&sponse 'Employee contended that the Chief of Police lacked the authority to amend
the Ass1stant Chlef of Police’s findings and increase the penalty. According to Employee,
Agency’s Gcneral Orders are merely mtemal guidelines tha.t do not supersede District
regulahon; She further stated that the Chief of Police was limited to promulgating orders which g
are consistjcnt with District law. Consequently, Employee requested that Agency’s termination -
actionbe rcgeversed.13 ‘

: The AJ issued his Second Initial Decision on Remand on December 12, 2016. Hei ’
dlsagreed Wlth Agency’s argument that DCMR § 1613.2 and GO 120.21 were congruent because
Chief Ram;sey was not the deciding official as envisioned by the regulations. According to the -
AJ, while Chlef Ramsey femanded the matter for a hearing before the Trial Panel, it was Chief |
' Lamer Who ultimately acted as a decldmg official in this case. He further stated that it was -
evident that § 1613.2 and GO 120.21 contamed oonﬂlctmg language and that an agency’s .
internal or%iels cannot override municipal regulations. Ihus, in response to Superior Court’s
Order, the AJ concluded that Chief Lanier, acting as. the ultimate d;acision maker, was legally
prohibited.gﬁom increzﬁng the proposed penalty levied against Employee from demotion to
taminaﬁoxix As a result, the AT determined that the imposed penalty vof termination was an abuse .
of djsm'eﬁém and that there was substantial evidence in the record to support the penalty of |
demotion. iConsequenﬂy,. Agency’s termination action was reversed and Employee was ordered |

to be reinstated and demoted to the rank of lieutenant.

B Emplayee 's Brief on Remand in Response to the Superzor Court’s Decision (November 14, 2016). Employee
subsequently: filed a Reply Brief to Agency’s November 10, 2016 submission, wherein she argued that Agency’s
brief was non-responsive to the question presented by D.C. Superior Court in its Remand Order. In addition,
Employee restated her position that MPD’s General Order was inconsistent with DCMR § 1613.2. Employee’s -
Reply Brief (December 1, 2016).

1 Second Initial Decision on Remand (December 12, 2016).



1601-0057-07R16 -
Page 7

Ageincy filed a Petition fcr Review with OEA’s Board on January 17, 2017. It insists that -
the Second Initial Decision on Remand was based on an erroneous interpretation of DCMR § ! |
1613.2 bec%ause the evidence shows that neither Chief Ramsey nor Chief Lanier increased the :
penalty of %cerminaﬁon. According to Agency, the penalty of termination was recommeﬁded by
the Trial' P:imel and imposed by the deciding official, Ascistant Chief Cockett. Agency does not
dispute tha.'c statutes and regulations override internal .general orders. However, it argues that f
regulations: and statutes supersede internal general otders only to the extent that the specific
provision 1s in conflict with the regulation. Thus, Agency believes that Chief Ramsey acted m
accordance with GO 120.21(VI}L)(4) when he remanded Employee’s case for an alternative
process and that the subsection he relied upon does not conflict with § 1613.2. Comequenﬂy, it -
opines tha1 Employee’s termination was proper and requests that the Petition for Review be :
granted.' |

In r;esponse, Employee submits that Agency’s Remand Brief and Petition for Review are ;
not respons;ive to the question presented by D.C. Superior Court. Employee states that Agency’s
arguments | go beyond the purview of the specific order to be addressed on remand. She further
argues that Agency s attempts to make semantical distinctions regarding Ch1ef Ramsey’s actions
are “meanmgless” because Judge Okun has already concluded that Ramsey increased :
| Employec’;s penalty. Moreover, Employee reiterates her argument that the Chief of Police is the L
deciding ofﬁcml for every Agency disciplinary action. As a result, she contends that the language
contamed m GO 120.21 directly conflicts with DCMR § 1613.2 and that the maximum penalty
Agency coyld impose was a demotion. Therefore, Employee asks this Board to deny Agency’s

Petition fot% Review.

/ i

1S Agency's Petition for Review (January 17, 2017).
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In accordance with OEA Rule 633.3, a Petition for Review must present one of the
~ following arguments for it to be granted. Specifically, the rule provides:
| The petition for review shall set forth objections to the initial

decision supported by reference to the record. The Board may

grant a Petition for Review when the petition establishes that:’

(a) New and material evidence is available that, despite due
; diligence, was not available when the record closed;

(b) The decision of the Administrative Judge is based on an
erroneous interpretation of statute, regulation or policy;

(c) The findings of the Administrative Judge are not based -
on substantial evidence; or

(d) The initial decision did not address all material issues
of law and fact properly ra:sed in the appeal.
D.C. Sggmor Court’s Instructlons on Remand
In h1s June 8, 2016, Order, the Honorable Judge Robert Okun remanded this matter to the '
AJ to specifically address the following queeﬁcn: “{dJid District of Columbia Regulation § |
1613.2 pré)hibit Chief Ramsey from increasing Petitioner’s penalty?” (emphasis added).
Accordmg to Judge Okun, the AJ failed to ‘address the issue of whether Agency’s GO was -
supersedcd by the relevant DCMR regulation. He went on to state that “[t]he coutt finds nothing
in the admm1strat1ve record or the IDR to suggest that OEA concluded that General Order 120.21 |
granted Chl1ef Ramsey the authority to act in a way prohibited by the municipal regulations of the :'
-District of Columbia.”® As such, Agency’s argument that the penalty of termination was
| actually recommended by the Trial Panel and imposed by the deciding official, Assistant Chief
Cockett, i 1s \non responsive to the questron prmented on remand because it exceeds the purview of )

Judge qun’s instructions. Accordmgly, D.C. Superior Court has already determined that the |

6 Edmiston v. Office of Employee Appeals, 2014 CA 007504 PQPA) st 1.
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Chief of Pohce acted as the final decision maker mthls case. Therefore, we must detenhine if the
AJ’s ﬁndmgs regar.ding the conflict between GO 120.21 and DCMR § 1613.2 are supported by -
substantlal evidence and if they were based on an erroneous interpretation of statute or =
regulation.i” | . '
General Orzder 120.21 and D.C. Municipal Regulation § 1613.2
At the time Employee committed the misconduct, Agency’s GO 1201.1 was the Mt !
internal orc?ler in place. GO 1201.1 authorized the Chief of Police to sustain a proposed penalty, g
.reduce it, er remand the matter for further ooﬁsideration. Under 1201.1, the penalty imposed -
could not be increased from the penalty originally proposed. On April 13, 2006, less than two !
weeks aﬁer the alleged acts occurred, but before Agency issued its final notice to Employee, GO :
120.21 was enacted to replace its predecessor.'® GO 120.21(V1) states the following in part:
H. Notice of Proposed Adverse Action.
| (1)- The Assistant Chief. ..shall issue a Notice of Proposed Adverse Action.
The member shall be given an opportunity to respond to the notice, in -
writing, within fifteen (15) business days, and the Assistant Chief, OHS,
shall consider the member’s response before rendering a written decision.
(2) The Notice of Proposed Ad\}eree Action issued by the Assistant

Chief...shall include:
a. Charges

i

17 1t important to distinguish between a proposing official and a deciding official. In Hutchinson v. District of
Columbia Office of Employee Appeals, 710 A.2d 227 (D.C. 1998), the D.C. Court of Appeals sought to clearly
- define the term “penalty proposed” within the parameters of § 1614.4, a previous, but similar, version of § 1613.2. -
The Court deferred to OEA’s interpretation of the term, holding that the penalty proposed refers to the initial pepalty .
suggested by the proposing official, not the recommendation of the assigned disinterested designee. In Agency’s
June 2, 2006; Notice of Proposed Adverse Action, Assistant Chief of Police, Shannon Cockett, recommended that |
Employee be demoted to the rank of lieutenant. Thus, the proposing official in this case was Assistant Chief
Cockett, not the Trial Panel, as Agency suggests. In contrast, DCMR § 1699 defines the term deciding official as the
individual who issues a final decision on a disciplinary action in accordance with § 1623. Moreover, Agency’s own
GO 120.21 IV(A) states that “{t]be Chief of Police is the designated final authority with respect to discipline.” Part
B further provides that the “Chief of Police shall review and decide all appeals of disciplinary actions. The decision
of the Chief of Police, or his/her designee, any appeals of Corrective Actlons shall be the final administrative review
of these actions.” :
18 1n D.C. Superior Court’s first Order Reversing Agency Decision, Judge Macaluso determined that the Chief of -
Police correctly applied GO 120.21 to Employee’s case because that was the internal regulation that was in place at
the time she filed her appeal.

¢
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" b. Specifications(s)
c. The proposed action; and
. d. A copy of the investigative report

' L. Adverse Action Appeals

(4) When an appeal is made, the appropriate papers shall be
forwarded to the Chief of Police, who may affirm or
modify the findings and/or the penalty imposed, remand the
case to a previous step in the process, or remand the case
for an alternative process, as he/she deems appropriate.

: (5) The Chief of Police may impose a higher penalty than
i recommended by the Hearing Tribunal, or the Assistant
3 Chief, OHS. (emphasis added)

In contrast,i Chapter 16 of the District. of Columbia Regulations (formally 47 D.C. Reg. 7094 g
(September 1, 2000)) limits a deciding official to the following:
'\ Duties and Responsibilities of the Proposing Official: General Discipline

1607.1 The proposing official shall issue the advance written notice .
proposing corrective or adverse action against an employee, as pIOVIded
forin §§ 1608.1 and 1608.2. : -

1613.1 The deciding official, after considering the
employee's response and the report and recommendation of
the hearing officer pursuant to § 1612, when applicable,
shall issue a final decision.

1613.2 The deciding official shall cither sustain the penalty
i proposed, reduce it, remand the action with instruction for
further consideration, or dismiss the action with or without
prejudice, but in no event shall he or she increase the
penalty. (emphasis added)
Accordmgly, under GO 120.21, the Chief of Police is perm1tted to impose a higher
penalty thap was recommended by the proposing official. Conversely, under DCMR § 1613.2, -
the decididg official is prohibited from increasing the penalty recommended by the proposing

official. As a general rule, statutes and regulations take precedence over an agency’s internal

proceduresé In Nunnally v. D.C. Metropolitan Police Department, 80 A.3d 1004 (D.C. 2013), the
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D. C Court of Appeals held that an MPD General Order “essentially serves the purpose of an
internal operatmg manual ” and “dofes] not have the force or effect of a statute or an ;
| administrative regulatlon....”19 Moreover, in Flores v. Metropolitan Police Department, OEA
Matter 'No.f 1601-0131-11, Opinion ami Order on Petition for Review (March 29, 2016), this -
Board held that Agency’s General Order 120.21 is an internal guideline that is supexsedod by a
conflicting zmunicipal regulation.
Based on the foregoing, this Board finds that the AJ correctly determined that DCMR § |
1613.2 supé:rsedes Agency’s internal operating procedure, GO 120.21. After Employee appealed - -
- the proposing official’s recommendation of demotion, the Chief of Police was permitted to :
sustain the penalty proposed, reduce it, remand the action with instruction for ﬁlrthcr 2
cons1derat10n, or disthiss the action with or Wlthout prejudice. Instead, former Chief Ramsey - :’
issued a lega on August 29, 2006 in response to Employee’s proposed demotion in which he .
both deniefd her appeal and increased ‘the penalty to termination. Chief Ramsey further ?
designated%the letter as the “final Agency action in this matter.” As such, Chief Ramsey :
imimrmissifbly increased the proposed penalty in violation of § 1613.2. There is no language in
| GO 120.21?which grants the Chief of Police the authority to act in a way that is prohibited by the -
municipal riegulations of the District of Columbia. Therefore, the AJ correctly held that Agency
erred in 1mposmg the penalty of termination. Accordingly, the Initial Decision is based on | |
substantlal ewdence and was not an erroneous inferpretation of statute or regulation. |

Consequenﬂy, Agency’s Petition for Review must be denied.

19 1d. (Quoting Wanzer v. District of Columbia, 580 A.2d 127, 133 (D.C.1990)). See also District of Columbia v
Henderson, 710 A.2d 874, 877 (D.C. 1998)
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ORDER

Accordingly, it is hereby ordered that Agency’s Petition for Review is DENIED.
FOR THE BOARD:

KN

Sheree L. Price, Chair

Vera M. Abbott

(e ity Yl

Patricia Hobson Wilson

D, Utthnase (D scup-

P. Victoria Williams

Freghoan 7

Either paxty may appeal this decision on Petition for Review to the Superior Court of the District

i

of Columbia. To file a Petition for Review with the Superior Court, the petitioning party should
consult Superior Court Civil Procedure Rules, XV. Agency Review, Rule 1.
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
CIVIL DIVISION '
In the matter of:.

GINA VAUGHN
2400 Honeystone Way
Brookeville}, MD 20833

Petitioner, 2017 CA 005525 P(MPA)

v.

METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT,
300 Indiana Avenue, NW, Room 4125

Washington, DC 20001 . 3 :
' R -}
and 2om
2o
D.C. OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS — m
1100 4th Street, SW, Suite 620 East = <
Washington, DC 20024-4451 e 5

5w
Respondents. “ N
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PETITION FOR REVIEW OF AGENCY DECISION
Notice is hereby given that Petitioner Gina Vaughn, by and through counsel, appeals to
the Superior Court of the District of Columbia from the Office of Employee Appeals (“OEA™)
Board Order issued on the 11th day of July, 2017. A copy of the Order sought to be reviewed is
attached to this petition as Exhibit A. |
Petitioner worked as a Computer Specialist with the Dis’cri& of Columbia Metropolitan
Police.Depaft:hent (the “Ageﬂcy”) and was separated pursuant to a Reduction-in-Force ("RIF")
on .Septembe:r 14, 20_1 1. Bx. A at 1. On November 11, 2011, Petitioner filed a Peﬁtién for Appeal
with the OEA, arguing that the RIF was not properly initiated, and the AJ ordered Petitioner be

reinstated with backpay and benefits becanse there was a discrepancy between her RIF




notification cémpeﬁﬁve level and her official position of record, on December 11, 201_4‘. Ex. A at !
2. The Agéncy appealed the decision and the OEA Board remanded the decision on May 10, I '
2016 for tﬁe AJ to determine if the RIF discrepancy constituted a ixarmlesg error, Id. at 3, On |
September 9, 2016, the AJ acknowledged that there was an inconsistency in the RIF document as
the Petifioner's duties and responsibilities were "significantly different duties of other Cémputer

Specialist{s} " but still found the inconsistency to be harmless error. /d. at 5.

and sent a letter to the OEA on October 18, 2016 explaining her attempts. 7d. at 5-6. On October |

i
]

27, 2016, Petitioner sent a second letter stating that her attorney abandoned her and requesting

additional ﬁine fo obtain a new attorney. /d. On December 19, 2016, Petitionef's attorney filed a '

Petitioner was unable to contact her attorney after the AJ's September 9, 2016 decisigr{T :

memorandum in support of the Petitioner's initial letter and the Agency argued that the

Petitioner's appeal was untimely. 4. On July 11, 2017, the OEA incorreotly. held that the
Petitioner's October 18, 2016 letter was not a Petition for Review and the OEA lacked authority
to grant an extension to file Petitioner's extension. /4. at 10.

Petitioner hereby files this Petition for Review of the OEA’s Opinion and Order on
Remand issﬁed on Jnly 11, 2017, which found the Petitioner's October 18, 2016 letter was not a

Petition for Review.

Address of Respondent Agency or Official;

D.C. Office of Employee Appeals
1100 4th Street, SW, Suite 620 East
Washington, DC 20024-4451

Metropolitan Police Department
300 Indiana Avenue, NW, Room 4125
Washington, DC 20001
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I hereby certify that on this 9th day of August 2017 a copy of the foregoing was served

on the following by first-class mail:

|

Karl A. Racine

Frank McDougald

Office of the Attorney General
441 4th Street, NW, Suite 1100S

Washington, D.C. 20001 o i_ .

Sheree L. Price, Chair

D.C. Office of Employee Appeals
1100 4th St SW, Suite 620 East i.
Washington, DC 200244451 ‘s

Ronald Harris, Esq.
Metropolitan Police Department
300 Indiana Avenue, NW, Room 4125

Washington, DC 20001 - 1

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ David A. Branch
David A. Branch
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Notice: This decision may be formally revised before it is published in the District of Columbia
Register and the Office of Employee Appeals’ website. Parties should promptly notify the |
Office Manager of any formal errors so that this Office can correct them before publishing the
- decision. This notice is not intended to provide an opportunity for a substantive challenge to the |

decision.
THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
BEFORE
THE OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS
R e T ¥ .
; )
GINA VAUGHN, )
Employee )
) OEA Matter No.: 2401-0020-12R16
v. )
' ) Date of Issuance: July 11, 2017
METROPOLITAN POLICE )
DEPARTMENT, )
Agency )
)
OPINION AND ORDER
ON REMAND

; This case was previously before the Office of Employee Appeals’ (“OEA”) Board. Gina
Vaughn (“Employee”) worked as a Computer Specialist with the Metropolitan Police
Department (“Agency”). On September 14, 2011, Agency notified Employee that she was being
separated from her position pursnant to a Reduction-in-Force (“RIF”). The effctive date of the
RIF was October 14, 2011.

Employee filed a Pefition for Appeal with the OEA on November 10, 2011. Fn her appeal,
Emi:loyee argued that Agency imbmperly conducted the RIF because it was not initiated for the
purpose of thc budget, realignment, or reorganization as required under Title 6, § 2401 of the
D.C. Municipal Regulations (D.C.MR.).! She also stated that Agency failed to take steps to

! Petition for Appeal (November 10, 2011).
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minimize the adverse impacts that the RIF would have on affected employees.” Agency filed its '

answer to the Petition for Appeal on December 13, 2011. It denied the allegations presentedvi_n
Employee’s appeal and requested that an evidentiary hearing be held.? |

‘ The AJ issued an Initial Decision (“ID) on December 11, 2014. He held that Employee’s
sepaxation. from service was based on inaccurate documents. Specifically, the AJ provided that at

the time of the RIF, Employee’s official position of record was a Computer Specialist, CS-334-

as DS-0034-12-10-N. Therefore, the AJ. concluded that Employee was improperly separated
from service from a position that she did not officially occupy. Consequently, Agency’s RIF
action was reversed, and E@loyee was ordered to be remstated with back pay and benefits.*
Agency ﬁied a Petition for Review with OEA’s Board on January 15, 2015. It argued that
the AJ should have afforded it an opportunity to provide a response regarding the discrepancies
in 'Erﬁployee’s RIF documents. According to Agency, Employee did not submit ‘a brief or
response brief as was dircoted in the AF’s October 22, 2014 order. Thus, it was unsble to respond
~ to any of Employee’s arguments that were referenced by the AJ in his Tnitial Decision. Agency
posited that if it had been given an opportunity to respond, it could have presented evidence to
prove that any differences between the retention register and Employee’s SF-50 constituted a
harmless error. It further contended that the AJ’s failure to allow a response to the “discrepancy
issue” should result in the Initial Decision being reversed. In the slternative, Agency requested

" that the matter be remanded for further proceedings.’

A

3 dgency Answer to Petition for Appedl, p. 1 (December 13, 2011).

4 Initial Decision (December 11, 2014). Employee’s position of record on the SF-50 is listed as a DS-334-12, Step 8.
The AJ incorrectly listed the position as a CS-0334-12,

3 Petition for Review (January 15, 2015).
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In response, E@on% contended that the AJ correctly held that Agency committed a
reversible error when it included her in the incorrect compe(mvc level. According to Employes,
Agency should have allowed her to compete in the DS-0334-12-10-N level, and not the DS-
0334-12-07 level. Employee also posited that her termination was improper because the
Administrative Crder that authorized the RIF did not identify her position number as one that
would be eliminated. Accordingly, she requested that the OEA Board uphold the Initial Decision.

- In the alternative; she asked that the matter be remanded fo the AT for the prirpose of correcting
the mistake of fact and to rule on the adﬂiﬁonal facts and evidence presented.®
The OEA Board issued its Opinion and Order on Petition for Review on May 10, 2016. It
ﬁrstprowded that the AJ erred by not‘affording Agency an opportunity to address any of
Employee’s material allegations pertinent to the RIF. Of note, Agency was not given a chance to
provide an cxplémaﬁon regarding the discrepancies and inaccaracies that the AJ used as a basis
for reversing the RIF aétion. In addition, the Board determined that the AJ made a mistake of
fact in finding that the “07” designation in Employee’s Competitive Level DS-0334-12-07-N
designation referred to a step in the pay scale grafie instead of the actual position description. As
amult,them&_ttawasfe:ﬁandedto the AJ for fuarther proceedings to determine whether
Employee wés piaced in the correct competitive level and whether the inconsistencies in the RIF
documents constituted a reversible error.”
On remand, the AJ ordered the parties to submit briefs addressing the issues enumerated
in the Opinion and Order on Petition for Review.® Agency filed a Remand Brief in Support of

. Reduction-in-Force on July 29, 2016. It reiterated that Employee was placed in the correct

Opposzzxon toAgmcy ‘s Petition for Review (February 19, 2015).

Opmzan and Order on Petition for Review (May 10, 2016).

¥ Order Requesting Briefs (May 27, 2016). Thepmhmsubsequanﬂyreqmtedanextenswnofumcmwhmhtoﬁle
briefs. The request was granted by the AJ and the deadline to submit briefs and optional response brefs was

extended until Augast 23, 2016.
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- competitive level, Computer Specialist, DS-0334-12-07-N. Agency further clarified that the
remntiqn regiéte.r it created included five factorsfidentifiers that represented Employee’:;
competitive level, also known as a Competitive Level Code (“CLC”). speciﬁeaﬁy, Agency
provided that tﬁe CLC consisted of the pay plan; classification series of the position included on
the retention register; grade level of the position; numerical designator for the position; and

whether the poéiﬁon was supervisory or non-supervisory. Agency conceded that the docoments

~—of record reflected 2 slight” discrepancy in Employee’s CLC." However, it opined that the
differences did ot constituté a reversible error. Thus, Agency argued that ifs RIF action should
be upheld becanse Employee was separated from service in accordance with all applicable
statutes and regﬁlaﬂdns. 10
On August 1, 2016, Employee’s former attorney, Leslie Deak, filed a Brief in Response
to the Remand Order Opposing the RIF. She submitted that Employee’s correct position at the
time of the R]F was Computer Specialist, DS-0334-12-10-N, not DS-0334-12-07-N. Attorney
Deak further stated that Agency’s mistake constituted a reversible error becanse Employee was
- working under é position description that was designated for a competitive level different than
the one in which she was placed. In addition, she contended that the Administrative Order did
not include her position number as one to be eliminated undcr the RIF. Accordingly, attorney
Deak reasoned that but for Agency’s errors, Employee would not have been separated from
service xmderihékm As a result, she asked that Agency’s RIF action be reversed.’!
Agency filed a Reply to Employee’s Brief‘in Response to the Remand Order Opposing

the RIF on August 19, 2016. It emphasized that the inconsistencies in the RIF documents

? The CLC on Agency’s retention register stated that Employee’s position was Computer Specialist, DS-0334-12-
07-N. Whereas, Employee’s RIF notice reflecied a position of DS-0334-12-10-N.

 dgency’s Remand Brief in Support of Reduction-in-Force (July 29, 2016).

" Employee Vaughn's Brief in Response to the Remand Order Opposing the RIF (August 1, 2016).
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constituted a harmless error. Agency further stated that the position number on Employee’s RIF
documents was correctly listed as 00013015.12

The AJ issued his Initial Decision on Remand on September 9, 2016. He highlighted
Chapter 6B, Section 2410.4 of the D.C. Municipal Regulations (“DCMR”), which provides that a
competitive level shall encompass only those positions that are of the same grade and
classification series and which are sufficiently alike in qualification requirements, duties, and

responsibilities. According to the AJ, a competitive level is the grouping of positions with the
same classification series and grade; whereas, the CLC is used to identify the positions that are in
the group. Based on the evidence submitted by the parties, the AJ determined that Employee was
placed in the correct competitive level. He further concluded that Employee’s CLC at the time of
the RIF was Computer Specialist, DS-0334-12-07-N, as the fourth identifier was a nunerical
designator for the position description that was established to differentiate her duties and
responsibilities from the significantly different duties of other Computer Specialist (0334-12)
positions. In addition, the AJ provided that the inconsistencies in the RIF documents constituted
a harmless error because they did not significantly affect Agency’s final decision to separate
Employee ﬁ'om service. Therefore, the AJ reversed his previous ruling and upheld Agency’ sRIF
action on remand.®

On October 18, 2016, Employee filed a Request for Extension of Time to File a Brief

with OEA. In her request, Employee stated that she made several attempts to contact her attorney

of record, Leslie Deak, to determine whether a brief was filed on her behalf conceming the

2 dgency’s Reply to Employee Vaughn's Brief in Response to the Remand Order Opposing the RIF (August 19,
2016). Employee’s attorney filed a Remand Reply Brief Opposing the RIF on August 23, 2013, wherein she
reiterated her previous arguments concerning Agency’s alleged harmful and reversible errors. Agency filed Errata
on Angust 30, 2016 to correct a mistake on page 3 of its Jaly 29, 2016, anandBn&'mSnpportofRedncuon—m—

Force.
uliutmlDecmanoanaand(Septnmba9 2016).
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ontstandingiésxm on remand. To avoid a dismissal of her appeal, Employee requested an
additional week in Which‘ to file her brief.™* On October 27, 2016, Employee filed a second letter
titled “Abandonment by Attomey: Request for Leave to Obtain Atiomey & Further [Extend
Time] to File Brief-Memorandum on Pending Issues on Remand.” Employee stated that she was
msuéc&sﬁﬂiﬁeﬁdﬁngmupdatemgmdingthesﬁh:sofherpmdingappmlmremmd from
her attorney. Thus, she requested leave to find new oolmseltorepresentherbefbre OEA.IS

~On December 19, 2016, Employee s newlyretaned attomey, Stephen Leckar filed a
Motion for Leave to Submit Memorandum in Support of Petition for Review of Initial Decision,
wherein he asserts that Employee submitted a timely pro se letter to OEA after being abandoned
by ber previous attorney. According fo attormney Leckar, the letter should be considered as a
“nascent” Petition for Reviéw. Additionally, he seeks leave to submit a brief in support of
Employee’s argument that the AJ failed to address her claim that her competitive level should
have included a fellow DS-12 Computer Specialist in her office who had significantly less
seniority. Therefore, Employee’s attorney requests leave to supplement the previously submitted
letters and to explaiti why the AJ failed to address a dispositive maiter of law that was timely
raised before the AL

In response, Agency argues that Employee’s letter requesting an extension of time to file
a brief on remand does not constitute a Petition for Review. It further states that the issue raised
in Employee’s Motlon for Leave reéaxding the inclusion of another Computer Specialist in her
competitive level was previously decided in the AJ’s December 11, 2014 Initial Decision. As a

result, Agency asks this Board to dismiss Employee’s motion. Altematively, it opines that if the

" 1+ Motion for Extension of Time to File Brief (October 18, 2016).
LetterRequesﬁngLeave to Obtain New Counsel (October 27, 2016).
16 Motion for Leave to Submit Memorandum in Support of Petition for Review of Initial Decision (December 19,

2016).
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Board considers Employee’§ filing as a Petition for Review, her argmﬁent regarding the
establishment of her competitive level should not be considered because the issue was already
adjudicated by the AJ.Y

The Mld issue to be decided by this Board is whether Employee’s October 18, 2016
letter to OEA can be reasonsbly interpreted as a timely Pefition for Rewew OEA Rule 633.1

provides that a party wishing to file a Peﬁuon for Review with OEA must do so within thirty-

five calendar days, including lmhdays and weekends, of ﬂle issuance date of the Initial Decision.
Under OEA Rule 607 4, filing of a petition for appeal and a petition for review must be made by
personal delivery at the Office during normal business hours, Monday through Friday, or by mail
addro;ssed to theFOfﬁce. In accordance with OEA Rule 633.3, a Petition for Review must present

one of the following arguments for it to be granted. Specifically, the rule provides:

' The petition for review shall set forth cbjections to the initial

decision supported by reference to the record. The Board may

- grant a Petition for Review when the petition establishes that:

(a) New and material evidence is available that, despite due
diligence, was not available when the record closed;

(b) The decision of the Administrative Judge is based on an
erroncous interpretation of statute, regulation or policy;

(c) The findings of the Administrative Judge are not based
on substantial evidence; or

(d) The initial decision did not address all material issues
. of law and fact properly raised in the appeal. -

In this case, Employee’s letter, titled “Request for Extension of Time to File Brief”

stated the following in pertinent part:

17 Agency’s-Opposition to Motion for Leave to Submit Memorandum in Support of Petition for Review of Initial
Decision (January 26, 2017). Employee filed a Reply t0 Agency's Opposition to Motion for Leave to Submit
Memorandum in Support of Petition for Review of Initial Decision on February 2, 2017, wherein she claims that she
could have filed an appropriate petition with this Board if she had been made aware of the filing requirements by the
AJ or OEA’s Executive Director. Employee filed a Notice of Supplemental Authority on February 15, 2017.
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“Dear Ms. Barfield and Judge Lim. A month ago, the Office of
Employee Appeals (OBA) Board remanded my appeal to Judge Lim
for additional findings. Briefs on Remand were due to be filed with
Judge Lim no later than today....

I have made several attempts to contact my Attorney of Record, Ms.
Leslie Deak, to determine whether her brief was filed today, the due

date. I have been unsuccessful in reaching her today. As of this
morning, checking with your Office Manager, there is no
confirmation that she was filed with Judge Lim, any of the
documents referenced in the order.

Lim and the OFEA grant a week’s extension of the deadline to
comply with the Order to brief the remaining issues in my case....”
(emiphasis added).

This Board does not believe that Employee’s letter was intended as a Petition for Review
of the Imtml Decision on Remand. Rather, Employee was attempting to determine whether her
attorney ﬁléd a Brief on Remand in a timely manner. The language of Employee’s lettet was
clear: to request an extension of time to file a brief to avoid dismissal of her appeal. Contrary to
Employee’s argument, there is no indication that this submission was meant to serve as a pro se
Petition for Review, as the letter made no reference to the Initial Decision on Rez;mnd and
provided no basis for grantmg a petition as provided in OEA Rule 633.3. Moreover, Employee
provides no credible basis o support a finding that the AT and/or OEA”s Execufive Director were
required to mfoml her of the need to file a Petition for Review after being apprised of
Employee’s “plight.”'® Accordingly, we are unpersuaded by Employee’s argument that her letter

to OEA constituted a Petition for Review.

B should be noted that Employee’s previous attomey, Leslie Deak, submitted a Brief in Response to the Remand
Order Opposing the RIF on Angust 1, 2016 and a2 Remand Reply Brief Opposing the RIF on August 23, 2016.
While it is unfortunate that she failed to communicate with Employee regarding the statns of the remand and the
filing deadlines, the record shows that atiomey Deak adequately adhered to the AY’s briefing schedule, Accordingly,
Employee was in compliance with the AJ’s Order on Remand.
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Eve;l if we were to unreasonably construe Employee’s letter as a Petition for Review, it :
was nonetheless filed in an untimely manner. Under OEA Rule 633.1, Employee was required to
file a Petition for Review within ﬂﬁ:ty-ﬁve calendar days of the issuance date of the Initial
Decision on Remand. The péﬁﬁon could not be submitted via email or facsimile.!” Thus, when |

OEA received Employee’s letter via U.S. Mail on October 18, 2016, the thirty-five day period

bad passed Furthermore, D.C. Official Code § 1-606.03(c) provides that “...the initial

decision. ..shall become final 35 days after issuance, unless a party files a petition for review of
the initial decision with the Office within the 35.day filing period.” The D.C. Court of Appeals
held in‘ District of Columbia Public Employee Relations Board v. District of Columbia
Metropolitaﬁ Police Department, 593 A.2d 641 (D.C. 1991), that “the time limits for filing
appeals with administrative agencies, as with courts, are maﬁdatory and chﬁmd matters.”
Therefore, OEA has consistently held that the Pefition for Roview filing 'feq.ﬁrme.nt is
méndatory in nature.?’

Lastly, Employee’s ourrenIA attomés" has filed a Motion for Leave to Submit a
Memorandum in Support of Petition for Review of Initial Decision. He requests leave to
supplement Employee’s letter and explain why the AJ failed to address a dispositive matter that
was raised on Petition for Appeal. However, in Shalondé Smith v. D.C. Fire and Emergency
Medicaé Services Department, OEA Matter Nﬁ. 1601-0195-11, Opinion and Order on Petitio;z
for Review (March 3, 2015), this Board held that it Iacks the authority to grant any requests for

19 See OEA Rule 607.4 supra.
® Alfred Gurley v. D.C. Public Schools, OEA Matter No. 1601-0008-05, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review

(April 14, 2008), James Davis v. Department of Human Services, OEA. Matter No. 1601-0091-02, Opinion and
Order on Petition for Review (October 18, 2006); Damond Smith v. Office of the Chief Financial Officer, OEA
Matter No. J-0063-09, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review (December 6, 2010); Jason Codling v. Office of '
the Chief Technology Officer, OEA Matter No. J-0151-09, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review (December 6,
2010); Dametrius McKenny v. D.C. Public Schools, OEA Matter No. 1601-0207-12, Opinion and Order on Petition
Jor Review (February 16, 2016); and Carolyn Reynolds v. D.C. Public Schools, OBA Matter No. 1601-0133-11,

~ Opirion and Order on Petition for Review (May 10, 2016). .
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extensions for filing Petitions for Review. While Employee’s attomey attempts to distingnish the
facts in Smith from those in the instant matter, the premise the same. There are no rules or
regulations which bestow on this Board the ability to rule on motions for extensions
Furthermore, Employee fails to provide a credible legal basis to support her position that this
Board has the authority to grant a motion for an extension of time in which to file a Petition for

Review. As a result, her motion must be denied.*!

R Basea on the foregoing, this Board does tiot interpret Employee’s October 18 2016 letter
to be aPetmonforRever In addition, we lack the authority to grant arequwtforan extension
of time in which to file a Pefition for Review Consequently, Employee’s Motion for Leave to

Submit a Memorandum in Support of Petition for Review of Initial Decision must be denied.

2'Employett s attorney secks leave to submit a brief in support of Employee’s argument that the AJ failed to address
her claim that her competitive level should have included another DS-12 Computer Specialist who had significantly
less seniority. However, the AJ addressed this issue in his December 11, 2014 Initial Decision. Employee argued
that Agency violated District Personnel Manual Section 2423.1(b) when it included only Computer Specialist, Zach
Gamble, and not Karim Alaoul, and the vacant Grade 12 Information Technology Specialist positions, in her
competitive level. Specifically, Employee alleged that she should have been allowed to compete for the Grade 12
Information Technology Specialist position held by Karimi Alaoul, as well as four vacant positions. The AJ held
that Employee failed to provide any evidence regarding Karimi Alaoul’s position of record to prove that he should
have been included in her compefitive level. In addition, the AJ provided that Employec failed to cite to any statuts,
regulation, or rule to bolster her contention that even vacant positions should be included in the establishment of a
competitive level. Thos, pursnant to OEA Rule 632.1, the AJ’s previous ruling regarding whether Employee’s
oompeuuvelevelwasconacﬂyamhhshcdbwamnﬁnalthrty—ﬁwdaysaﬂathemmnoeofﬂlelnmngecxm
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ORDER
Accordingly, it is hereby ordered that Employee’s filing is DENIED.
FOR THE BOARD:
. - ShaceL Prics, Chatr ——

T . Mﬁ—

Vera M. Abbott 2

fithoe Wuzw

Patricia Hobson Wilson

O, Wity

P. Victoria Williams

Either party may appeal this decision on Petition for Review to the Superior Coutt of the District
of Columbia. To file a Petition for Review with the Superior Court, the peﬁﬁomng party should
consult Supenor Court Civil Prooedure Rules, XV. Agency Review, Rule 1.
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ADDENDUM TO INITIAL ORDER AFFECTING
ALL MEDICAL MALPRACTICE CASES

In accordance with the Medical Malpracuce Prooeedmgs Act of 2006, D.C. Code § 16-2801
et seq. (2007 Winter Supp ). "[alfter an action is filed in the court against a healthcare pmwder
alleging medical malpractice, the court shall require the parties to enfer into mediation, without
discovery or, if all parties agreef,] with only limited discovery that will not interfere with ﬁle
completion of mediation within 30 days of ‘the Inifial Scheduling and Seftlement Conference
("ISSC"), prior to any further htlgauon in an effort to reach a settlement agreement. The early
mediation schedule shall be included in the Scheduling Order following the ISSC. Unless all
parties agree, the stay of discovery shall not be more than 30 days after the ISSC."
D.C. Code § 16-2821. |

To ensure compliance with this legislation, on or before the date of the ISSC, the Court_wiIL I
" totify all aftorneys and pro se parties of the date and time of the early mediation session and the -
name of the assigned mediator. Information about the early mediation date also is available over
the internet at hitps://www:dccourts.gov/pa/. To facilitate this process, all counsel and pro se.
parties in every medical malpractice case are required to confer, jointly complete and sign an
EARLY MEDIATION FORM, which must be filed no later than ten (10) calendar days prior to the
ISSC. Two separate Early Mediation Forms are available. Both forms may be obtained at
www.dccourts.gov/medmalmediation. One form is to be used for early mediation with a mediator
from the multi-door medical malpractice mediator roster; the second form is to be used for early '
mediation with a private mediator. Both forms. also are available in the Multi-Door Dispute.
- Resolution Office, Suite 2900, 410 E Street, N.W. Plaintiff's counsel is responsible for eFiling the
form and is required to e-mail a courtesy copy to earlymedmal@dcsc.gov. Pro se Plaintiffs whd
elect not to eFile may file by hand in the Multi-Doar Dispute Resolution Office. !

A roster of medical malpractice mediators available through the Court's. Multi-Door stpute
Resolution Division, with biographical information about each mediator, can be found at
www.dccourts. gov/medmalmediation/mediatorprofiles. All individuals. on the roster are judges or
lawyers with at least 10 years of significant experience in medical malpractice htlganon'-
D.C. Code § '16-2823(a). If the parties cannot agree on a mediator, the Court will appoint one.
D.C, Code § 16-2823(h). |

The foﬂowmg persots are required by statute to attend personally the Eatly Mediation, *
Conference: (l) all parties; (2) for parhes that are not individvals, a representative with settlement|
authority; (3) in cases inwvolving an insurance company, a representatlve of the company w1th.?j

- settlement authority; and (4) attorneys representing each party with primary responsibility for the
case. D.C. Code§ 16-2824. )

No later than ten (10) days after the early mediation session has terminated, Plaintiff must:
eFile with the Court a report prepared by the mediator, including a private mediator, regarding: (1),
attendance; (2) whether a settlement was reached; or, (3) if a settlement was not reached, any
agreements to narrow the scope of the dispute, limit discovery, facilitate future settlement, hold’
another mediation session, or otherwise reduce the cost and time of trial preparation.
D.C. Code§ 162826, Any Plantiff who is pro se may elect to file the report by hand with the Civil
Clerk's Office.  The forms to be used for early mediation reports are available ati
www.dccourts.gov/medmalmediation,

Chief Judge Robert E  Morin

Caio.doc
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Notice: This decision may be formally revised before it is published in the District of Columbia
Register and the Office’ of Employee Appeals’ website. Parties should promptly notify the
Office Manager of any formal errors so that this Office can correct them before publishing the

- decision. This notice is not intended to provide an opportunity for a substantive challenge to the
decision.

THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
BEFORE

THE OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS

. In the Matter of:

)
| )
GINA VAUGHN, )
Employee )

) OEA Matter No.: 2401-0020-12R16
v. )

) Date of Issuance: July 11, 2017
METROPOLITAN POLICE )
DEPARTMENT, )
Agency )
)
OPINION AND ORDER
ON REMAND

This case was previously before the Office of Employee Appeals’ (“OEA”) Board. Gina.
- Vaughn (“Employee””) worked as a Computer Specialist with the Metropoliian Police
Department (“Agency™). On September 14, 2011, Agency notified Employee that she Wés being
separated from her position pursuant to.a Reduction-in-Force (“RIF™). The effective date of the
RIF was October 14, 201 1-.

Employee filed a Petition for Appeal with the OEA on November 10, 2011. In her appeal,
Employee argued that Agency improperly conducted the RIF because it was not initiated for the
purpose of the budget, r@h‘gnmcnt, or reorganization as required under Title 6, § 2401 of the

D.C. Municipal Regulations (D.C.M.R.)." She also stated that Agency failed to take steps to

! Petition for Appeal (November 10, 2011).
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minimize the adverse impacts that the RIF would have on affected employees.? Agency filed its '
answer to the Petition for Appeal on December 13, 2011. It denied the allegations presented in
Employee’s appeal and requested that an evidentiary hearing be held.?

The AJ issued an Initial Decision (“ID) on December 11, 2014. He held that Employee’s |
separation from service was based on inaccurate documents. Specifically, the AJ provided that at
the time of the RIF, Exhployee’s official position of record was a Computer Specialist, CS-334-
12, Step 8. However, Agency’s Septemb& 14, 2011 RIF notification listed her competitive level
as DS-OO34-12-10-N. Therefore, the AJ concluded that Employee was improperly separated
from service from a position that she did not officially occupy. Consequently, Agency’s RIF
action was reversed, and Emialoyee was ordered to be reinstated with back pay and benefits.*

Agency filed a Petition for Review with OEA’s Board on January 15? 2015. It argued that
the AJ should have afforded it an opportunity to provide a response regarding the discrepancies |
in Employee’s RIF documents. According to Agency, Employee did not submit a brigf or
response brief as was directed in the AJ’s October 22, 2014 order. Thus, it wés unable to respond
to any of Employee’s arguments that were referenced by the AJ in his Initial Decision. Agency
posited that if it had been given an opportunity to respond, it could have presented evidence to
prove that any differences between the retention register and Employée’s SF-50 constituted a
harmless error. It further contended that the AJ’s failure to allow a response to the “discrepancy
issue” should result in the Initial Decision being reveréed. In the alternative, Agency requested

that the matter be remanded for further proceedings.’

’H.

3 Agency Answer to Petition for Appeal, p. 1 (December 13, 2011).

4 Initial Decision (December 11, 2014). Employee’s position of record on the SF-50 is listed as a DS-334-12, Step 8.
The AJ incorrectly listed the position as a CS-0334-12. ‘

* Petition for Review (January 15, 2015).
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In response, Em;;loyee contended that the AJ correctly held that Agency committed a
reversible error when it included her in the incorrect competitive level. Accbrding to Employee,
Agency shoﬁld havé allowed her to compete in the DS-O334-12-10-N level, and not the DS-
0334-12-07 level. Employee also posited that her termination was improper because the
Administrative Order that authorized the RIF did not identify her position number as .one that -
would be eliminated. Accordingly, she requested that the OEA Board uphold the Initial Decision.
In the alternative, she asked that the matter be remanded to the AJ for the purpose of correcting
the mistake of fact an;i to rule on the additional facts and evidence presented.®

The OEA Board issued its Opinion and Order on Petition for Review on May 10, 2016. It
first provided that the AJ emred by not affording Agency an opportunity to address any of
Employee’s material allegations pertinent to the RIF. Of note, Agency was not given a chan.ce to
provide an explanation regarding the discrepancies and inaccuracies that the AJ used as a basis
for reversing the RIF action. In addition, the Board determined that the AJ made a mistake of
fact in ﬁnding that the “07” designation in Employee’s Competitive Level DS-0334-12-07-N
designation referred to a step in the pay scale grafie instead of the actual position description. As
a result, the matter was remanded to the AJ for further proceedings to determine whether
Employee was placed in the correct competitive level and whether the inconsistencies in the RIF
documnents constituted a reversible error.’ |

On remand, the AJ ordered the parties to submit briefs addressing the issues enumerated
in the Opinion and Order on Petition for Review.® Agency filed a Remand Brief in Support of

Reduction-in-Force on July 29, 2016. It reiterated that Employee was placed in the correct

6 Opposition to Agency’s Petition for Review (February 19, 2015).

” Opinion and Order on Petition Jfor Review (May 10, 2016).

8 Order Requesting Briefs (May 27, 2016). The parties subsequently requested an extension of time in which to file
briefs. The request was granted by the AJ and the deadline to submit briefs and optional response briefs was
extended until August 23, 2016, .
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competitive. level, Computer Specialist, DS—0334-12;O7-N. Agency further clarified that the
retention register it created included five factors/identifiers that represented Employee’s
compeﬁtive‘ level, also known as a Competitive Level Code (“CLC”). Specifically, Agency
provided that the CLC consisted of the pay plan; classification series of the position included on
the retention register; grade level of the position; numerical designator for the position; and
whether the position was supervisory or non-supervisory. Agency conceded that the documents
of record reflected a slight discrepancy in Employee’s CLC.> However, it opined that the
differences d1d not constitute a reversible error. Thus, Agency argued that its RIF action should
bé upheld because Employee was separated from service in accordance with all applicable
statutes and regulations. '

On August 1, 2016, Emiployee’s former attorney, Leslie Deak, filed a Brief in Response
to the Remand Order Opposing the RIF. She submitted that Employee’s correct position at the
time of the RIF was Computer ﬁecialist, DS-0334-12-10-N, not DS-0334-12-07-N. Attorney
Deak further stated that Agency’s mistake constituted a reversible error because Employee was
working under a position description that was designatéd for a competitive level different than
the one in which she was placed. In addition, she contended that the Administrative Order did
not include her position number as one to be eliminated under the RIF. Accordingly, attorney
Deak reasoned that but for Agency’s errors, Employee would not have been separated from
service under the RIF. As a result, she asked that Agency’s RIF action be reversed.!!

Agexicy filed a Reply to Employee’s Brief lin Response to the Remand Order Opposing

the RIF on August 19, 2016. It emphasized that the inconsistencies in the RIF documents

® The CLC on Agency’s retention register stated that Employee’s position was Computer Specialist, DS-0334-12-
07-N. Whereas, Employse’s RIF notice reflected a position of DS-0334-12-10-N.

'* Agency’s Remand Brief in Support of Reduction-in-Force (July 29, 2016).

" Employee Vaughn's Brief in Response to the Remand Order Opposing the RIF (August 1, 2016).
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~ constituted a harmless error. Agency further stated that the position number on Employee’s RIF
documents was correctly listed as 00013015.12

The Al issued his Initial Decision on Remand on September 9, 2016. He highlighted
Chapter 6B, Section 2410.4 of the D.C. Municipal Regulaﬁons_("‘DCMR” , which provides that a
competitive level shall encompass only those positions that are of the same grade and
classification series and which are sufﬁciehtly alike in quaiiﬁcation requirements, duties, and
responsibilities. According to the AJ, a competitive level is the grouping of positions with the
same classification series and grade; whereas, the .CLC is used to identify the positions that are in
the group. Based on thf: evidence submitted by the parties, the AJ determined that Employee was
placed in the correct competitive level. He further concluded that Employee’s CLC at the time of
the RIF was Computer Specialist, DS8-0334-12-07-N, as the fourth identifier was a numerical
designator for the position description that was established to differentiate her duties and
responsibilities from the significantly different duties of other Computer Spc.:cialist (0334-12)
positions. In addition, the AJ provided that the inconsistencies in the RIF documents constituted
a harmless error because they did not significantly affect Agency’s final decision to separate
Employeé from service. Therefore, the AJ reversed his previous ruling and upheld Agency’s RIF
action on remand. " |

On October 18, 2016, Employee filed a Request for Extension of Time to File a Brief
with OEA. In her request, Employee stated that she made several attempts to contact her attorney

of record, Leslie Deak, to determine whether a brief was filed on her behalf conceming the

Force.
'® Initial Decision on Remand (September 9, 2016).
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outstanding issues on remand. To avoid a dismissal of her appeal, Employee requested an
additional week in which to file her brief.™ On October 27, 2016, Employee filed a second letter
titled “Abandonment by Attorney: Request for Leave to Obtain Attorney & Further [Extend
-Time] to File Brief-Memorandum on Pending Issues on Remand.” Employee stated that she was
unsuccessful in eiiciting an update regarding the status of her pending appeal on remand from
her attorney. Thus, she requested leave to find new counsel to represent her before OEA. '

On December 19, 2016, Employee’s newly-retained attorney, Stephen Leckar, filed a
Motion for Leave to Submit Memorandum in Support of Petition for Review of Initial Decision,
wherein he asserts that Employee submitted a timely pro se letter to OEA after being abandoned
by her previous attorney. Acconiiﬂg to attorney Leckar, the letter should be considered as a

‘nascent” Petition fof Review. Additionally, he seeks leave to submit a brief in support of
Employee’s argument that the AJ failed to address her claim @t her co:ﬁpetitive level should
have'included a fellow DS-12 Computer Specialist in her office who had significantly less
seniority. Therefore, Employee’s attorney requests leave to supplement the previously submitted
letters and to explain why the AJ failed to address a dispositive matter of law that was timely
raised before the AJ.!® .

In response, Agency argues that Employee’s letter requesting an extension of time to file
a brief on remand does not constitute a Petition for Review. It further states that the issue raised
in Employee’s Motion for Leave regarding the inclusion of another Computer Specialist in her
competitive level was previously decided in the AJ’s December 11, 2014 Initial Decision. As a

result, Agency asks this Board to dismiss Employee’s motion. Alternatively, it opines that if the

1 Monon Jor Extension of Time to File Brief (October 18, 2016).

Letter Requesting Leave to Obtain New Counsel (October 27, 2016).
16 Motion Jor Leave to Submit Memorandum in Support of Petition Jor Review of Initial Decision (December 19,
2016). :
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Board considers Employee’é filing as a Petition for Review, her argument regarding the
establishment of her competitive level should not be considered because the issue was already
adjudicated by the AJ.!?
The threshold issue to be decided by this Board is whether Employee’s October 18, 2016
letter to OEA can be reasonably interpreted as a timely Petition for Review. OEA Rule 633.1
provides that a party wishing to file a Petition for Review with OEA mﬁst do so within thirty-
five calendar days, including holidays and weekends, of the issuance date of the Initial Decision.
Under OEA Rule 607.4, filing of a petition for appeal and a petition for review must be made by
personal delivery at the Office during poxmal business hours, Monday through Friday, or by mail
addressed to the Office. In accordance with OEA Rule 633.3, a Petition for Review must present
one of the following arguments for it to be granted. Specifically, the rule provides:
The petition for review shall set forth objections to the initial
decision supported by reference to the record. The Board may

grant a Petition for Review when the petition establishes that:

(2) New and material evidence is available that, despite due
diligence, was not available when the record closed;

(b) The decision of the Administrative Judge is based on an
erroneous interpretation of statute, regulation or policy;

(c) The findings of the Administrative Judge are not based
on substantial evidence; or

(d) The initial decision did not address all material issues
of law and fact properly raised in the appeal.

In this case, Employee’s letter, titled “Request for Extension of Time to File Brief,”

stated the following in pertinent part:

Y Agency’s Opposition to Motion for Leave to Submit Memorandum in Support of Petition for Review of Initial
Decision (Yaouary 26, 2017). Employee filed a Reply to Agency’s Opposition to Motion Jor Leave to Submit
Memorandum in Support of Petition for Review of Initial Decision on February 2, 2017, wherein she claims that she
could have filed an appropriate petition with this Board if she had been made aware of the filing requirements by the
AJ or OEA’s Executive Director. Employee filed a Notice of Supplemental Authority on Februoary 15, 2017.
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“Dear Ms. Barfield and Judge Lim. A month ago, the Office of
Employee Appeals (OEA) Board remanded my appeal to Judge Lim
for additional findings. Briefs on Remand were due to be filed with
Judge Lim no later than today.... :

I' have made several attempts to contact my Attorney of Record, Ms.
Leslie Deak, to determine whether her brief was filed today, the due
date. I have been unsuccessful in reaching her today. As of this
morning, checking with your Office Manager, there is no
confirmation that she was filed with Judge Lim, any of the
documents referenced in the order. :

Thus, to avoid dismissal of my appeal...I am requesting that Judge
Lim and the OEA grant a week's extension of the deadline to
comply with the Order to brief the remaining issues in my case...."”
(emphasis added).

This Board does riot believe that Employee’s letter was intended as a Petition for Review
of the Initial Decision on Remand. Rather, Employee was attempting to determine whether her
attorney filed a Brief on Remand in a timely manner. The language of Employee’s letter was
clear: to request an extension of time to file a brief to avoid dismissal of her appeal. Contrary to
Employee’s argument, there is no indication that this submission was meant to serve as a pro se
Petition for Review, as the letter made no reference to the Initial Decision on Remand and
provided no basis for granting a petition as provided in OEA Rule 633.3. Moreover, Employee
provides no credible basis to support a finding that the AJ and/or OEA’s Executive Director were
required to inform her of the need to file a Petition for Review after being apprised of
Employee’s “plight.”'® Accordingly, we are unpersuaded by Employee’s argument that her letter

to OEA constituted a Petition for Review.

** It should be noted that Employee’s previous attorney, Leslie Deak, submitted a Brief in Response to the Remand
Order Opposing the RIF on August 1, 2016 and a2 Remand Reply Brief Opposing the RIF on August 23, 2016.
While it is unfortunate that she failed to communicate with Employee regarding the status of the remand agnd the
filing deadlines, the record shows that attorey Deak adequately adhered to the AJ’s briefing schedule, Accordingly,
Employee was in compliance with the AT’s Order on Remand.
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Even if we were to unreasonably construe Employee’s letter as a Petition for Review, it
was nonetheless filed in an untimely manner. Under OEA Rule 633.1, Employee was required to
file a Petition for Review within thirty-five calendar days of the issuance date of the Initial
Decision on Remand. The petition could not be suﬁmitted via email or facsimile.'® Thus, when
OEA received Employee’s letter via U.S. Mail on October 18, 2016, the thirty-five day period
had passed. Furthermore, D.C. Official Code § 1-606.03(c) provides thaf “...the initial
decision...shall become final 35_ days after issuance, unless a party files a petition for review of
the initial decision with the Office within the 35-day filing period.” The D.C. Court of Appeals
held in District of Columbia Public Employee Relations Board v. District of Columbia |
Metropolitan Police Department, 593 A.2d 641 (D.C. 1991), that “the time limits for filing
appeals with administrative agencies, as with courts, are mandatory and jurisdictional matters.”
Therefore, OEA has consistently held that the Petition for Review filing requirement is
mandatory m nature.?’

Lastly, - Empioyee’s current attorney has filed a Motion for Leave to Submit a
Memorandum in Support of Petition for Review of Initial Decision. He requests leave to
supplement Employee’s letter and explain why the AJ failed to address a dispbsitive matter that
was raised dn Petition for Appeal. Howéver, in Shalonda Smith v. D.C. Fire and Emergency
Medical Services Department, OEA Matter No. 1601-0195-1 1, Opinion and Orde} on Petitio'n

Jor Review (March 3, 2015), this Board held that it lacks the authority to grant any requests for

19 See OEA Rule 607.4 supra.
2 glfred Gurley v. D.C. Public Schools, OEA Matter No. 1601-0008-05, Opinion and Order on Petition Jor Review
(April 14, 2008), James Davis v. Department of Human Services, OEA Matter No. 1601-0091-02, Opinion and
Order on Petition for Review (October 18, 2006); Damond Smith v. Office of the Chief Financial Officer, OEA.
Matter No. J-0063-09, Opinion and Order on Petition Jor Review (December 6, 2010); Jason Codling v. Office of
the Chief Technology Officer, OEA Matter No. J-0151-09, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review (December 6,
2010); Dametrius McKenny v, D.C. Public Schools, OEA Matter No. 1601-0207-12, Opinion and Order on Petition
Jor Review (February 16, 2016); and Carobm Reynolds v. D.C. Public Schools, OEA Matter No. 1601-0133-11,
Opinion and Order on Petition for Review (May 10, 2016).

!
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extensions for filing Petitions for Review. While Employee’s attorney attempts to distinguish the
facts in Smith from those in the instant matter, the premise the same. There are no rules or
regulations which besto\n" on this Board the .abilit_y to rule on motions for extensions.
Furthermore, Employee fails to provide a credible legal basis to support her position that this
Board has the aunthority to grant a.motion for an extension of time in which to file a Petition for
Review. As a result, her motion must be denie_d.21

Based on the foregoing, this Board does not interpret Employee’s October 18, 2016 letter
to be a Petition for Review. In addition, we lack the authority to grant a request for an extension
of time in which to file a Petition for Review. Consequently, Employee’s Motion for Leave to

Submit a Memorandum in Support of Petition for Review of Initial Decision must be denied.

*! Employee’s attorney seeks leave to submit a brief in support of Employee’s argument that the AJ failed to address
her claim that her competitive level should have included another DS-12 Computer Specialist who had significantly
less seniority. However, the AJ addressed this issue in his December 11, 2014 Initial Decision. Employee argued
that Agency violated District Personnel Manual Section 2423.1(b) when it included only Computer Specialist, Zach
Gamble, and not Karim Alacul, and the vacant Grade 12 Information Technology Specialist positions, in her
competitive level. Specifically, Employee alleged that she should have been allowed to compete for the Grade 12
Information Technology Specialist position held by Karimi Alaoul, as well as four vacant positions. The AJ held
that Employee failed to provide any evidence regarding Karimi Alaoul’s position of record to prove that he should
have been included in her competitive level. In addition, the AJ provided that Employee failed to cite to any statute,
regulation, or rule to bolster her contention that even vacant positions should be included in the establishment of a
competitive level. Thus, pursuant to OEA Rule 632.1, the AJs previous ruling regarding whether Employee’s
competitive level was comrectly established became final thirty-five days after the issuance of the Initial Decision.
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ORDER
Accordingly, it is hereby ordered that Employee’s filing is DENIED.

FOR THE BOARD:

W@ce

Sheree L. Price, Chair

Vera M. Abbott

Sohoiw tolom 1

Patricia Hobson Wilson

s Wikl

P. Victoria Williams

Either party may appeal this decision on Petition for Review to the Superior Court of the District
of Columbia. To file a Petition for Review with the Superior Court, the petitioning party should
consult Superior Court Civil Procedure Rules, XV. Agency Review, Rule 1. :
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

CIVIL DIVISION
In the matter of: )
)
PHILLIPPA MEZILE, )
2020 12th Street, NW, Apt. 416 )
Washington, DC 20009 )
' )
Petitioner, )
) L
) -
D.C. DEPARTMENT ON DISABILITY SERVICES, ) o] E:; =
250 E Street, SW ) LEZ N
Washington, DC 20024 ) X
, ) To =2
and ) o w
A ' ) PP .
D.C. OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS ) hadh
955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500 )
Washington, DC 20024 )
. )
Respondents. )
' )

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF AGENCY DECISION

Notice is hereby given that Petitioner Phillippa Mezile (“Petitioner Mezile”), by and
through counsel, appeals to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia from the District of
~ Columbia Office of Employee Appeals (“OEA”) Board Opinion and Order on Petition for
Review issued on the 22nd day of March, 2018. A copy of the Order sought to be reviewed is
attached to this petition as Exhibit A.

Petitioner Mezile worked as a Public Affairs Specialist with the Department on Disability
Services (the “Agency”), and the Agency informéd Petitioner Mezile that her position was being
abolished as a result of a Reduption—in—Force (“RIF”) on May 12, 2009. -Ex. A at 1. Petitioner

Mezile filed a Petition for Review with the D.C. Office of Employee Appeals (“OEA™), afguing

a3A1303¥



that the RIF violated District of Columbia laws, including by failing to provide her with the
requisite thirty-day written notice prior to the effective date of the RIF. Jd. The OEA dismissed
the Petition for Review, and Petitioner Mezile filed a Petition for Review with the D.C. Superior
Court on June 3, 2010. Id. at2. The D.C. Superior Court found tﬁat the OEA’s findings 'lackéd
substantial evidence. Specifically, the OEA failed to make a required finding supported by
substantial evidence regarding whether Petitioner Mezile received thirty days’ notice, whether
the general RIF statute, § 1-624.02 or the Abolishment Act, § 1-624.08 applied to the RIF, and
whether Petitioner Mezile had raised non-frivolous allegations challenging the RIF, including
whether the RIF was a sham. Accordingly, the matter was remanded to the OEA for further
coﬁsideration. Id at 2-3. In an Initial Decision on Remand issued on October 10, 2012, the
OEA found'that Petitioner Mezile did not receive thirty days’ notice of her termination pursuant
to a RIF in violation of D.C. Code § 1-624.08 and ordered the Agency reimburse her for four
days’ of back pay and benefits, totaling $1,807.46, as a result of the Agency’s failure to provide
the statutorily mandated notice. Id. at 4. On November 14, 2016, Petitioner Mezile filed a
Request for Compliance with the Initial Decision on Remand. /d. On January 6, 2017, the OEA
issued an Addendum Decision on Compliance finding that the Agency had comflied with the
Initial Decision on Remand. Id. at 5.

Petitioner Mezile filed a Petition for Attorney’s Fees and Cosfs with the OEA on
February 6, 2017, which requested attorney’s fees on behalf of Petitioner Mezile, as the
prevailing party. Id. The amount requested consisted §f attorneys’ fees for this office to perform
legal work before the OEA and the D.C. Superior Court, including efforts to collect the funds
owed to Petitioner Mezile. /d The OEA issued an Addendum Decision on Attorney’s Fees on

June 14, 2017, denying Petitioner’s request for attorneys’ fees and holding that Petitioner Mezile



only obtained a minimal amount of success and that the requested attorneys’ fees were
unreasonable and unwarranted in the interest of justice. Id. at 6. Petitioner Mezile filed a
Peﬁtion for Review of Addendum Decision on Attorney’s Fees with the OEA Board on July 19,
2017. Id. The OEA Board upheld the Addendum Decision denying Petitioner Mezile’s request
for attorneys’ fees and finding that although Petitioner Mezile was the prevailing party, she
received a limited degree of success and an award of attorneys’ fees was unwarranted in the
interest of justice. Id. at 12.

Petitioner Mezile hereby files this Petition for Review of the OEA Board’s March 22,
2018 Opinion and Order on Petition for Review, denying her petition for attorneys’ fees, despite

finding that she was the prevailing party.

Address of Respondent Agencies or Officials:

D.C. Office of Employee Appeals
955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
‘Washington, DC 20024

D.C. Department on Disability Services
250 E Street, SW
‘Washington, DC 20024

Names and addresses of parties or attorneys to be served:

Andrea Comentale, Esq.

Section Chief :
Personnel and Labor Relations Section
441 4th Street, NW, Suite 1180N
Washington, DC 20001

Karl A. Racine

Office of the Attorney General
441 4th Street, NW, Suite 1100S
Washington, D.C. 20001

Sheree L. Price, Chair



D.C. Office of Employee Appeals
1100 4th St SW, Suite 620 East
Washington, DC 20024-4451

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ David A. Branch .
David A. Branch, DC Bar # 438764
Law Office of David A. Branch and

Associates, PLLC

1828 L Street, NW, Suite 820
Washington, D.C. 20036
(202) 785.2805 phone
(202) 785.0289 fax
davidbranch@dbranchlaw.com




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I hereby cemfy that on this 18th day of April 2018 a copy of the foregoing was served on

the following by first-class mail:

Karl A. Racine

Office of the Attorney General
441 4th Street, NW, Suite 1100S
Washington, D.C. 20001

Sheree L. Price, Chair

D.C. Office of Employee Appeals
955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
Washington, DC 20024

Andrea Comentale, Esq.

Section Chief

Personnel and Labor Relations Section
441 4th Street, NW, Suite 1180N
Washington, DC 20001

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ David A. Branch
David A. Branch
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Notice: This decision may be formally revised before it is published in the District of Columbia
Register and the Office of Employee Appeals’ website. Parties should promptly notify the
Office Manager of any formal errors so that this Office can correct them before publishing the
decision. This notice is not intended to provide an opportunity for a substantive challenge to the
decision.

THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
BEFORE

THE OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS

" In the Matter of: )
)
PHILLIPPA MEZILE, ) OEA Matter No. 2401-0158-09R12AF17
Employee ' )
)
Vo ) Date of Issnance: March 22, 2018
3 .
DEPARTMENT ON )
DISABILITY SERVICES, )
Agency )
)
OPINION AND ORDER
' ON
PETITION FOR REVIEW

Phiﬂippa Mezile (“Employee™) worked as a Public Affairs Specialist with the
Department on Disability Services (“Agency’). On May 12, 2009, Agency informed Empioyee’
that her position was being abolished as a result of a Reduction-in-Force (f‘RIP";). The effective
date of the RIF was June 12, 2009. Employee filed a Petition for Appeal with the Office c.)f
Employee Appeals (“OEA”) on Jﬁly 10, 2009. She argued, infer alia, that the RIF violated
District of Columbia laws and that Agency failed to provide her with the requisite thirty-day
written notice prior to the effective date of the RIF.! In'i1s answer, Agency denied Employee’s
claims and provided that her position was abolished because of a shortage of funds for the 2010

fiscal year. Agency also contended that its RIF action complied with all applicable laws, rules,

! petition for Appeal (July 10, 200).
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and regulations.?

The OEA Admjm'straﬁ;re Judge (“AJ”) assigned to the matter held a prehearing
conference on March 24, 2010 The parties were subsequently ordered to submit briefs
addressing whether Agency’s RIF action should be upheld. The AJ issued an Initial Decision- on
April 2, 2010. He first noted that Agency issued an Administrative Order on April 23, 2009,
stating that several positions were ideﬁtiﬁed for aboﬁsﬁment as a result of realignment and a
shortage of funds for the 2010 fiscal year. Next, the AJ stated that D.C. Official Code § 1-624.08
was the ai)pﬁcable RIF statute and that Employee was limited to contesting whether she was
afforded one round of lateral competition and whether Agency provided her with thirty days’ |
written notice prior to the effective date of the RIF. Lastly, the AJ dismissed Employee’s
collateral arguments relating to discrimination and pre-RIF conditions. Consequently, Agency’s |
RIF action was upheld.* '

Employee disagreed with the AJ and filed a Petition for Review in D.C. Superior Court
on June 3, 2010. In her appeal, Employee argued that the AJ’s finding that she received thirty
days’ written notice was not based on substantial evidence; the AJ failed to address her claim
that the RIF was conducted under D.C. Official Code § 1-624.02, rath.er than D.C. Official Code
§ 1-624.08; the AJ failed to properly consider her argument that Agency viqlaied the RIF |
procedures; and the AJ failed to discuss whether the RIF was a sham because it was conducted
for disc;imiﬁatory reasons. In its Order, the Court agreed with the AJ’s conclusion that OEA was
the wrong vemue for adjudicating Employee’s discrimination claims. However, the Court
provided that the AJ should have made a finding pertinent to Employee’s claim that the RIF

action was a “sham” based on her arguments that were unrelated to discrimination, Accordingly,

% dgency’s Answer to Petition for Appeal (August 13, 2009).
* Order Scheduling a Prehearing Conference (February 25, 2010).
* Initial Decision (April 2, 2010).

/
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the matter was remanded to the AJ for f;n'ther consideration.’

The AJ held a status conference; on March 23, 2012. He subsequently issued an Initial
Decision on Remand on October 10, 2012. With respect to the appropriate statute to utilize in
conducting the RIF, the AJ stated that although Agency authorized the RIF pursuant to D.C.
Ofﬁ'cial Code § 1-624.02, D.C. Official Code § 1-624.08 was the more _applicable statute in this
case. In_ support thereof, he highlighted the holding in Washington Teachers’ Urion, Local #6 v.
District of Columbia Public School.§, 960 A.2d 1123 (D.C. 2008), in which the D.C. Court of
Appeals stated that a RIF conducted for budgetary reasons triggered the Abolishmént Act instead
of the normal RIF procedures enumerated in § 1-624.02. The Abolishment Act created a more
streamlined process for conducing RIFs during times of fiscal emergencies. Accordingly, the AJ
concluded that the instant RIF was conducted as a result of budgetary resfraints and that D.C.
Official Code § 1-624.08 was the appropriate statute tp utilize in ﬁs case.

With respect to the lateral competition requirement, the AJ stated that OEA has
con.é'istenﬂy held that when an employee holds the only position in her competitive level, D.C.
Official Code § 1-624.08(e) is inapplicable. Thus, Agency was not required to afford Employee
with one round of lateral competition because she was the sole Public Affairs Specialist, DS- -
1035-13-01-N, in her competitive level. ’fhe AJ dismissed Employee’s claims that there was not
a Mayoral Order which authorized and approved the RIF. He further categorized Employee’s
* other arguments as “bare allegations” that were void of supporting proof. Additionally, the AJ
opinéd that an evidentiary hearing was unwarranted to validate the truthfulness of Ageﬁcy’s
" statements pertaining to its need to conduct a RIF.

Regarding the notice requirement, the AJ provided that Title 5, Section 1506 of the D.C.

Municipal Regulations (“DCMR™) states that employees selected for sepamtion from service

* Mezilev. D.C. Department on Disability Services, 2010 CA 004111 PQMPA) (D.C. Super. Ct. February 2, 2012).
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shall be given specific written notice at least thirty days prior to the effective date of separation.
Moreover, hé notéd that D.C. Official Code § 1-624.08(e) réquires an agency to provide affected
employees with thirty days’ written notice prior to the effective date of the RIF. In this case,
Employee admitted to receiving Agency’s RIF notice on May 18, 2009. The notice reflected an
eﬁ‘ectiVe' date of June 12, 2009. Accordingly, both the AJ and tﬁe parﬁes conceded that
Employee only received twenty-six days’ nqtice prior tb the effective date of the RIF. Citing
District Personnel Manual (“DPM™) § 2405.6, the AJ found that Agency’s failure to provide,
Employee with adequate notice was considered a procedural error and that ret:bacﬁfte
reinstatement was not appropriate under the circumstances. Therefore, the AJ determined that the
RIF was conducted in accordance with D.C. Official Code § 1-624.08. However, he ordered
Agency to reimburse Employee for four days’ of back pay and benefits as a result of Agency’s
notice error.® |

Oﬁ November 14, 2016, Employee, without the assistance of her attorney, filed a R;aquest
for Compliance with Initial Decision on Remand. Employee requested that the AJ order Agency
reimburse her with back pay and beneﬁts for four days, as required in the Initial Decision on
Remand.” In its response, Agency stated that it forwarded to the District of Columbia Office of
Pay and Retirement Services (“OPRS™) a request to issue Employee a check in the amount of
$1,807.46, less any applicable federal and District tax withholdings. It provided that the request
would be processed and that a check was expected to be issued and mailed to Employee within

two to three weeks. Thus, Agency maintained that it had taken all of the necessary steps to

§ Initial Decision (October 10, 2012). Employee appealed to D.C. Superior .Court a second time; however, her
appeal was denied. Employee then filed an appeal with the D.C. Court of Appeals, who affirmed OEA’s Initial
Declsmn on Remand. See Mezile v. D.C. Department of Disability Services, 117 A.3d 1042 (D.C. 2015).

7 Request for Compliance with Initial Decision on Remand (November 1 1,2016)."
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comply with the Initial Decision on Remand.® On January 6, 2017, the AJ issued an Addendum
Decision on Campliance. He stated that Agency complied with the Initial Decision on Remand
- and Employee’s motion for compliance was dismissed.’

Thereafter, Employee ﬁled a Petition for Attorney’s Fees and Costs with OEA on
February 6, 2017. In her petition, Employee requested $48,347.50 in attorney’s fees and $100 in
costs. The amount included legal work performed by Attorney David A. Branch before OEA,
D.C. Superior Court, and effarts to collect the funds owed to Employee.'® Agency’s response to
the motion argued that an a;nrard of attorney’s fees was not appropriate because Employee was
not the prevailing party. in this matter. It further reasoned that an award of fees was not warranted
in the interest of justice. Therefore, Agency asserted that Employee’s request was without merit
and requested that the AJ deny her motion."!

The AJ issued an Addendum Decision on Aftomey’s Fees on June 14, 2017. He first
highlighted the holding in Zervas v. District of Columbia Office of Personnel, OEA Matter No.
1602-0138-88AF92 (May 14, 1993), which held that that the initial criterion for fee eligibility is
that the émployee be the prevailing party on the final decision on the merits of the case. The AJ
also noted that the U.S. Supreme Court in Farrar v. Hobby, 113 S. Ct. 566 (1992), held that a
plaintiff prevails “when the .actual relief on the merits of his claim materially alters the legal
relationship between parties by mod1fy1ng the defendant’s behavior in a way that directly
benefits the plaintiff.” According to the AJ, the relief that Employée sought was the reversal of

Agency’s RIF action; reinstatement to her previous position of record; and back pay and

¥ Agency’s Response to Employee’s Regquest for Compliance (December 12, 2016). On Jannary 4, 2017, Agency
filed with OEA a Report on Compliance, stating that a check was issued to Employee on December 13, 2016, in the
after-tax amount of $1,153.43. Agency attached a copy of the paystub to its submission. -

® Addendum Decision on Compliance (Jannary 6, 2017). ~ ‘

'® Employee’s Petition for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (Rebruary 6, 2017).

! Agency’s Final Response to Employee’s Petition for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (March 31, 2017).
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benefits. While Employee did not receive the total relief that she sought bec;iuse Agency’s RIF
action was ultimately upheld, she did receive an award of four days’ worth of back pay and
benefits because of Agency’s failure to provide adequate notice of the RIF. Thus, the AJ opined
| that Employee obtained “an actual, if nominal, relief on the merit[s] of her claim that she was not
given the full thirty-day notice required by lav'v.” He further stated that Agency’s failure to
comply with the notice requirements altered the legal relationship between the parties because
Employee received some form of direct benefit. '

. With respect to whether the payment of attorney’s fees was warranted in the interest of
justice, the AJ again referenced the holding in Farrar, which recognized that “the degree of the
plaintiff’s overall success goes to the success the reasonableqess of the fee award.” He concluded
that Empléyee only obtained a minimal amount of success because she received compensation
for four days’ worth of back pay instead of a reversal of the RIF. Considering that Employee
requested attorney’s fees and costs in the amount 'of $48,347.50 after obtaining an award of

| 'a‘pproximately $1,800, the AJ opined ;chat a fee award was unreasonable and unwarranted in the
_ interest of justice. Therefore, her petition for attorney’s fees was denied.?
Employee subsequently filed a Petition for Review of Addendum Decision on Attorney’s
Fees with the OEA Board on July 19, 2017. Employee argues that the AJ erred in finding that
she was not entitled to any attorney’s fees for appealing the April 2, 2010 Initial Decision to D.C.
Superior Court. She also contends that the AJ failed to show special circumétances which would
make an award of fees unjust and opines that the case law relied upon by the AJ in rendering his
decision is misplaced. Additionally, Employee states that the AJ incorrectly characterized her
recovery of $1,807.46 in back pay as nominal damages to Justlfy the refusal of attorney’s fees. '

According to Employee, the fees requested are reasonable and exclude fees incurred in appealing

2 g4ddendum Decision on Compliance (January 6, 2017).
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this matter to the D.C, Court of Appeals. As a result, she requests that OEA’s Board grant her
Petition for Review and order Agency 1o pay fees and costs in the amount of $48,347.50." |
In response, Agency submits that the AJ conéctly determined that that an award of
attorney’ s fees to Employee was not warranted in the interest of justice. Agency states that it did
not engage in a prohlblted personnel practice and that its RIF action was conducted in good falth
It further reasons that the amount of Employee’s fee request is unreasonable in companson to the
amount of back pay she actually received. Finally, Agency states that the statutory language of ‘
D.C. Official Code § 1-606.08 makes the award of attorney’s fees discretionary, not mandatory.
Consequently, it asks this Board to deny Employee’s Petition for Review.'* |
Substantial Evidence
On Petition for Review, this Board must determine whether the AJ’s findings were based
on substantial evidence in the record. Thc Court of Appeals in Baumgartner v. Police and
Firemen’s Retirement and Relief Board, 527 A.2d 313 (DC 1987), held that if administrative
findings are supported by substantial evidence, then it ;:nust be accei)ted even if there is
substantial evidence in the record to support a contrary finding. Substantial evidence is defined
as evidence that a reasonablc mind could accept as adequate to support alconclus.i(‘m.ls Under
OEA Rule 628.1, the burden of proof with regard to material issues of fact shall be by a
preponderance of the evidence. Preponderance of the evidence shall mcan “that degree of
relevant evidence which a reasonable mind, considering the record as a whole, would accept as

sufficient to find a contested fact more probably true than untrue.

3 perition for Review of Addendum Decision on Attorney Fees (July 19, 2017)

¥ _dgency’s Response to Employee’s Petition for Review (August 23, 2017).

BMills v. District of Columbia Department of Employment Services, 838 A.2d 325 (D.C. 2003) and Black v. Distriet
of Columbia Department of Employment Services, 801 A.2d 983 (D.C. 2002). :
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Prevailing Party -

D.C. Official Code § 1-606.08 provides that an OEA Administrative Judge ©...may
require payment by the agency of reasonable attorney fees if the appellant is the prevailing party
and payﬁmt is warranted in the interest of justice.”'® OEA has previously relied on its ruling in
Zervas supra and the Merit Systems Protection Board’s (“MSBP”) holding in Hodnick v.
Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service, 4 M.S.P.R. 371 (1980), which held that “for an
employee to be a prevailing party, he must obtain all or a significant part of the relief
sought....”’” However, th;a holding in Hodnick was overruled by the MSPB in Ray v. Départment
of Health and Human Services, 64 M.S.P.R. 100 (1994). In Ray, the MSPB adopted the U.S.
Supreme Court’s holding in Farrar v. Hobby, 506 U.S. 103 (1992), for the purpose of
determining the prevailing party within the context of the Civil Scrvice Reform Act of 1978:
Pursuant to the standard established in Ray, ...to qualify as a prevailing party, a...plaintiff must
obtain at least some relief on the merits of his claim. The plaintiff must obtain an enforceable
judgment against the defendant from whom fees are sought...or comparable relief through a
consent decree or settlement.” Further, in Settlemire v. D.C. Office of Erployee Appeals, 898
A.2d 902‘ (D.C. 2006), the D.C. Court of Appeals’ noted that “[g]lenerally speaking the term
prevazhng party is understood to mean a party ‘who has been awarded some relief by the court’
(or othier tribunal)....”!®

In this case, Employee did not receive the original relief she requested in her Petition for

Appeal,'which was the reversal of the RIF and reinstatement to her previous position with back

16 See OEA Rule 634.
"7 See also Edwards v. Department of Youth and Rehabilitation Services, OEA Matter No. 1601-0017-06AF-10
(December 17, 2012); Ross v. Office of Contracting and Procuremert, OEA Matter No. 2401-0133-09R11AF14
(September 20, 2014); Fogle v. D.C. Public Schools, OBEA Matter No. 2401-0123-04-AF10 (March 21, 2011); and
Bey v. Department of Parks and Recreation, OEA Matter No. 1601-0118-02AFO08 (September 14, 2009).

18 See also Texas State Teachers Association v. Garland Independent School District, 489 U.S. 782, 109 S.Ct. 1486,
103 L.Ed.2d 866 (1989) (holding that the prevailing party need only “succeed on any issue in the litigation which
“achieves some of the benefit he sought in bringing the action.”
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pay and benefits. However, Agency committed a procedural error by virtue of its non-
compliance with D.C. Official Code §1-624.08(e) because it did not provide Employee with
thirty days’ written nbtice of the RIF. As a result, Employee was entitled to a judgment of four
days in back pay and benefits, totaling approximately $1,800. While this is not the full amount of
recovery that Employee would have been entitled to if she prevailed on the substantive merits of
her arguments, she was nonetheless successful on at least one of her claims, Accordingiy, under
‘ the holdings in Farrar and Ray, Employee is considered the prevailiﬁg‘ party in this matter.
Therefore, we will not disturb the AJ’s niling regarding such. |
Interest of Justice
The central issue presented to this Board is whether there is substantial evidence to
 support the AY’s conclusion that the award of attorney’s fees was unwarranted in the interest of
jﬁstice. To determine whether a fee award is merited, OEA relies on 4llen v. United States Postal
Service, 2 M.SPR. 420 (1980), in which the MSPB provided circumstances o serve as
“directional markers towards the ‘interest of justice,” a destination which, at best, can only be
approximate.” The circumstances that should be considered are:
1. Whether the agency engaged in a “prohibited personnel practice;”
2. Whether the agency’s action was “clearly without merit” or was
“wholly unfounded”, or the employee is “substantially innocent”
of the charges brought by the agency;

3. Whether the agency initiated the action against the employee in
“pad faith,” including:

a. Where the agency’s action was brought to “harass” the
employee;

b. Where the agency’s action was brought to “exert pressure
on the employee to act in certain ways™;
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4. Whether the agency committed a “gross procedural error” which
“prolonged the proceeding” or “severely prejudiced the
employee™; ’

5. Whether the agency “knew or should have known that it would not
prevail on the merits,” when it brought the proceeding. '

The U.S. Supreme Court in Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424 (1983), held that the most
critical factor in determining the reasonableness of an attorney’s fee award is the degree of
§ucc;ess obtained, since a requested fee bésed on the hours expended on the litigation as ;a whole
may be deemed excessive if a plaintiff achieves only partial or limited success. In cases wherev a
party is only partially successful, the trial court must exercise its discretion to determine -what
amount of fees, if any, should be awarded.?’ Hence, the determination that an employee is the
prevailing party “may say little about whether the expenditure of counsel’s time was reasonable
in relation to the success achieved.”?! In Shore v. Groom Law Grp., 877 A.2d 86 (D.C. 2005),
the D.C. Court of Appeals. determined that the denial of an attorney’s fee request was apﬁropriéte
when the plaintiff was only successful on one of her eight claims against a former employee and
received limited relief as a result. Accordingly, it is possibie for a plaintiff to establish prevailing
party staius and not receive an award of attorney’s fees.

- This Board finds that the AJ did not abuse his discretion in denying Employee’s petition
for attorney’s fees. We further conclude that Employee has failed to establish the existence of
any of the Alleﬁ factors that would warrant an award of fees in the interest of justice.?? First,
there is no evidence in the record to support a finding that Agency engaged in a prohibited

personnel practice. In his Initial Decision on Remand, the AJ upheld Agency’s RIF action and

¥ Allen at 434-35.

® Fleming v. Carroll Publ’g Co., 581 A2d 1219 (D.C. 1990).

2! Hensley at 436.

2 See Lively v. Flexible Packaging Ass'n, 930 A.2d 984, 988 (D.C. 2007) (holding that the scope of the Court’s
review [of an award of attorney's fees] was a limited one because the disposition of attorney’s fee motions “is firmly
committed to the informed discretion of the trial court” and requires “a very strong showing of abuse of discretion to
set aside the decision of the trial court.”(citing Maybin v. Stewart, 385 A.2d 284, 288 (D.C. 2005)).




2401-0158-09R12C17
Page 11

made specific findings of fact and conclusions of law bn each of Employee’s arguments. He
found that the RIF was properly authorized; that Employee was correctly placed in a single-
person competitive level; and that she was not entitled to one round of lateral competition. Next,
there was no credible proof that} Agency’s RIF action was clearly without merit or 1mt1ated in
bad faith. Likewise, there is no indication that Agency knew or should have known that it would
not prevaii on the merits when it inifiated the RTF.

Héwever, it bears noting that the relief Employee was granted in this case was a result of
Agency’s failure to prox}ide her with thirty days’ written nbtice as required by D.C. Official Code
§1-624.08. Thus, we must .determine whether Agency’s procedural error warrants the award of
attorney’s fees. Under Allen factor number four, to determine whether a “gross procedural error”
occurred warranting an award of attorney feés in the interest of justice, a balance must be struck

‘ between the nature of and any excuse for the agency's error and the prejudice and burden that |
error caﬁsed the appellant? If, in the balance, the prejudice and burden to the appellant
predominates, gioss procedural error exists and the appellant is entitled to a fee award.?*

In this case, the Employee received twenty-six days’ notice prior to the effective date of
the RIF. The May 12, 2009 letter stated that Employee could appeal the RIF to OEA aﬁd
included a copy of the appeal foi'm and OEA’s rules.” Employee subsequenﬂy filed a timely
appeal with this Ofﬁce to contest her separation from service. While it is unclear why Agency’s
RIF notice was received by Employee four days lat'e, we do not believe that the deficiency
consﬁmtés ‘a gross procedural error. The lack of timely notice did not require that Employeé be

retrdactively reinstated to her position, nor did Employee provide proof that she was severely

B See Woodall v, Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, 33 M.S.P.R. 127 (1987).
% Swansonv. Def. Logistics Agency, 35 M.S.P.R. 115 (1987).
% petition for Appeal (July 10, 2009).
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prejudiced by Agency’s delay._26 Employee was able to adequately prosecute her appeal before
this Office and her substantive due process rights were not adversely affected. Consequently, this
Board concludes that Allen factor number four does not warrant an award of attorney’s fees-.
Conclusion

Based on the foregoing, we ﬁﬁd that the AJ’s Addendum Decision on A’ctorney’s Fees is
supported by substantial evidence. D.C. Official Code § 1-606.08 provides an AJ of this Office
the discretion to award reasonable attorney fees if the appellant is the prevailing party and
payment is warranted in the interest of justice. While Employee is the prevailing party in this
case, attorney’s fees are not warranted in the interest of justice. Employge achieved a limited
degree §f success in the prosecution .of her appeal. The.origi_nal relief sought—reversal of the
RIF action with béck pay and benefits—was not attained. Thus, a rg:qucsf for aﬁoﬁw’s fees in’
'the amount of $48,347.50 is unreasonable in relation to the $1,800.00 that Employee was

awarded. Consequently, Employee’s Petition for Review must be denied.

% See DPM 24057, 47 D.C. Reg. 2430 (2000). This section defines harmful error as an error with “snch a
magnitude that in its absence, the employee would not have been released from his or her competitive level.”
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ORDER

Accordmgly, it is hereby ORDERED that Employee’s Petition for Review is DENIED.

FOR THE BOARD:

Sonvest (i

Sheree L. Price, Chair

Loa 1. Bl

Vera M. Abbott

Sattew Flom M

Phatricia Hobson Wilson

P. Victoria Williams

elani Freeman/

Either party may appeal this decision on Petition for Review to the Superior Court of the District
of Columbia. To file a Petition for Review with the Superior Court, the petitioning party should
consult Superior Court Civil Procedure Rules, XV. Agency Review, Rule 1. o

Y —
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Notice: This decision may be formally revised before it is published in the District of Columbia
Register and the Office of Employee Appeals’ website. Parties should promptly notify the
Office Manager of any formal errors so that this Office can correct them before publishing the
decision. This notice is not intended to provide an opportunity for a substantive challenge to the
decision. :

THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
BEFORE |
THE OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS

" In the Matter of:

PHILLIPPA MEZILE,
Employee

OEA Matter No. 2401-0158-09R12AF17

V. Date of Issuance: March 22, 2018

DEPARTMENT ON
DISABILITY SERVICES,
Agency

vavvvvvvvv

OPINION AND ORDER
ON

PETITION FOR REVIEW

 Phillippa Mezile (“Employee”) worked as a Public Affairs Specialist with the
Department on Disability Services (“Agency”). On May 12, 2009, Agency informed Erﬁployee
that her position was being abolished as a result of a Reduction-in-Force (“RIF”'). The effective
date of the RIF was June 12, 2009. Employee filed a Petition for Appeal with the Office of
Employee Appeals (“OEA”) on July 10, 2009. She argued, inter alia, that the RIF violated
Diétrict of Columbia laws and that Agency failed to provide her with the requisite thirty-day
written notice prior to the effective date of the RIF.! Iniits answer, Agency denied Employee’s
claims and provided that her position was abolished because ofa shortage of funds for the 2010
fiscal year. Agency also contended that its RIF action complied with all applicable laws, rules,

! Petition for Appeal (July 10, 200),
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and regu.lations.?

The OEA Administrative Judge (“AJ”) assigned to the matter held a prehearingv
conference on March 24, 2010 The parties were subsequently ordered to submit briefs
addressing whether Agency’s RIF action should be upheld. The AJ issued an Initial Decision on
April 2, 2010. He first ﬁoted that Agency issued an Administrative Order on April 23, 2009, -
.statihg that several positions were identified for abolishment as a result of realignment and a
shortage of funds for the 20i 0 fiscal year. Next, the AJ stated that D.C. Official Code § 1-624.08
was the ai)plicable RIF statute and that Employee was limited to contesting whether she was
afforded one round of lateral competition and whether Agency provided her with thirty days’

_written notice prior to the effective date of the RIF. Lastly, the AJ dismissed Employee’s
collateral arguments felating to discrimination and pre-RIF conditions. Consequently, Agency’s
RIF action was upheld.*

Employee disagreed with the AJ and filed a Petition for Review in D.C. Superior Court
on June 3, 2010. In her appeal, Employee argued that the AJ’s finding that she rééeived thirty
days’ written notice was not based on substantial evidence; the AJ failed to address her claim
that the RIF was conducted pnder D.C. Official Code § 1-624.02, rathér than D.C. Official Code -
§ 1-624.08; the AJ failed to properly consider her argument that Agency viqlated the RIF
procedures; and the AJ failed to discuss whether the RIF was a sham because it was conducted
for discriminatory reasons. In its Order, the Court agreed with the AJ’s conclusion that OEA was

| the wrong venue for adjudicating Employee’s discrimination claims. However, the Court |
provided that the AJ should have made a finding pertinent to Employee’s cla_aim that tfxe RIF

action was a “sham” based on her arguments that were unrelated to discrimination. Accordingly,

2 Agency's Answer to Petition for Ap’peal (August 13, 2009).
} Order Scheduling a Prehearing Conference (February 25, 2010).
* Initlal Decision (April 2, 2010),
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the matter was remanded to the AJ for further consideration.’
The AJ held a status conference on March 23, 2012. He subsequently issued an Imtlal
' Declslon on Remand on October 10, 2012 With respect to the appropriate statute to utilize in
conducting the RIF, the AJ stated that although Agency authorized the RIF pursuant to D.C.
Official Code § 1-624.02, D.C. Official Code § 1-624.08 was the more applicable statute in this
case. In support thereof, he highlighted the holding in Washington Teachers’ Union, Local #6 v.
District of Columbia Public Schools, 960 A.2d 1123 (D.C. 2008), in which the D. C Court of
Appeals stated that a RIF conducted for budgetary reasons triggered the Abohshment Act instead
of the normal RIF procedures enumerated in § 1-624.02. The Abolishment Act created a more
streamlined process for conducing RIFs during times of fiscal emergencies. Accordingly, the AJ
concluded that the instant RIF was conducted as a result of budgetary restraints and that D.C.
Official Code § 1-624.08 was the appropriate statute to utilize in this case.

With respect to the lateral competition requirement, the AJ stated that OEA has
conéistently held that when an employee‘holds the only position in her competitive lével, D.C.
Official Code § 1-624.08(e) is inapplicable. Thus, Agency was not required to afford Employee
with one round of lateral competition because she was the sole Public Affairs Specialist, DS-
1035-13-01-N, in her competitive level. The AJ dismissed Employee’s claims that there was not
a Mayoral Order which authorized and approved the RIF. He further categorized Employee’s

- other arguments as “bare aﬂegaﬁon;” that were void of supporting proof, Additionally, the AJ

opined that an evidentiary hearing was unwarranted to validate the truthfulness of Agency’s

statements pertaining to its need to conduct a RIF.
Regarding the notice requirement, the AJ provided that Title 5, Section 1506 of the D.C.

Municipal Regulations (“DCMR”) states that employees selected for separation from service

* Mesile v. D.C. Department on Disability Services, 2010 CA 004111 P(MPA) (D.C. Super. Ct. February 2, 2012).

L———————-———
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shall be given specific written notice at least thirty days prior to the effective date of séparation.
Moreover, he noted that D.C. Official Code § 1-624.08(e) requires an agency to provide affected
employees with thirty days® written notice prior to the effective date of the RIF. In this Casé,
Employee admitted to receiving Agency’s RIF notice on May 18, 2009. The notice reflected an
effective date of June 12, 2009. Accordingly, both the AJ and thé parties conceded that
Employee only received twenty-six days’ nqtice prior to the effective date of the RIF. Citing
District Personnel Manual (“DPM™) § 2405.6, the AJ found that Agency’s failure to provide
Employee with adequate notice was considered a procedural error and that retroactive
reinstatement was not appropriate under the circumstances. Therefore, the AJ determined that the
RIF was conducted in .accordancc with D.C. Official Code § 1-624.08. However, he. ordered
Agency to reimburse Employee for four days’ of back pay and benefits as a result of Agency’s
notice error. |

On November 14, 2016, Employee, without the assistance of her attorney, filed a R@est
for Compliance with Initial Decision on Remand. Employee requested that the AJ order Agency
reimburse her with back pay and beneﬁts for four days, as required in the Initial Decision on
Remand.” In its responsé, Agency stated that it forwarded to the District of Columbia Office of
Pay and Retirement Services (;‘OPRS”) a request to issue Employee a check in the amount of
+ $1,807.46, less any applicable federal and District tax withholdings. It provided that the request
would be processed and that a check was expected to be issued and mailed to Employee within

two to three weeks. Thus, Agency maintained that it had taken all of the necessary steps to

® Initial Decision (October 10, 2012). Employee appealed to D.C. Superior Court a second time; however, her
appeal was denied. Employee then filed an appeal with the D.C. Court of Appeals, who affirmed OEA’s Initial
’Decision on Remand. See Mezile v. D.C. Department of Disability Services, 117 A.3d 1042 (D.C. 2015).

Reguest for Compliance with Initial Decision on Remand (November 11, 2016).
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comply with the Initial Decision on Remand.® On January 6, 2017, the AJ issued an Addendum
Decision on Compliance. He stated that Agency complied with the Initial Decision on Remand
and Employee’s motion for compliance was dismissed.’

Thereafter, Employee ﬁled a Petiﬁon for Attorney’s Fees and Costs with OEA on
February 6, 2017. In her petition, Employee requested $48,347.50 in attorney’s fees and $100 in
‘costs. The amount included legal work performed by Attorney David A. Branch before OFA,
D.C. Superior Court, and efforts to collect the funds owed to Employee.'® Agency’s response to
the motion argued that an a@d of attorney’s fees was not appropriate because Employee was
not the prevailing party in this matter. It further reasoned that an award of fees was not warranted
in the interest of justice. Therefore, Agency asserted that Employee’s request was without merit
and requested that the AJ deny her motion.""

The AJ issued an Addendum Decision on Attorney’s Fees on June 14, 2017. He first
highlighted the holding in Zervas v. District of Columbia Office of Personnel, OEA Matter No.
1602-0138-88AF92 (May 14, 1993), which held that that the initial criterion for fee eligibility is
that the émployee be the prevailing party on the final decision on the merits of the case. The AJ
also noted that the U.S. Supreme Court in Farrar v. Hobby, 113 8. Ct. 566 (1992), held that a
plaintiff prevails “when the actual relief on the merits of his claim materially alters the legal
relationship between parties by modifying the defendant’s behavior in a way that directly
benefits the plaintiff.” According to the AJ, the relief that Employée sought was the reversal of

Agency’s RIF action; reinstatement to her previous position of record; and back pay and

* Agency’s Response to Employee’s Request for Compliance (December 12, 2016). On January 4, 2017, Agency
filed with OEA a Report on Compliance, stating that a check was issued to Employee on December 13, 2016, in the
after-tax amotint of $1,153.43, Agency attached a copy of the paystub to its submission. -
? Addendum Decision on Compliance (Yanuary 6,2017). ‘
:‘: Employee’s Petition for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (February 6, 2017).

Agency’s Final Response to Employee’s Petition for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (March 31, 201 .

Lm
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benefits. While Employee did not receive the total relief that she sought becéuse Agency’s RIF
action was ultimately upheld, she did receive an award of four days’ worth of back pay and
benefits because of Agency’s failure to provide adequate notice of the RIF. Thus, the AJ opined
| that Employee obtained “an actual, if nominal, relief on the merit[s] of her claim that she was not
given the full thirty-day notice required by lav‘v.” He furthe; stated that Agency’s failure to
comply with the notice requirements altered the legal relationship between the parties because
Employee received some form of direct benefit.

. With respect to whether the payment of attorney’s fees was warranted in the interest of
justice, the AJ again referenced the holding in Farrar, which recognized that “the degree of the
plaintiff’s overall success goes to the success the r@usonableqess of the fee award.” He concluded
that Empléyee only obtained a minimal amount of success because she received compensation
for four days® worth of back pay instead of a reversal of the RIF. Considering that Employee
requested attorney’s fees and costs in the amount of $48,347.50 after obtaining an award of
.a‘pproxima'tely $1,800, the AJ opined that a fee award was unreasonable and unwarranted in the
interest of justice. Therefore, her petition for attorney’s fees was denied.?

Employee subsequently filed a Petition for Review of Addendum Decision on Attorney’s
Fees with the OEA Boa;d on July 19, 2017. Employee argues that the AJ erred in finding that
she was not entitled to any attorey’s fees for appealing the April 2, 2010 Initial Decision to D.C. |
Superior Court. She also contends that the AJ failed to show special circumstancesv which would
ﬁake an award of fees unjust and opines that the case law relied upon by the AJ in rendering his
decision is nﬁsplaced. Additionalh;, Employee staies that the AJ incorrectly characterized her
rebo‘very of $1,807.46 in back pay as nominal dﬁnages to justify the refusal of attorney’s fees.

According to Empl oyee the fees requested are reasonable and exclude fees mcurred in appealing

2 Addendum Decision on Complxance (January 6, 2017).
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this matter to the D.C. Court of Appeals. As a result, she requests that OEA’s Board grant her
Petition for Review and order Agency to pay fees and costs in the amount of $48,347.50."

In response, Agency submits that the AJ correctly determined that that an award of
attorney’s fees to Employee was not warranted in the interest of justice. Agency states that it did
not engage in a‘ prohibited personnel practice and that its RIF action was conductedl in good faith.
It further reasons that the amount of Employee’s fee request is umeésonable in comparison to thé
amount of back pay she actually received. Finally, Agency states that the statutory language of
D.C. Official Code § 1-606.08 makes the award of attorney’s fees discretionary, not mandatory.
Consequently, it asks this Boérd to deny Employee’s Petition for Review.'

On Petition for Review, this Board must determine whether the AJ’s findings were based
on substantial evidence in the record. The Court of Appeals in Baumgartner v. Police and
Firemen's Retirement and Relief Board, 527 A.2d 313 (D.C. 1987), held that if administrative
findings are supported by substantial evidence, then it ﬁmst be accei)ted even if there is
substantial evidence in the rgcord to support a contrary finding. Substantial evidence is defined
as evidence that a reasonable mind coﬁld accept as adequate to support a 'conclusibn.'s Under
OEA Rule 628.1, the burden of proof with regard to material issues of fact shall be by a
preponderance of the evidence. Preponderance of the evidence shall méaﬁ “that degree of
relevant évidcnce which a reasonable mind, considering the record as a whole, would accept as

sufficient to find a contested fact more probably true than untrue.

:: Petition for Review of Addendum Decision on Attorney Fees (July 19, 2017)
s Agency's Response to Employee’s Petition for Review (August 23, 2017).

Mills v. District of Columbia Department of Employment Services, 838 A.2d 325 (D.C. 2003) and Black v. District
of Columbia Department of Employment Services, 801 A.2d 983 (D.C. 2002).




2401-0158-09R12C17
Page 8

Prevailing P
D.C. Official Code § 1-606.08 provides that an OEA Administrative Judge “...may
require payment by the agency of reasonable attorney fees if the appellant is the prevailing party
and‘ payment is Wa;ranted in the interest of justice.”’® OEA has previously relied on its ruling in
Zerv@ supra and the Merit Systems Protection Board’s (*"MSBP”) holding in Hodhnick v.
Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service, 4 M.S.P.R. 371 (1980), which held that “for an
employee to be a prevailing party, he must obtain all or a significant part of the relief
sought....”!” However, th;: holding in Hodnick was §venuled by the MSPB in Ray v. Department
of Health and Human Services, 64 M.S.P.R. 100 (1994). In Ray, the MSPB adopted the U.S.
Supreme Court’s holding in Farrar v. Hobby, 506 U.S. 103 (1992), for the purpose of
determining the prevailing party within the context of the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978:
- Pursuant to the standard established in Ray, “...to qualify as a prevailing party, a...plaintiff must
obtain at least some relief on the merits of his claim. The plaintiff must obtain an enforceable
Jjudgment agéiﬁst the defendant from whom fees are sought...or comparable relief through a
consent decree or settlement.” Further, in Settlemire v. D.C. Office of Employee Appeals, 898
A.2d 902 (D.C. 2006), the D.C. Court of Appeals noted that “[glencrally speaking the term
‘prevailing party’ is understood to mean a party. ‘who has been awarded some relief by the court’
(or other tribunal)....”!® |
‘In this case, Employee :did not recejve the original relief she requested in her Petition for

Appeal, which was the reversal of the RIF and reinstatement to her previous position with back

' See OEA Rule 634.
"7 See aiso Edwards v. Department of Youth and Rehabilitation Services, OEA Matter No. 1601-0017-06AF-10
(December 17, 2012); Ross v. Office of Contracting and Procurement, OEA Matter No. 2401-0133-09R11AF14
(September 20, 2014); Fogle v. D.C. Public Schools, OEA Matter No. 2401-0123-04-AF10 (March 21, 2011); and
- Beyv. Department of Parks and Recreation, OEA Matter No. 1601-01 18-02AF08 (September 14, 2009),
1% See also Texas State Teachers Assoctation v. Garland Independent School District, 489 U.S. 782, 109 S.Ct. 1486,
103 L.Ed.2d 866 (1989) (holding that the prevailing party need only “succeed on any issue in the litigation which
“achieves some of the benefit he sought in bringing the action.”

L—————-“
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pay and benefits. However, Agency committed a procedural error by virtue of its non-
compliance with D.C. Official Code §1-624.08(e) because it did not provide Employee with
thn'ty days’ written ﬁéﬁCe of the RIF. As a result, Employee was entitled to a judgment of four
days in back pay and benefits, totaling approximately $1,800. While this is not the full amount of
recovery that Employee would have been entitled to if she prevailed on the substantive merits of
her arguments, she was nonetheless successful on at least one of her claims. Accordingly, under -
the holdiﬂgs in Farrar and Ray, Employee is considered the prcvailiﬁg party in this matter.
Therefore, we will not disturb the AJ’s ruling regarding such.
Interest of Justice A |
The central issue presented to this Board is whether there is substantial evidence to
support the AJ’s conclusion that the award of attorney’s fees was unwarranted in the interest of
justice. To determine whether a fee award is merited, OEA relies on Allen v. United Staes Postal
Service, 2 M.SP.R. 420 (1980), in which the MSPB provided circumstances to serve as
“directional markers towards the ‘interest of justice,” a destination which, at best, can only be
approximate.” The circumstances that should be considered are:
1. Whether the agency engaged in a “prohibited personnel practice;”
2. Whether the agency’s action was “clearly without merit” or was
“wholly unfounded”, or the employee is “substantially innocent”
of the charges brought by the agency;

3. Whether the agcncy initiated the action against the employee in
“bad faith,” including;

a. Where the agency’s action was brought to “harass” the
employee;

b. Where the agency’s action was brought to “exert pressure
on the employee to act in certain ways”;
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4. Whether the agency committed a “gross procedural error” which
“prolonged the proceeding” or “severely prejudiced the
employee”; ' '

5. Whether the agency “knew or should have known that it would not
prevail on the merits,” when it brought the proceeding.'®

The U.S. Supreme Court in Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424 (1983), held that the most
critical factor in determining the reasonableness of an attorney’s fee award is the degree of
Success obtained, since a requested fee based on the hours expended on the litigation as é whole
may be deemed excessive if a plaintiff achieves only partial or limited success. In cases where a
party is only partially successful, the trial court must exercise its discretion to determine what
amount of fees, if any, should be awarded.?’ Hence, the determination that an employee is the
,prevéiling party “may say little about whether the expenditure of counsel’s time was reasonable
in relation to the success achieved.”?! in Shore v. Groom Law Grp., 877 A.2d 86 (D.C. 2005),
the D.C, Court of Appeals determined that the denial of an attorney’s fee request was appropriate
when the plaintiff ‘was only successful on one of her eight claims against a former employee and
received limited relief as a result. Accordingly, it is possible for a plaintiff to establish prevailing

- party status and not receive an award of attorney’s fees. |
 This Board finds fhat the AJ did not abuse his discretion in denying Employee’s petition
for attorey’s fees, We further conclude that Employee has failed to establish the existence of
any of the Alleﬁ factors that would warrant an award of fees in the interest of justice.?? First,
there is no evidence in the record to support a finding that Agency engaged in a prohibited

personnel practice. In his Initial Decision on Remand, the AJ upheld Agency’s RIF action and

' Allen at 434-35,

2 Fleming v. Carroll Publ’g Co., 581 A.2d 1219 (D.C. 1990).

2! Hensley at 436, ‘
2 See Lively v. Flexible Packaging Ass'n, 930 A.2d 984, 988 (D.C. 2007) (holding that the scope of the Court’s
review [of an award of attorney's fees] was a limited one because the disposition of attorney’s fee motions “is firmly
committed to the informed discretion of the trial court” and requires “a very strong showing of abuse of discretion to
set aside the decision of the trial court.”(citing Maybin v. Stewart, 885 A.2d 284, 288 (D.C. 2005)).
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made specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on each of Employee’s arguinents. He
found that the RIF was properly authorized; that Employee was correctly placed in a single-
person competitiVe level; and that she was not entitléd to one round of lateral competition. Next,
there was no credible proof that Agency’s RIF action was clearly without merit or initiated in
bad faith. Likewise, there is no indication that Agency knew or should have‘ known that it would
not prevail on the merits when it initiated the RIF.

However, it bears noting that the relief Employee was granted in this case was a result of
Agency’s failure to provide her with thirty days’ written notice as required by D.C. Official Code
§1-624.08. Thus, we must determine whether Agency’s procedural error warrants the award of
attorney’s fees. Under Allen factor number four, to determine whether a “gross procedural error”
occurred warranting an award of attorney feés in the interest of justice, a balance must be struck
between the nature of and any excuse for the agency's error and the prejudice and burden that
error caused the appellant® If, in the balance, the prejudice and burden to the appellant
predominates, gross procedural error exists and the appellant is entitled to a fee award.?* ‘

In this case, the Employee received twenty-six days’ notice prior to the effective date of
the RIF. The May 12, 2009 letter stated that Employee could appeal the RIF to OEA and
included a copy of the appeal form and OEA’s rules.” Employee subsequently filed a timely
appeal with this Office to contest her separation from service. While it is unclear why Agency’s
RIF notice was received by Employee four days late, we do not believe that the deficiency
constitutes a gross procedural error. The lack of timely notice did not require that Employee be

retrdactively reinstated to her position, nor did Employee provide proof that she was severely

B See Woodall v. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, 33 M.S.P.R. 127 {1987).
» Swanson v. Def. Logistics Agency, 35 M.SPR. 115 (1987).
* Petition for Appeal (July 10, 2009).
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prejudiced by Agency’s delay.? Employec was able to adequately prosecute her appeal before
this Ofﬁcg and her substantive due process ﬁghts were not adversely affected. Consequently, this
Board conclude§ that Allen factor number four does not warrant an award of attorney’s fees'.
Conclusion |

-Based on the foregoing, we ﬁd that the AJ’s Addendum Decision on Attorney’s Fe'és is
supported by substantigl evidence, D.C. Oﬁ'icial Code § 1,-606.08 provides an AJ of this Office
the discretion to award reasonable attox;ney fees if the appellant is the prevailing party and
paymeﬁt is warranted in the interest of justice. While Employee is the prevailing party m this
case, attorney’s fees are not warranted in the interest of justice. Employee achieved a limited
deéree of success in the prosecution of her appeal. The‘origi_nal relief sought—reversal of the
RIF action with back pay and benefits—was not attained. Thus, a request for attofney’s fees in
‘the amount of $48,347.50 is unreasonable in relation to the $1,800.00 that Employee was

awarded. Consequently, Employee’s Petition for Review must be denied.

% Seg DPM 21105.7, 47 D.C. Reg. 2430 (2000). This section defines harmful error as an emror with “such a
magnitude that in its absence, the employee would not have been released from his or her competitive level.”
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ORDER
~ Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED that Employee’s Petition for Review is DENIED.

FOR THE BOARD:

~ Sheree L. Price, Chair

Vera M. Abbott

Patricia Hobson Wilson

P. Victoria Williams

J eléni Freeman

Either party may appeal this decision on Petition for Revww to the Superior Court of the District
of Columbia. To file a Petition for Review with the Superior Court, the petitioning party should
consult Superior Court Civil Procedure Rules, XV. Agency Review, Rule 1.
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